
ACTIVE NETWORK INC
Form 10-K
March 16, 2012
Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
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x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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(Registrant�s Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.    Yes  ¨    No  x

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.    Yes  ¨    No  x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant�s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in
Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.    ¨

Indicate by check mark whether registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer�, �accelerated filer�, �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer ¨
Non-accelerated filer x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨
Indicate by check mark whether registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    ¨  Yes    x  No

The aggregate market value of the voting common stock held by non-affiliates as of June 30, 2011 (based upon the closing sale price of such
shares on the New York Stock Exchange on the last business day of the second quarter) was approximately $542,181,992. The registrant has no
non-voting common stock. Shares of common stock held by each executive officer and director and by each entity that owns 5% or more of the
outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not
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necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.

As of March 7, 2012, the registrant had 57,818,888 shares of Common Stock ($0.001 par value) outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant�s Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 23, 2012 are incorporated by
reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the extent stated herein.

Edgar Filing: ACTIVE NETWORK INC - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 3



Table of Contents

The Active Network, Inc.

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. 1
Item 1. Business 1
Item 1A. Risk Factors 11
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 32
Item 2. Properties 32
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 32
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 32

PART II. 33
Item  5. Market for Registrant�s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 33
Item 6. Selected Financial Data 35
Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 37
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 59
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 59
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 60
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 60
Item 9B. Other Information 60

PART III. 61
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 61
Item 11. Executive Compensation 63
Item  12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 63
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 63
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services 63

PART IV. 64
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules 64

SIGNATURES

Edgar Filing: ACTIVE NETWORK INC - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 4



Table of Contents

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Any statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K concerning our business, operations and financial performance and condition as well as our
plans, objectives and expectations for our business operations and financial performance and condition are not historical facts and may be
deemed to be forward-looking statements. You can identify these statements by words such as �anticipate,� �assume,� �believe,� �can,� �could,� �due,�
�estimate,� �expect,� �intend,� �goal,� �may,� �objective,� �plan,� �potential,� �positioned,� �seek� �should,� �target,� �will,� �would� and other similar expressions that are
predictions of or indicate future events and future trends. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations, estimates,
forecasts and projections about our business and the industry in which we operate and our management�s beliefs and assumptions and are not
guarantees of future performance or development and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that are in some cases
beyond our control. As a result, any or all of our forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may turn out to be inaccurate.
Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the risks described under �Risk Factors,� including:

� our history of significant operating losses;

� our limited operating history, and new and unproven business model;

� our ability to accurately forecast revenue and appropriately plan our expenses;

� our ability to maintain an adequate rate of growth;

� our ability to effectively manage our growth;

� our ability to successfully manage our acquisitions and investments in businesses, applications and technologies;

� our ability to compete successfully against current or future competitors;

� our ability to successfully transition certain of our existing customers to ActiveWorks;

� our ability to process, store and use personal data in a safe and secure manner;

� our ability to comply with data privacy and use laws;

� our ability to maintain our relationships with credit card payment processors and associations;

� our ability to limit interruptions in service and damage to our technology systems;

� our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel;
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� our ability to successfully enter new markets and manage our international expansion;

� our ability to continue to enhance and improve the functionality and features of our ActiveWorks technology platform;

� our ability to react to the impact of worldwide economic conditions, including the resulting effect on organizers and participants;

� our ability to protect our intellectual property, including our proprietary ActiveWorks technology platform;

� our ability to comply with changes in government regulation affecting our business; and

� other risk factors included under �Risk Factors� in this prospectus.
Because the factors referred to above could cause our actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements made by us, you should not place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. Further, any
forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we undertake no obligation to update any
forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after such date to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors
emerge from time to time, and their emergence is impossible for us to predict. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our
business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are the leading provider of organization-based cloud computing applications serving a wide range of customer groups including business
solutions, community activities, outdoors and sports. We provide applications that form an online network connecting a fragmented and diverse
group of activity and event organizers with a large base of potential participants. Our proprietary technology platform transforms the way
organizers manage their activities and events by automating online registrations and streamlining other critical management functions, while also
driving consumer participation to their events.

We power a broad range of activities, such as reserving a campsite or tee time, signing up for a marathon or sports league, purchasing a fishing
or hunting license, or participating in a community event or corporate conference. From the introduction of our platform in 1999, we have
experienced significant growth and now have over 51,300 customer organizations and drive over 80 million annual consumer registrations.
Based on the results of a 2010 online survey we commissioned through Survey.com, we believe the organizations we target produce or organize
activities and events for the majority of U.S. households. Our proprietary technology platform, ActiveWorks, provides cloud computing
applications that reduce the cost and complexity of managing, organizing and promoting these activities and events.

Our business benefits from a powerful network effect. As more organizations use our platform, we increase the breadth and depth of activities
and events offered through our platform. This more comprehensive offering of activities attracts more participants. As we attract more
participants, we are able to drive increased demand for our customers� activities, thus increasing registrations and revenue for both organizers and
us. This revenue growth enables us to develop enhanced functionality and services through ActiveWorks and our websites, further increasing
participant engagement and attracting new organizers. In this way, we build increasing value for both organizations and participants.

We serve a wide range of customers including community and sports organizations, large corporations, small and medium sized businesses,
educational institutions, government agencies, non-profit organizations and other similar entities. We primarily generate revenue from
technology fees paid by participants who register for our customers� activities through our cloud computing applications. During the year ended
on December 31, 2011, we generated revenue of $337.4 million, as compared to $279.6 million in the year ended on December 31, 2010, an
increase of 21%. In May 2011, we completed an initial public offering (�IPO�) of our common stock in which we sold and issued 12,650,000
shares of common stock, of which 4,427,778 were sold by selling stockholders, at an issue price of $15.00 per share, resulting in proceeds, net of
underwriting discounts and offering expenses, of approximately $112.6 million to us.

Industry Overview

Organizations of all sizes need to inform, engage and support their respective participants, which include attendees, members, registrants and
other constituents. We believe activity and event registration and administration is a broad and large market with more than 800,000 potential
customers in North America within our four primary customer groups of sports, community activities, outdoors and business solutions.
According to a 2010 study we commissioned through Survey.com, 73% of the U.S. households surveyed paid to take part in a recreational or
community activity last year. Based on the results of this survey and our internal analysis, we believe that our target market encompasses more
than 1.8 billion total registrations annually in the United States, representing more than $110 billion in registration spending. We have the
opportunity to receive a fraction of each registration fee by providing the applications that our platform offers to help organize and manage
activities and events. Furthermore, we believe the market opportunity outside the United States is greater than our domestic market opportunity.

1
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The traditional methods for managing activities and events generally share the following challenges:

Difficulty organizing event information. Historically, activities and events have been organized and registrations tracked by using a combination
of paper-based systems, basic desktop applications and spreadsheets. Participants register for events by phone, mail or walk-up registration,
which is often costly and inefficient for both organizers and participants. This manual approach to event registration can be haphazard,
time-consuming and lack sufficient process controls. Mistakes due to incorrect data entry of participant information often lead to incomplete or
lost registration forms. These frequent errors add incremental costs for organizers, delay registration for participants and cause problems on-site
at the activity or event.

High fixed cost structure. The profitability of an activity or event is tied directly to the number of participants who register. Similar to airline
seats and hotel rooms, unfilled spots in activities and events represent a significant lost opportunity for incremental high margin revenue and can
often be the difference between profits or losses.

Lack of ongoing communication post-registration. Traditionally, organizers have maintained limited dialogue with participants after registration.
Since organizers lack ongoing support, participants have a difficult time tracking the status of their registration and receiving any updates about
the activity or event in a timely manner. Additionally, participants have challenges in finding and reaching each other. Participants have a natural
desire to form communities based on shared interests and goals. We believe interaction between participants drives increased engagement and
participant satisfaction, resulting in increased retention and incremental revenue for organizers.

Ineffective targeting of event participants. Organizers have difficulty reaching participants due to the lack of effective geo-targeting of
traditional marketing methods and disparate online properties for local activities and events. This limited ability to create and maintain ongoing
relationships with consumers leads to higher participant acquisition costs and lower recurring, predictable revenue from repeat customers.

Limited resources to automate systems. Building a fully functional management system is a costly endeavor. Most organizers cannot afford to
make the investment nor do they have the necessary technical resources to develop applications sufficient to run their businesses effectively.
When organizers do attempt to automate registration and administration themselves, building and maintaining an internal system often becomes
technologically challenging, time intensive and cost prohibitive.

Our Solution

ActiveWorks, our organization-based cloud computing platform, transforms the way organizers record, track, manage and share information
regarding activities and events. We offer applications that allow our customers to reduce cost, attract new participants and focus resources on
enhancing the quality of their events. ActiveWorks allows organizers to leverage our large-scale, common infrastructure to manage their
activities and events more effectively. Additionally, we have created a number of mobile applications to enhance functionality and access to our
solutions.

Our applications provide the following benefits to organizers:

Create operational efficiencies by automating registration and administration. Our applications reduce costs by automating processes such as
activity and event registration, facility reservation, roster management, results publishing, membership management and operational reporting.
The data generated and managed by our applications is presented in an easy-to-use manner and eliminates a significant amount of manual data
entry.

Manage participant and activity information. ActiveWorks centralizes a comprehensive data set of participant information for each customer.
We also provide a user-friendly interface to easily track, manage and enhance the ongoing relationship between participants and activity
organizers.

2
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Communicate real-time with event participants. We enable organizers to engage participants through websites and email. This empowers our
customers to seamlessly and efficiently inform, motivate and support participants, thereby building greater affinity for their organizations.
Additionally, the organizer is able to notify participants of future events that may interest the participant, improving future event exposure and
participation.

Provide access to efficient marketing channels. Our integrated platform allows organizers to reach a targeted group of new potential participants
through a variety of resources to provide greater exposure for their activities and events.

Our applications provide the following benefits to participants:

Foster discovery through our comprehensive directory. Our websites deliver content based on a participant�s interests, while facilitating
discovery of new relevant and targeted activities. Our directory provides access to a broad database of events, classes, leagues, tournaments,
organizations, facilities as well as a wide range of other activities. Our applications are designed to enable our participants to engage in their
favorite activities through seamless, secure, real-time registration.

Support participation. Throughout our offerings, participants can find resources and like-minded individuals to support every step of their
journey. We offer free and premium access to training plans, articles, videos, discounts and experts through our websites, mobile applications
and other social media channels. Our community members are passionate about their interests and together they provide a real-time support
network which encourages and enables participation at every level.

Our Strengths

Our applications are designed to reach many aspects of a consumer�s lifestyle from community activities and sports to business solutions and the
outdoors. Given this breadth, we believe the following strengths provide us with a competitive advantage within this large and growing market:

Leader in a large and fragmented market. We believe we have the largest customer base in our industry, including over 51,300 customers and
more than 80 million annual registrations. The scale and breadth of our platform enables us to provide the full automation capabilities required
to serve a diverse set of activities for numerous organizations. Our offerings result from years of experience and participant feedback and include
specialized features and support, which are difficult to replicate. Our large installed base of customers drives awareness of our services and
provides us with a significant advantage in marketing our cloud computing applications to new customers.

Proprietary technology platform. Our cloud computing platform allows us to efficiently develop and deliver vertical specialization and
feature-rich applications for customers of all sizes. We have made significant investments in our ActiveWorks platform, a secure, reliable and
flexible technology infrastructure that can be easily modified to meet the unique needs of organizers and participants. We have approximately
1,100 technology and research and development personnel in the United States, Canada and China working on the development and delivery of
our solutions. Our applications are tightly integrated within our organizations� operations and deliver significant cost savings and operational
efficiencies.

Dedicated and highly engaged consumers. We provide relevant and vertical-specific directories, content and tools that engage participants and
form enthusiastic and dedicated online communities. These participants generate over 1.1 billion page views annually on our websites.

High degree of predictable and recurring revenue. We have long-term, exclusive contracts with many of our customers. We also have a
successful track record of renewing a high percentage of these contracts for multiple successive terms. As a result, a significant percentage of
our revenue is predictable and recurring. We believe our high customer retention is due to our ability to both lower costs and drive incremental
revenue for our customers, delivering a significant and quantifiable return on investment for our applications.

3
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Powerful network effect. Our highly complementary organization and participant offerings drive multiple revenue opportunities. The continued
growth of our customers results in more participants visiting our online communities. This growing audience creates a powerful network effect
where our platform becomes increasingly valuable to both our organizers and participants, driving more registrations to our customer�s activities
while simultaneously offering participants additional relevant activities from which to choose. In addition, growth in our participant audience
attracts incremental customers who view our online resources as an effective medium for marketing their activities and events to a targeted
demographic of participants.

Alignment with our customers� interests. Our business is uniquely aligned with the interests of our customers. Like our customers, the success
of our business is directly dependent on maximizing the number of participants who register for activities and events.

Economies of scale. We have achieved a level of scale in our business that provides operational and technological competitive advantages. For
example, we are able to leverage our significant investment in cloud infrastructure to provide high levels of service and reliability, while
maintaining a low unit cost structure. We also apply our solutions experience accumulated through interactions with tens of thousands of
organizations to design and develop features that can easily be configured for multiple types of customers, thus allowing us to spread our
development costs across a much wider market opportunity than our competitors.

Growth Strategy

To extend our leadership position in the activities and events market, we intend to:

Grow the number of customers we serve. We will continue to promote the migration of organizations towards online management of activities
and events, and in doing so, grow our customer base. In recent years, we increased our sales and marketing personnel and plan to further
increase our sales and marketing personnel in the future. We believe the low penetration of cloud computing applications in our markets
provides a large potential customer base for our platform.

Increase our online registration conversion rates. We plan to increase participant usage of online registration services by training our customers
in the execution of conversion techniques. We have developed and refined these techniques over the past 12 years through our experience
working with tens of thousands of organizations. We also plan to continue providing our customers with an array of tools aimed at promoting
online registration. Further, we intend to continue expanding our customers� ability to reach participants online through our websites and by
leveraging emerging and alternative online channels, including complementary social media platforms and mobile applications.

Deepen our relationship with existing customers. We are dedicated to developing comprehensive, vertical-specific applications and features that
increase the value of our platform to our customers. We proactively review customer needs, usage trends and online penetration to identify
opportunities where additional applications, services and targeted marketing programs would assist our customers in meeting their goals. We
enable our customers to access a targeted consumer base through our marketing services.

Pursue strategic acquisitions. The competitive landscape in our core markets remains highly fragmented with many sub-scale players focusing
on a small fraction of our addressable market. We intend to pursue acquisitions to strengthen our market position, broaden our organization base,
enhance our capabilities and add new applications to our platform.

Expand internationally. We intend to commit additional resources to markets outside of North America. Our international sales have increased
every year since we began selling our services internationally. We believe this opportunity is larger than our domestic market, and that we are
well positioned to take advantage of this opportunity as our model is readily transferable to new markets.
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Our Platform

ActiveWorks creates operational efficiencies, delivers business insights and streamlines marketing efforts for our customers. At its core,
ActiveWorks is a robust back-office system that pulls together many of our customers� participant management, operational reporting, volunteer
management, service and payment processing functions into one easy-to-use hosted system. ActiveWorks provides a comprehensive view of the
business and provides real-time business insights through live reporting and historical comparisons. We believe the efficiencies gained allow our
organizers to spend more time focusing on what is most important to their businesses: successful activities and events.

ActiveWorks is designed to support existing marketing tactics and amplify those efforts through our expansive web, mobile and social reach.
Our communities offer an attractive audience for client-marketing programs and our range of free and paid promotional services are designed to
fit a broad spectrum of our customer population.

We plan to increase our operating expenses in the future as we continue to develop additional functionality and features for our applications,
continue to transition our customers to ActiveWorks, make additional acquisitions, increase our sales and marketing activities, expand outside of
North America and enhance our customer service and call center capabilities.

Organizer Offerings
Market Register Operate Analyze

Email Marketing & Tracking
Event Syndication

Email Advertising

Websites

Social Media

Online Registration

Reservations & Ticketing

Payment Processing

Donations & Fundraising

Point of Sale Merchandise

Event & Activity Management

Facility & Resource

Management

Operational Reporting

Participant Management

Membership Management

Call Center Services

Volunteer & Staff Management

Reporting Analytics

Customer Loyalty

Pricing Optimization

Surveys

Our technology applications, media solutions and online communities provide a comprehensive search experience that connects participants
with the things they love, want and need to do. Our offerings are designed to reduce the barriers to participation by enabling and supporting a
consumer through each stage of The Active Journey: Find & Register, Share & Prepare and Participate & Commemorate. During the first stage,
visitors find engaging activities through dynamic, market-specific search interfaces and leverage social components to share their interests and
invite friends. Once an individual has committed to participate, that individual can register online through our proprietary, secure payment
processing system.

After a visitor has established their commitment to participate in an activity, our products serve as a resource and tool to help them �Share &
Prepare� to ensure they are ready to get the most out of their activity. Through a mix of free and paid offerings, visitors can find articles, videos,
experts and discounts on tools and gear. Most importantly, visitors can find a network of active participants looking to support like-minded
individuals in their pursuits. Our portfolio of consumer offerings support an individual up through the point of participation. Most importantly,
we provide a platform to celebrate their accomplishments and a conduit to commit to the next endeavor.
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Participant Offerings

Find & Register Share & Prepare
Participate &

Commemorate
Featured Listings Articles Results
Search Videos Photo Sharing
Directory Tell a Friend Social Media
Aggregations Experts Ambassadors
Best of Active.com How-To Guides Free Product

Samples
Targeted Recommendations Social Sharing Community
Customers

We work with organizations of all sizes. We currently have over 51,300 sports, community activities, outdoors and business solutions customers
and we received technology fees from more than 80 million registrations in 2011. Based on the results of an online survey we commissioned
through Survey.com, we believe the organizations we target produce or organize activities and events for the majority of U.S. households.

In 2011, none of our customers accounted for more than five percent of our total revenue. Our technology customers can be categorized in the
following four groups and can be further broken down into the verticals listed in the table below:

Sports Community Activities Outdoors Business Solutions
Endurance Events Parks & Recreation Departments State Campgrounds Conferences
Leagues & Teams Schools & Districts National Parks Conventions
Golf Courses City & County Governments Fishing Licenses Association Gatherings
Clubs Camps & Retreats Hunting Permits Meetings & Seminars
Tournaments Faith-Based Organizations Marinas Trade Shows & Expos

Resorts
We currently rely on agreements with large payment processing organizations in order to provide certain services to our customers. We do not
believe our business is substantially dependent on these organizations because we believe we can replace the services provided by these payment
processors with alternate providers.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing efforts are focused on the following primary goals: increase the number of organization customers, increase revenue
from existing accounts and increase consumer traffic to our online properties. We deploy our sales force first by customer group and then by
geography.

Increase the number of customers. We have dedicated account executives focused on creating and leveraging strategic relationships to drive
sales to large enterprises. Account executives also work directly with prospective customers to increase awareness of the value of our
applications and services. A significant amount of our sales are generated through referrals or through our marketing efforts. We employ an
inbound sales staff to convert these leads to sales. As our products become more intuitive and thus easy-to-use, more organizations are becoming
capable of directly using our services without the need for interactions with our sales personnel. Our strategy is to make this �self set-up� process a
larger part of our sales and marketing efforts, particularly with respect to small and medium sized customers.

Increase revenue from existing customers. We have dedicated account management personnel focused on maximizing client retention, online
registration penetration and utilization of our applications and services. We
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work with our customers to maximize the value of our platform, which includes training in conversion techniques to drive participants to register
online for their activities and events.

Increase consumer traffic to our online properties. We use a variety of consumer acquisition strategies to maximize participation in our online
communities. These include proprietary customer relationships, strategic partnerships, social media initiatives and email marketing campaigns.

We consider North America our primary market. As part of our growth strategy, we are expanding globally. We focus our global sales effort on
winning large, strategic customers to gain exposure in new geographies. We plan to increase our direct sales force and build partnerships to
support international expansion and gain local credibility.

Professional Services

We provide consulting and implementation services to certain customers to facilitate the adoption of our cloud computing applications.
Consulting services consist primarily of business mapping, project management services and guidance on best practices in using our services.
Implementation services include system set-up and configuration, data conversion as well as developing customized training and education
programs relating to both the use and administration of our services.

Customer Support

We believe that superior customer support is integral to retaining and expanding our customer base. Our support group handles inquiries from
both organizers and participants. We answer email and phone requests regarding activity and event registration and confirmation, payments and
event details for our organizations� registrants. We have invested in an advanced communications system that allows us to manage and track the
number of incoming calls and emails, enabling us to accurately forecast our customer support personnel needs.

Our technical support staff trains our customers on effective methods for increasing registrations, and offers training on our application services,
including data management and technical support. Our technical support group helps organizers promote their activities and events using online
marketing and communication tools. The technical support staff also helps organizers download reports and set up new events in the system as
needed. We have a comprehensive technical support program to assist our customers in the use of our applications, and we continue to explore
ways to deliver efficient problem resolution and feedback channels.

Additionally, we provide call centers for certain customers such as state hunting and fishing departments who contractually require call centers.
We continue to work on maintaining and improving the overall quality and level of customer service and support we provide our customers and
participants. As such, we focus on reducing registration and customer support calls by providing self-service features on our website, such as the
ability to register for events and report problems. We are exploring new avenues to deliver efficient and intuitive online registrations, problem
resolution and feedback channels. As our consumer-facing cloud computing applications become increasingly intuitive, we expect the
percentage of registrations conducted online will grow.

Technology

We introduced our first service, a registration system and online community for organizers and participants of running events, in 1999.

Over the last five years, one of our key corporate strategies has been to develop a robust technology platform that augments our initial
registration system, moving us into a number of new markets and adding a significant amount of new functionality. In that effort, we are
currently devoting significant resources to both
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developing our highly scalable and flexible ActiveWorks platform and maintaining a number of vertical-specific legacy systems. As legacy
systems are transitioned to ActiveWorks, we will end any further development on those products and retire the applications.

Furthermore, as part of our strategy to strengthen our position as the leading provider of organization-based cloud computing applications, we
built our offering on a service-oriented architecture. By implementing this as a Platform as a Service (PaaS), our investment in ActiveWorks
allows us to build vertical-specific applications that capitalize on our library of core services. Likewise, ActiveWorks allows us to acquire and
integrate high-quality applications directly into our platform. This serves the purpose of creating barriers to entry around our existing customer
groups and allows us to scale into new verticals and customers more quickly and at a lower cost.

Because our cloud applications function like traditional Software as a Service (SaaS) platform, we quickly and efficiently deliver high quality
and comprehensive solutions via the Internet. As a cloud provider, we do not need to develop our software for different hardware, operating
systems or database application platforms, and access to our application services is delivered over the Internet to any connected device. The
entire platform is built and developed utilizing industry accepted security guidelines to enable compliance with the industry�s stringent
requirements.

We designed our system to be easy-to-use, secure and user-configurable with open standards for fast integration. Our solution is a
highly-scalable, multi-tenant, technology-agnostic platform. This enables us to spread the cost of service delivery across a large customer base.
Moreover, all of our core development work can be utilized to deliver new functionality for use by our customers as a whole or on an as-desired
basis.

We also offer additional capabilities that enable participants to register for activities and events, buy memberships, purchase goods and services,
and make donations. This allows organizers to focus fully on the organization of the event. ActiveWorks was designed so that credit card
transactions are processed securely through payment card industry compliant architecture with automatic failover through redundant paths, and
to separate payment processors that have multiple layers of redundancy for fault tolerance. We believe these layers of redundancy offer high
levels of reliability for large-scale online registration.

Our primary production infrastructure is hosted within industry compliant datacenters on the East Coast and West Coast within the United
States, as well as facilities in Canada and Europe. These centers are configured to utilize technologies that provide fast delivery of infrastructure
services to the platform. All our primary datacenters rank as Tier 3 or higher, and are monitored in real-time by enterprise monitoring tools that
are utilized by our 24x7 network operation centers located both within and outside of the United States. These facilities serve as backups for
each other and have all the current technology to support near real-time replication, data security, storage and recovery strategies.

Our ongoing research and development efforts are focused on enhancing the features, functionality and security of our existing service offerings.
We are also developing new proprietary offerings in an expanding number of verticals and transitioning acquired technology to our platform.
We have extensive technology capabilities, with approximately 1,100 technology and research and development personnel located in the United
States, Canada and China working on the development and delivery of our services.

Competition

The market for technology applications for activity and event organizers is fragmented and rapidly evolving. As a result of the functionality and
features of our technology platform and the breadth of our coverage of activities and events, we do not believe any single company competes
with our current applications or business model across our four customer groups. Our primary competition comes from traditional �pen-and-paper�
processing methods, which activity and event organizers are accustomed to using, spreadsheet
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software, basic desktop applications and registration by phone, mail or walk-up. Additional sources of competition include:

� Applications custom developed for an activity or event by the technical staff of an organizer or by an outside custom service
provider;

� Companies that offer generalized business software that has features or functionality that organizers can use to help register
participants and/or manage the other important aspects of activities, such as content or contact management software programs,
e-commerce solutions, enterprise resource planning software and other services having separate software modules; and

� Companies that offer integrated software applications in one or a limited number of markets within the activities and events industry.
It is often difficult to displace a competitor or a competitive solution once selected and used by an activity or event organizer. We expect to
encounter new and evolving competition as the market becomes aware of the advantages of cloud computing applications for the activities and
events industry. In addition, we expect our competition will include larger, better capitalized companies with greater operational, strategic,
financial, personnel and other resources to be able to enter our markets and attempt to compete with us. Competitors and potential competitors
may enter into business combinations or alliances that strengthen their competitive positions.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property is important to our business. We rely on a combination of trade secret, trademark, copyright, trade dress, domain
name and patent laws in the United States and in the other jurisdictions in which we operate, together with confidentiality agreements
and technological measures, to protect our intellectual property. We pursue the registration of our trademarks, service marks and domain names
in the United States. Our registered trademarks in the United States include THE ACTIVE NETWORK, ACTIVE, ACTIVE.COM,
ACTIVENET, ACTIVEWORKS, REGONLINE, RESERVEAMERICA and STARCITE. As of December 31, 2011, we have been granted five
patents by the United States Patent and Trademark Office and have six patent applications pending in the United States. Our issued patents begin
to expire in February 2019. We rely more heavily on trade secret protection than patents to protect our proprietary technology. To protect our
trade secrets, we control access to our proprietary systems and technology and enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements
with our employees and consultants and confidentiality agreements with other third parties. In addition, because of the relatively high cost we
would experience in registering all of our copyrights, we generally rely on common-law copyright laws in the United States and in other
jurisdictions to protect our copyrights.

Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of foreign and domestic laws and regulations that affect companies conducting business on the Internet. Many of
these laws and regulations are still evolving and could be interpreted in ways that could impose additional compliance burdens on us or
otherwise adversely affect our business.

As a business that deals with transactions involving credit card and other forms of electronic, non-cash payment methods, we are subject to
various payment card and banking industry laws and regulations. In addition, in the area of information security and data protection, many states
have passed laws requiring notification to users when there is a security breach for personal data, such as the 2002 amendment to California�s
Information Practices Act, or requiring the adoption of minimum information security standards that are often vaguely defined and difficult to
practically implement. The costs of compliance with these laws may increase in the future as a result of changes in interpretation. Furthermore,
any failure on our part to comply with these laws may subject us to significant liabilities.
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We are also subject to federal, state and foreign laws regarding privacy and protection of customer and user data. We post on our website our
privacy policy and user agreement, which describe our practices concerning the use, transmission and disclosure of user data. Any failure by us
to comply with our posted privacy policy or privacy related laws and regulations could result in proceedings against us by governmental
authorities or others, which could harm our business. In addition, the interpretation of data protection laws, and their application to the Internet is
unclear and in a state of flux. There is a risk that these laws may be interpreted and applied in conflicting ways from state to state, country to
country, or region to region, and in a manner that is not consistent with our current data protection practices. Complying with these requirements
could cause us to incur additional costs and change our business practices. Further, any failure by us to adequately protect user privacy and data
could result in a loss of customer and user confidence in our services, which could adversely affect our business.

In the United States and abroad, laws relating to the liability of providers of online services for activities of their customers, users and other third
parties are currently being tested by a number of claims, including actions based on invasion of privacy and other torts, unfair competition,
copyright and trademark infringement, and other theories based on the nature and content of the materials searched, the advertisements posted,
or the content provided by customers or users. Any court ruling or other governmental action that imposes liability on providers of online
services for the activities of their customers, users or other third parties could harm our business.

In addition, because our services are accessible worldwide, certain foreign jurisdictions may claim that we are required to comply with their
laws, including in jurisdictions where we have no local entity, employees, or infrastructure.

Our Employees, Values and Company Culture

Many of our employees came to us directly from, and are still active within, the customer verticals we target. They bring us energy, passion and
valuable knowledge regarding our customers� needs. Assembling a talented team to address the challenges of powering the world�s activities and
connecting people with the things they love, want and need to do is critical to our success. We believe we have created an industry-leading team,
and will continue to hire and retain the best players to accomplish our mission.

As of December 31, 2011, we had 2,669 full-time employees and 248 part-time employees and independent contractors. We typically engage
more than 250 temporary employees and independent contractors during the first, second and third fiscal quarters to address seasonal peaks in
registrations for our customers� activities and events. We believe that relations with our employees, temporary employees and independent
contractors are good.

Our culture reflects our values, norms and inner workings as a company. It comes to life not only within the walls of our offices but externally
through interactions within our communities. Our employees have not only shaped this culture, but helped us to define it. We identify our
culture with the following:

Inspired by our Customers. We believe in the value our customers provide to the world. It is truly inspiring to see the impact our customers have
on their communities and we want to help them make an even greater difference. This makes our focus on customer improvement a constant.

Fueled by Challenge. We are solutions-oriented and thrive on challenges. We are conditioned to step up to challenges we set.

Champions of Respect. Recognize a job well done. Get involved. Provide constructive feedback. Listen to opposing viewpoints. These are the
simple principles that add up to an environment in which respect is key and our employees can thrive.

Focused on Results. We set goals, measure results, and optimize our approach. Responsibility and accountability rule. Working smarter helps us
meet our goals to grow and scale, and to do more with less.
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Our culture is built upon the foundation of our values and are the principles by which we manage our day-to-day business and facilitate decision
making. Our core values are: Commitment, Drive, Openness, Team and Fun. We believe that we are making a difference in the world. We strive
to work together and to treat each other with respect. We encourage each other to defend our beliefs. We are dedicated to connecting ourselves
and others with the things we love, want and need to do. Our employees created ActiveX, a company-wide program focused on exercise and
wellness to further this mission. We sponsor company hackathons and innovation awards. Outsiders tell us there is a refreshing passion that
radiates from our employees. As a company, we believe our ultimate advantage is our people.

Corporate Information

We were originally incorporated in California in October 1998 as Racegate.com, Inc. and became a Delaware corporation through a stock
exchange agreement in July 1999. In May 2001, we changed our name to The Active Network, Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at
10182 Telesis Court, Suite 100, San Diego, California. Our corporate website address is www.activenetwork.com, and our primary participant
website is www.active.com. Information contained on our websites is not a part of this prospectus and the inclusion of our website addresses in
this prospectus is an inactive textual reference only.

Available Information

We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�), including annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K and any other filings required by the SEC. We make available on our website (www.activenetwork.com) our annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably
practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. These materials are available free of charge on or through our
website via the Investor Relations page at www.activenetwork.com. None of the information contained on our website is part of this report or
incorporated in this report by reference.

The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC�s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC
maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers
that file electronically with the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risks and all other information
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, before investing in our
common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are
unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, also may become important factors that affect us. If any of the following risks
materialize, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed. In that case, the trading price of our
common stock could decline, and you may lose some or all of your investment.

Risks Related To Our Business

We have a history of significant net losses, and we may not be able to achieve or maintain consistent profitability on an annual basis.

We have incurred fiscal year net losses since our inception in 1998. Our net losses were approximately $15.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011, $27.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 and $37.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. At
December 31, 2011, we had an accumulated deficit of
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approximately $275.3 million. We plan to increase our operating expenses in the future as we continue to develop additional functionality and
features for our applications, continue to transition our customers to ActiveWorks, make additional acquisitions, increase our sales and
marketing activities, expand outside of North America and enhance our customer service and call center capabilities. If our revenue grows at a
slower rate than we anticipate, or if our operating expenses increase unexpectedly, we may not be able to achieve or maintain consistent
profitability.

Our limited operating history, new and unproven business model and rapidly evolving market make it difficult to evaluate our future
prospects and increase the risk that we will not be successful.

We launched our application services in 1999, and we have made a number of changes to our operations, technology platform and online
communities since that time. As a result, we have a limited operating history with our current business upon which to predict our future
operating results. In addition, the business of providing cloud computing applications to activity and event organizers and building and
supporting online communities for activity and event participants is relatively new and subject to rapid change. You must consider our business
and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we will continue to encounter as a company with a new and unproven business model and
operating in a new and rapidly evolving market. These risks and difficulties include our ability to, among other things:

� attract new customers;

� deepen our relationships with our existing customers;

� continue to transition our existing customers to ActiveWorks;

� continue to earn the trust of organizers and participants with respect to the processing, storage and use of their confidential
information and personal data in compliance with our own high standards of care and applicable governmental and other legal
obligations related to privacy and data protection;

� develop a scalable, high performance technology infrastructure that can securely, efficiently and reliably handle increased usage
globally;

� continue to manage and successfully integrate acquired businesses, applications and technologies;

� successfully compete with other companies that engage in the activity and event registration and management market;

� continue to build and support online communities and applications for activity and event participants;

� successfully introduce and deploy new features and functionality for our technology platform;

� increase revenue from our applications, websites and online communities;

� avoid interruptions or disruptions in our service;

Edgar Filing: ACTIVE NETWORK INC - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 18



� avoid problems with the functionality of our applications;

� continue to hire, integrate and retain highly skilled team members who embrace our values and culture; and

� successfully expand our business outside of North America.
We may not be able to address these risks and difficulties or others that we may encounter, including those described elsewhere in this risk
factors section. Our failure to adequately address risks and difficulties as we encounter them could cause our reputation to suffer and harm our
business. We base our current and future expense levels on our management�s estimates of the size of our market and the number of potential
customers and registrations, operating forecasts and estimates of future revenue. However, our revenue and operating results are difficult to
forecast due to the uncertainty of our market and our ability to increase our customer base and the number of participants who elect to register
for activities using our applications. In addition, certain of
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our expenses are fixed, and we may be unable to adjust our spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in revenue.
As a result, we may make errors in predicting our revenue and expenses, which would harm our business and financial condition.

Our growth rate over the past few years may not be sustainable. If we fail to maintain an adequate growth rate, our business will be
adversely affected and we may not achieve or maintain profitability.

Our revenue has grown rapidly over the past few years, increasing to $337.4 million in 2011 from $279.6 million in 2010 and $242.9 million in
2009, representing a compound annual growth rate over this period of 17.9%. We may not be able to sustain this level of growth in future
periods, and you should not rely on the revenue growth of any prior quarterly or annual period as an indication of our future performance.
Further, a portion of our revenue growth in 2011 resulted from acquisitions. We may not complete acquisitions in the future that increase our
revenue at the same rate as in prior periods. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming and costly, and
we may not be able to successfully complete the acquisitions we do identify. If we are unable to maintain an adequate rate of growth, our
business will be adversely affected and we may not achieve or maintain profitability.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business and operating results could be harmed.

The substantial growth in our business over the past few years has placed, and may continue to place, significant demands on our management,
our operating infrastructure and our internal controls and procedures. As our operations grow in size and complexity, we will need to improve
and upgrade our operating systems and infrastructure to offer an increasing number of organizers and participants enhanced applications,
features, functionality and support. In addition, we will be required to strengthen our internal controls and our risk management policies and
procedures. The expansion of our operating systems and infrastructure and the strengthening of our controls, policies and procedures will require
us to commit substantial financial, operational and technical resources in advance of an increase in the volume of our business, with no
assurance that our business will actually increase. Continued growth could also strain our ability to maintain reliable service levels for organizers
and participants, as well as to recruit, train and retain highly skilled personnel. If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business and
operating results could be harmed.

Acquisitions could prove difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, strain our resources and impair our
operating results, financial conditions and prospects.

Acquisitions have been an important part of our growth to date. We have completed a significant number of acquisitions over the past few years.
We intend to continue to seek to acquire and invest in businesses, applications and technologies that we believe could complement or expand our
business, augment our market coverage, enhance our technology platform, provide us with valuable customer contacts or otherwise offer growth
opportunities.

Acquisitions and investments involve numerous risks and difficulties, including:

� difficulties in integrating operations, technologies, accounting functions and personnel;

� difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers of our acquired companies to our technology platform;

� difficulties in maintaining the security and reliability of acquired applications;

� delays in strengthening internal controls and risk management policies and procedures;

� diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations;

� potential loss of key employees;
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� inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition or investment costs;

� assumption of unknown liabilities and claims;

� potential disputes and litigation;

� potential diminishment in the value of any acquired brands; and

� potential write-offs of acquired assets.
Acquisitions also frequently result in recording of goodwill and other intangible assets, which are subject to potential impairments in the future
that could harm our operating results. In addition, if we finance acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities, our existing
stockholders may be diluted. Such dilution could adversely affect the market price of our stock. Moreover, if we are unable to identify suitable
future acquisition candidates, reach agreement with these parties or obtain the financing needed to complete such acquisitions, we could lose
market share to competitors who are able to complete such acquisitions. This loss of market share could negatively impact our business, revenue
and future growth. If we fail to achieve the anticipated benefits of any acquisitions we have completed or may complete in the future, our
business, operating results, financial condition and prospects may be impaired.

Any failure to compete successfully against current or future competitors would materially adversely affect our business and prospects.

The market for technology applications for activity and event organizers is fragmented, competitive and rapidly evolving. Our primary
competition comes from traditional registration processing methods used by activity and event organizers, such as paper-based registrations
submitted by mail or in person or reservations submitted by telephone. We also face competition from:

� custom-developed applications created by an organizer�s technical staff or an outside custom service provider;

� companies that offer generalized functional software that have features and functionality that organizers can use to register
participants and manage their activities, such as content or contact management software programs, e-commerce solutions, enterprise
resource planning software and other products having separate software modules; and

� companies that offer organizers integrated hosted software solutions in one or more verticals within the activities and events market.
Our competitors may announce new products, services or enhancements that better address changing industry standards or the needs of
organizers and participants. In addition, competitors and potential competitors may enter into business combinations or alliances that strengthen
their competitive positions. For example, companies who we do not consider to be significant competitors could acquire one or more of the
various companies in our fragmented industry and, over a short period of time, become a significant competitor in the markets we service. If any
of these competitors were to aggressively price their competing services in our market, we may be required to reduce our prices, which could
adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. In addition, it may be difficult to displace a competitor once they have established
a relationship with an organizer.

We expect to encounter new and evolving competition as the market becomes aware of the advantages of cloud computing applications for
activity and event organizers. For example, social networking companies with a large number of online users could develop competing
applications or partner with third parties to do so. Future or existing competitors may introduce different pricing models, and offer users
applications at minimal or no cost. In addition, larger, better capitalized companies with greater operational, strategic, financial, personnel,
customer or user bases and other resources than we have could also enter our market and attempt to compete with us. If we do not successfully
compete with existing and future competitors, our business and prospects will be adversely affected.
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Our business may be harmed if we fail to successfully transition certain of our existing customers to ActiveWorks.

We have made a significant investment in developing ActiveWorks, and a large number of our customers are currently being served by our
ActiveWorks architecture at varying levels of integration. We are in the process of transitioning to ActiveWorks certain customers who continue
to use both our internally developed systems and acquired legacy systems. We are developing the additional features required to complete this
transition. In addition, as part of our growth strategy, we expect to continue to inherit legacy systems. We will evaluate these systems to
determine, based on their sophistication and compatibility, whether to integrate them into ActiveWorks or to migrate the customers using them
to ActiveWorks. This process is time consuming and requires the investment of significant technical and human resources. During this process,
we will continue to incur the costs and face the risks and difficulties associated with maintaining multiple legacy systems. During that transition
period, we may also experience service interruptions, system failures and security breaches due to the shortcomings of certain of the legacy
systems. Further, as we transition legacy systems to ActiveWorks, we may discontinue certain brands associated with those legacy systems and
we may encounter resistance from customers who have affinity for these brands. If we fail to complete the transition to ActiveWorks in a
cost-effective and timely manner and without service interruptions, system failures, security breaches or resistance from customers, our business
may be harmed.

If our computer systems are compromised, we could be subject to fines, damages, litigation and enforcement actions and organizers and
participants could curtail or cease using our applications, the occurrence of which would harm our business.

Our computer systems involve the storage and transmission of non-public personal and credit card information provided by our customers and
participants. Despite our security measures, our computer systems are vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins and other attacks that could lead
to the unauthorized access, disclosure and use of non-public personal information, including credit card data. The techniques used by criminal
elements to attack our computer systems are sophisticated, change frequently and may originate from less regulated and remote areas of the
world. As a result, we may not be able to address these techniques proactively or implement adequate preventative measures. In one instance, we
became aware of a security breach in one of the legacy computer systems we inherited through one of our acquisitions. This type of breach could
potentially result in the unauthorized acquisition and use of credit card data of a number of participants. We promptly isolated the affected
computer system, conducted a forensic analysis of this breach, took steps to clean the affected computer system and implemented a remediation
plan to prevent any further breach. We cooperated with the federal authorities investigating the criminals who perpetrated the attack. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to prevent a breach of our computer systems in the future. The breach of our computer systems may subject us to
fines, damages from claims asserted by payment processors, merchant banks, organizers and participants, litigation and enforcement actions. In
addition, if we experience further compromises of our computer systems, payment processors, merchant banks, organizers and participants may
lose confidence and cease using our applications, which would harm our business.

We are subject to data privacy laws and regulations as well as contractual privacy obligations, and our failure to comply could subject
us to fines and damages and would harm our reputation and business.

We are subject to the data privacy laws and regulations adopted by federal, state and foreign governmental agencies. Data privacy is highly
regulated, and may become the subject of additional regulation in the future. Privacy laws restrict our storage, use, processing, disclosure,
transfer and protection of non-public personal information, including credit card data, provided to us by our customers and participants. In
addition, we are subject to the privacy-related obligations in our contracts with our customers and other third parties (including voluntary
third-party certification bodies such as TRUSTe). Any failure by us to comply with applicable privacy laws or regulations, our contractual
privacy obligations or our own privacy policies, may result in fines, statutory or contractual damages or litigation or governmental enforcement
actions. Additionally, violations of our legal or contractual privacy obligations could cause organizers and participants to lose trust in us, which
would harm our reputation and business.
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Our technology systems are vulnerable to damage, interruptions or failures, any of which could harm our reputation and business.

Our technology systems rely on computer hardware and communications systems located either in our facilities or at third-party facilities,
including our main web-hosting facilities in Las Vegas, Nevada, Ashburn, Virginia and Toronto, Ontario. We do not control the operation of the
third-party facilities and must rely on third parties to provide the physical security, facilities management and communications infrastructure
services to ensure the reliable and consistent delivery of our solutions to our customers. Our web-hosting technology systems located at our
facilities and at third-party facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from catastrophic occurrences such as earthquakes, floods, fires,
power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks and similar unforeseen events. Despite any precautions we may take, the occurrence of
a natural disaster or other unexpected problems at one of our facilities or the facilities operated by third parties who house our equipment could
result in lengthy interruptions in our services.

We are in the process of implementing procedures designed to allow us to move our production operations over to a backup datacenter in the
event of a catastrophe. Although this program is functional, it does not provide a real-time failover in all instances, so if one of our websites
shuts down it would remain shut down for a period of time while the transition takes place, and during that time, the website would not be
accessible. In addition, the prolonged interruption of service of one or more of our websites that process transactions could result in potentially
significant losses.

We carry business interruption insurance but our coverage may not be sufficient to compensate us for the potentially significant losses that may
result from prolonged interruptions in our services as a result of system failures.

If credit card payment processors and service providers fail or no longer agree to provide their services or increase processing fees, our
customer relationships could be adversely affected and we could lose business and revenue.

We rely on agreements with large payment processing organizations to enable us to provide credit card authorization, data capture, settlement
and merchant accounting services, and access to various reporting tools for the customers we serve. Our credit card processors and service
providers could terminate their arrangements with us or fail to perform their services efficiently, each of which would adversely affect our
relationships with customers and could cause customers to discontinue using our applications. In addition, we cannot guarantee that credit card
companies will not increase the transaction fees we incur for each registration we process. If credit card payment processors and service
providers fail or no longer agree to provide their services or increase processing fees, our customer relationships could be adversely affected and
we could lose business and revenue.

We are subject to the rules and regulations adopted by the card networks, such as Visa, MasterCard and American Express, and if we
fail to adhere to their rules and regulations, we would be in breach of our contractual obligations to payment processors and merchant
banks, which could subject us to damages and liability and could eventually prevent us from processing or accepting credit cards.

The card networks, such as Visa, MasterCard and American Express, have adopted rules and regulations that apply to all merchants who process
and accept credit cards for payment of goods and services. We are obligated to comply with these rules and regulations as part of the contracts
we enter into with payment processors and merchant banks. The rules and regulations adopted by the card networks include the Payment Card
Industry Data Security Standards, or the PCI DSS. Under the PCI DSS, we are required to adopt and implement internal controls over the use,
storage and security of card data to help prevent credit card fraud. We assess our compliance with the PCI DSS on a periodic basis, and make
necessary improvements to our internal controls. If we fail to comply with the rules and regulations adopted by the card networks, including the
PCI DSS, we would be in breach our contractual obligations to payment processors and merchant banks. Such failure
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to comply may subject us to fines, penalties, damages and civil liability, and could eventually prevent us from processing or accepting credit
cards. Further, there is no guarantee that even if we comply with the rules and regulations adopted by the card networks, we will be able to
maintain our compliance. We also cannot guarantee that such compliance will prevent illegal or improper use of our payments systems or the
theft, loss or misuse of the credit card data of customers or participants. Any such event would harm our reputation and business.

We face potential liability for the fraudulent activities of organizers and their employees, participants and our employees.

We have potential liability for losses caused by the fraudulent activities of our organizers or their employees. An organizer, or one of an
organizer�s employees, could use a stolen or counterfeit credit card or credit card number to record a false sales transaction, or intentionally fail
to deliver merchandise, events, activities or services sold in an otherwise valid transaction. We may also face potential liability for credit card
fraud by participants who register for an activity or complete a transaction through our applications. A participant could use a stolen credit card
or a stolen credit card number in a credit card-not-present transaction, to register for an activity or event or purchase merchandise or services. In
a traditional credit card-present transaction, if the merchant uses the credit card, receives authorization for the transaction from the credit card
issuing bank and verifies the signature on the back of the credit card against the paper receipt signed by the individual using the credit card, the
credit card issuing bank remains liable for any loss. In a fraudulent credit card-not-present transaction, we could be liable to the credit card
issuing bank for any loss arising from the transaction, even if we receive authorization for the transaction from the same credit card issuing bank.
In addition, we face potential fraud if our employees misappropriate or disclose to others who misappropriate the credit card or other sensitive
information of organizers or participants. We have implemented systems and procedures designed to detect and reduce the impact of organizer,
participant and employee fraud, but we cannot guarantee that these measures are or will be effective. It is possible that incidents of fraud could
increase in the future, and they may remain undetected for extended periods of time if our systems and procedures are not effective. Significant
or recurring credit card fraud could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

We may face significant chargeback liability if our customers refuse or cannot reimburse chargebacks resolved in favor of participants
who register through our applications.

We may have potential liability for chargebacks associated with the transactions we process for certain of our organizer customers. If a billing
dispute relating to a transaction is not ultimately resolved in favor of the organizer, the disputed transaction is charged back to our bank and
credited to the credit card account of the participant. If we or our processing banks are unable to collect the chargeback from the organizer�s
account, or if the organizer refuses or is financially unable to reimburse us for the chargeback amount, we bear the risk of loss for the amount of
the refund paid to the participant�s credit card account. We have in the past experienced chargebacks related to cancelled and fraudulent events
and transactions. Significant or recurring chargeback amounts could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. and foreign laws, many of which are unsettled and still developing, and which could subject
us to claims or otherwise harm our business.

We are subject to a variety of laws in the United States and abroad that are continuously evolving and developing, and that are costly to comply
with, can require significant management time and effort and can subject us to claims or other remedies. Existing and future laws and regulations
may be adopted, interpreted or implemented in a manner that is inconsistent with our current business practices or that require changes to such
practices, our privacy policy, the features and functionality of our applications or the design of our websites. These regulations and laws may
cover taxation, tariffs, user privacy, data protection, pricing, content, copyrights, distribution, electronic contracts and other communications,
consumer protection, broadband residential Internet access and the characteristics and quality of services. It is not clear how existing laws
governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to the Internet. If we are not able to
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comply with these laws and regulations or if we become liable under them, we could be directly harmed, and we may be forced to implement
new measures to reduce our exposure to this liability. This may require us to expend substantial resources or to discontinue certain practices,
which could negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the increased attention focused on liability
as a result of lawsuits and legislative proposals could harm our reputation or otherwise harm our business.

Our quarterly operating results are volatile, subject to seasonal fluctuations and difficult to predict, all of which may adversely affect
our stock price.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the future due to a variety of factors, many of which
are outside of our control. For example, we generally experience seasonality due to the greater number of activities and events during the spring
and summer months in North America. Other factors that may contribute to the variability of our quarterly and annual results include:

� our ability to accurately forecast revenue and appropriately plan our operating expenses;

� our ability to attract new, and increase the engagement and penetration of our existing, activity and event organizers;

� our ability to increase the number of participants who register for the activities and events offered by our customers using our
applications;

� our ability to control the cost and time required to transition certain customers to ActiveWorks;

� our ability to maintain and effectively manage an adequate rate of growth;

� our ability to successfully enter new markets and manage our planned global expansion;

� our ability to successfully manage and integrate our past and any future acquisitions of businesses, applications or technologies;

� our ability to limit interruptions in service and prevent the compromise of customer or participant data;

� the effects of natural or man-made catastrophic events;

� changes in the laws, regulations and legal standards affecting our business;

� our ability to keep pace with changes in technology and the offerings by our competitors;

� our ability to provide a high-quality participant experience through our applications and online communities;

� our ability to design and implement effective internal controls and processes;
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� our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and key personnel;

� our ability to protect our intellectual property, including our technology platform and our key brands;

� our ability to control the costs associated with defending intellectual property infringement and other claims by third parties; and

� the impact of worldwide economic conditions, including the resulting effect on consumer spending.
As a result, we believe that quarterly comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily meaningful and that you should not rely on the
results of one quarter as an indication of our future performance. In addition, our operating results may continue to vary significantly from one
quarter to the next as part of our normal business cycle, which may adversely affect our stock price.

If we do not continue to enhance and improve our existing applications and successfully introduce new applications, our ability to
maintain the pricing of our applications and to attract and retain organizer customers will be harmed.
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In the past we have grown our business in part through improving the functionality and features of our existing applications and introducing new
applications to our customers, such as fundraising, real-time event tracking and merchandising for activities and events. If we fail to continue to
offer new applications that increase the number of participants who register online for our customers� activities and events, and improve the
ability of our customers to manage their activities and events, we may be unable to maintain the pricing of our applications. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to timely and adequately develop additional functions and features or introduce new applications to satisfy the demands
of our customers. Further, developing new technologies and applications entails significant technical and business risks. We cannot assure you
that any new functions, features or applications will achieve the level of acceptance required for us to generate sufficient revenue to offset our
development costs. If we do not continue to enhance and improve the functions and features of our existing applications and successfully
introduce new applications, our ability to maintain the pricing of our applications and to attract and retain organizer customers will be harmed.

Activity and event organizers may not widely adopt our applications to manage the important aspects of their activities and events,
which would limit our ability to grow our business.

Our ability to grow our business and increase revenue depends on our success in educating activity and event organizers about the potential
benefits of our cloud computing applications. Cloud computing applications for organizing and managing important aspects of activities and
events are relatively new, and have not been widely adopted by activity and event organizers. Concerns about cost, fraud, privacy, security,
reliability and other issues may cause activity and event organizers not to adopt our applications. Moreover, activity and event organizers who
have already invested substantial resources in other registration and management systems or methods may be reluctant to adopt a new approach
like ours to supplement or replace existing systems or methods. If activity and event organizers do not widely adopt applications such as ours,
our ability to grow our business will be limited.

If we fail to expand our customers� use of our applications, our ability to execute our growth strategy and increase our revenue will be
limited.

Many of our organizer customers initially make a purchase of only one or a limited number of our available applications or use our applications
for only one or a limited number of their activities or events. Our ability to grow our business and increase revenue is dependent on our ability to
further penetrate our existing customers by selling additional applications to them, and by increasing the number of activities and events for
which they deploy our applications. If we fail to expand the usage of our applications by our existing customers, our ability to execute our
growth strategy and increase our revenue will be limited.

Many individuals are using devices other than personal computers to access the Internet. If users of these devices do not widely adopt
solutions we develop for these devices, our business could be adversely affected.

The number of people who access the Internet through devices other than personal computers, including mobile telephones, personal digital
assistants, smart phones and handheld tablets or computers, has increased dramatically in the past few years and is projected to continue to
increase. If we are unable to develop mobile solutions to meet the needs of our users, our business could suffer. Additionally, as new devices and
new platforms are continually being released, it is difficult to predict the problems we may encounter in developing versions of our solutions for
use on these alternative devices, and we may need to devote significant resources to the creation, support, and maintenance of such devices.

If we are unable to increase the percentage of participants who register through our websites, our ability to grow our business will be
impaired.

In addition to expanding and increasing penetration within our organizer customer base, the growth of our business depends on our ability to
increase the percentage of participants who elect to register for activities and
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events through our websites. Our ability to increase the percentage of participants who register through our websites depends on our ability to
make our online registration and reservation processes simple, efficient, secure and cost-effective, as well as on our ability to develop
applications, such as our online communities, activity and event information and searchable database of events, that encourage participants to
use our websites. Our ability to increase participant use of our websites also depends on the ability and willingness of our organizer customers to
increase the awareness of our websites to their participants. We cannot control the level of effort that organizers expend or the extent to which
any of them will be successful in increasing awareness of our websites among their participants. We may not be able to prevent organizers from
devoting greater resources to support other registration methods developed by them or other third parties. If we are unable to increase the
percentage of participants who register for activities and events through our websites, our ability to grow our business will be impaired.

We may not be successful in expanding into new business areas within the activity and event registration and management market,
which could harm our business and future prospects.

Our long-term strategic plan involves expanding our applications into new business areas within the activity and event registration and
management market. We cannot assure you that our efforts to expand our business in this manner will succeed. We also cannot assure you that
we will develop any new applications required to successfully compete in these new business areas in a cost-effective or timely manner. The
lack of market acceptance of such efforts or our inability to generate satisfactory revenue to offset the development costs could harm our
business and limit our future prospects.

The sales cycle for certain of our applications can be long, and we may not recognize revenue until completion of the entire sale, which
makes it difficult for us to forecast our operating results.

It can take us between three and nine months to complete a sale to an activity or event organizer, and at times it may take up to one year or
longer. The period between our initial contact with a potential customer and the completion of a sale may be relatively long due to several
factors, including:

� many activities and events occur only annually;

� our need to educate potential customers about the uses, benefits, safety and reliability of our applications;

� activity and event organizers have budget cycles which can affect the timing of purchases; and

� some organizers, such as park and recreation department administrators, have lengthy internal approval processes before having the
required authority to purchase our applications.

In addition, our customers may demand customization of the applications we provide them. As a result, these sales opportunities may require us
to devote greater sales and technical resources, increasing the cost and time required to complete sales. As a result, it is difficult to predict when
particular sales will occur or be completed, which adversely impacts our ability to accurately forecast our operating results.

Negative factors affecting the activities and events market have an adverse effect on our business and revenue.

We primarily generate revenue from the registration and reservation fees paid by the participants in the activities and events offered by our
organizer customers. As a result, our business is directly affected by factors affecting the activities and events market, including global, national
or local consumer trends, adverse weather, security concerns or environmental disasters. Our performance is also subject to economic conditions
and their impact on levels of consumer spending, which may remain depressed, or be subject to further deterioration, for the foreseeable future.
Some of the factors that have had and may continue to have an adverse impact on discretionary consumer spending include general economic
conditions, unemployment, consumer debt,
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reductions in net worth, disruptions in the residential real estate or mortgage markets, higher taxation, energy prices or interest rates and
decreases in consumer confidence and other macroeconomic factors. Because spending for activities is generally considered to be discretionary,
declines in consumer spending may have a more negative effect on our business than on those businesses that sell products or services
considered to be necessities. Unfavorable changes in the above factors or in other business and economic conditions affecting our activity and
event customers and their participants could cause organizers to cancel activities, result in fewer participants using our applications to register
for activities, lower our profit margins, cause our activity and event customers to terminate their relationship with us or default on their payment
obligations to us, any of which would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results.

If our customers do not renew their agreements for our applications, our business and operating results will suffer.

We currently generate a majority of our revenue from customers who have entered into contracts with us with terms ranging from three to seven
years. However, we have a number of customers with contract terms under three years. Our customers are not obligated to renew their contracts
with us. Even if our customers perceive our applications to be of value, budgetary, economic or other competitive pressures may prevent some
customers from renewing their contracts. If we are not successful in continuing to renew or extend the terms of our contracts with our existing
customers, our business and operating results will suffer.

Our ability to grow our business will be impaired if we do not provide high quality customer support in a timely and cost-effective
manner.

Our ability to maintain and increase our customer base and the number of participants who use our applications depends significantly on our
ability to provide high quality levels of service and support. Complaints or negative publicity about our service or support could severely
diminish confidence in or use of our applications. We spend significant time and resources to hire, train and retain our service and support
personnel. In addition, we are required to hire temporary employees each year to provide customer service and support during peak registration
seasons. These temporary employees require training and education and take time to reach full productivity. If we are not successful in timely
hiring, training and retaining our service and support personnel or otherwise fail to provide high quality service and support to organizers and
participants, our ability to grow our business will be impaired.

Our ability to improve our operating margins may be limited by the requirements imposed by our government agency customers.

We acquired the state hunting and fishing business of Automated License Systems and Central Trust Bank in October 2008 and the campground
registration business of ReserveAmerica in January 2009. As of December 31, 2011, we operated registration services for fishing and hunting
licenses in 25 states or provinces in North America, and provided registration and management services for campgrounds located in 33 states or
provinces in North America. Our government agency customers often require us to customize our applications and provide additional services to
their participants to qualify for these contracts. For example, we are typically required to maintain call centers for these customers to allow
participants to register telephonically and receive telephonic customer service and support. We continue to focus on ways to encourage
participants to use the self-service features available through our websites, however, each year we are required to hire temporary employees and
independent contractors to staff our call centers during peak registration periods. A number of our state customers require us to maintain a
physical call center located in their particular state. Additionally, our state customers typically require us to provide third-party audits of our
operations. These additional requirements are costly to comply with and add to the complexity of our business. If we are unable to properly
manage and control the cost of the additional services required by our government agency customers, our operating margins will suffer and our
business and results would be harmed.
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We may be unsuccessful in expanding our operations outside of North America, which could negatively impact our growth strategy,
revenue and future growth.

Our headquarters are located in the United States. To date, we have operated primarily in North America. Expansion outside of North America is
an important aspect of our future growth strategy. Our ability to expand outside of North America involves various risks and difficulties,
including:

� incurring significant expenses in advance of generating material revenue as we attempt to establish our presence in international
markets;

� operating in unfamiliar competitive environments;

� distraction of management and company resources;

� different participant preferences and participation patterns than those in North America;

� varied, unfamiliar and unclear legal and regulatory requirements and restrictions;

� potentially greater susceptibility to fraud and security breaches;

� pricing controls, legal, political or systemic restrictions on the ability of U.S. companies to compete with foreign competitors or
otherwise do business in foreign countries;

� less extensive adoption of the Internet as a commerce medium or information source and increased restrictions on privacy or the use
of customer and participant data;

� lack of infrastructure to adequately conduct electronic commerce transactions and data storage and management;

� difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

� greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection;

� currency fluctuations or other restrictions on foreign currency; and

� potential adverse tax consequences.
As a result of these obstacles, we may find it difficult to expand outside of North America or we may be unsuccessful in our attempt to do so,
which would negatively impact our growth strategy, revenue and future growth.
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We may not timely and effectively scale and adapt our existing technology and network infrastructure to ensure that our websites are
accessible with little or no perceptible load times.

A key element in our continued growth is the ability of organizers and participants to access our websites at all times with little or no perceptible
load times. This has become increasingly difficult to achieve as our applications have become more complex and our user traffic has increased.
Strains on the capacity of our technology infrastructure caused by growth in the numbers of organizers and participants accessing our websites,
new applications and features and overall engagement on our websites, especially at the opening of the registration period for a popular activity,
have in the past resulted, and may in the future result in, slower load times or system failures. We have experienced website disruptions, outages
and other performance problems due to a variety of factors, including maintaining multiple legacy systems, infrastructure changes, power
failure, telecommunication outages, human or software errors and capacity constraints caused by overwhelming numbers of users accessing our
websites simultaneously. If our websites are not available when users attempt to access them or do not function as expected, our customers may
select another option to organize and manage their activities and events and participants may select alternative means of researching and
registering for activities and events, each of which would negatively impact our business.
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We expect to continue to make significant investments to upgrade our technology and network infrastructure to handle increased usage and to
enable the timely and effective release of new applications. These upgrades and expansions are complex and in the past have resulted, and in the
future could result, in website outages or inefficiencies or operational failures. To the extent that we do not effectively address infrastructure
challenges, upgrade our systems as needed and continually develop our technology and network architecture, our business and operating results
may be harmed.

If Internet search engines� methodologies are modified or our search result page rankings decline for other reasons, participant
engagement in our websites and online communities could decline.

We depend in part on various Internet search engines to direct a significant amount of traffic to our websites. Our ability to maintain the number
of potential participants directed to our websites is not entirely within our control. Our competitors� search engine optimization, or SEO, efforts
may result in their websites receiving a higher search result page ranking than ours, or Internet search engines could revise their methodologies
in an attempt to improve search results, which could adversely affect placement of our search result page rankings. If search engine companies
revise their search algorithms in ways that are detrimental to new participant growth on our websites or in ways that make it more difficult for
organizers or participants to use our websites, or if competitors� SEO efforts are more successful than ours, the overall growth in the numbers of
organizers and participants using our websites could slow, participant engagement could decrease, and we could lose existing participants and
become less attractive to existing and prospective organizer customers. Our websites have experienced fluctuations in search result rankings in
the past, and we anticipate similar fluctuations in the future. Any reduction in the number of participants directed to our website would harm our
business and operating results.

Our ability to establish, maintain and strengthen our brands in the activities and events market is critical to our growth strategy.

Promoting and maintaining our brands is critical to our efforts to attract and retain our organizer customers and to increase the number of
participants who use our applications. We also believe brand recognition is critical to allow us to effectively compete against the growing
number of Internet sites and relatively low initial barriers to entry in certain of our markets. If we are unable to establish and maintain our
brands, including THE ACTIVE NETWORK, ACTIVE, ACTIVE.COM, ACTIVENET, ACTIVEWORKS, REGONLINE,
RESERVEAMERICA and STARCITE, as leaders for online registration and management applications in the activities and events market, our
business and prospects would be materially and adversely affected.

We may experience difficulty in developing marketing services that are attractive to advertisers and promoters.

The market for marketing services such as ours is relatively new and rapidly evolving. We cannot be certain this market will continue to grow.
Our marketing services customers may determine that it is in their best interest to spend their marketing budgets through other forms of
promotional or advertising activities. As a result, if we fail to develop compelling marketing services for advertisers and promoters, our ability to
sustain and grow our marketing services business would be adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain and grow our user base of participants and the data we gain access to from such participants, potential advertisers
may not utilize our marketing services, which may result in reduced revenue.

We use a wide range of data to expand, refine and target our marketing services on behalf of our customers. We gain access to most of this data
from participants as they �opt-in� to receive special offers and other direct marketing opportunities from our marketing services customers and us
and the registration process for activities and events using our application services. If we are unable to maintain and grow our user base of
participants and the data we gain access to from such participants, potential advertisers may not utilize our marketing services and we may lose
significant marketing services revenue.
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We might not be able to attract and retain employees, which could impede our ability to grow and successfully generate our business.

Any failure to attract and retain qualified, experienced employees could adversely affect our ability to grow our business. To execute our
continuing growth plans, we need to increase the size and maintain the quality of our staff of direct sales and business development
representatives and technology development staff. To be successful, we must attract and retain highly qualified sales and other personnel with
specialized skill sets focused on the activities and events industry. Competition for qualified and experienced sales and other personnel can be
intense, and we might not be successful in attracting and retaining such individuals. We have from time to time experienced, and we expect to
continue to experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining a sufficient number of highly skilled employees with appropriate
qualifications for our business.

Our business and prospects could be harmed if we lose members of our senior management team.

Our performance is substantially dependent on the continued services and on the performance of our senior management and other key
personnel, particularly David Alberga, our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, Matthew Landa, our President and Director,
Scott Mendel, our Chief Financial Officer and Darko Dejanovic, our Chief Technology, Product and Innovation Officer. Our performance also
depends on our ability to retain and motivate other officers and key employees. We do not have long-term employment agreements with the
members of our senior management or other key personnel. In addition, we do not maintain key-man insurance on these individuals. The loss of
the services of any member of our senior management or other key employee for any reason would harm our business.

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow and evolve, we could lose the innovation, creativity and teamwork that this
culture has fostered.

We believe that a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture, which we believe fosters innovation, creativity and
teamwork. Maintaining this corporate culture will become increasingly difficult as we grow and implement the more complex organizational
management structures necessary to support our growth and to comply with the requirements imposed on public companies. Failure to maintain
and further develop our culture could negatively impact our future success. In addition, our initial public offering may have created disparities in
wealth among our employees, which could adversely impact relations among employees and our corporate culture in general.

If the protection of our technology platform, domain name, trademarks and other proprietary rights is inadequate, our business would
be harmed.

Our commercial success is dependent in part on obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination
of trade secret, trademark, copyright, trade dress, domain name and patent laws in the United States and in the other jurisdictions in which we
operate, together with confidentiality agreements and technical measures, to protect our intellectual property. We pursue the registration of
our trademarks, service marks and domain names in the United States. Our registered trademarks in the United States include THE ACTIVE
NETWORK, ACTIVE, ACTIVE.COM, ACTIVENET, ACTIVEWORKS, REGONLINE, RESERVEAMERICA and STARCITE. As of
December 31, 2011, we have been granted five patents by the United States Patent and Trademark Office and have six patent applications
pending in the United States. Our issued patents begin to expire in February 2019. We rely more heavily on trade secret protection than patents
to protect our proprietary technology. To protect our trade secrets, we control access to our proprietary systems and technology and enter into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and confidentiality agreements with other third parties.
In addition, due to the relatively high cost associated with registering all of our copyrights, we generally rely on common-law copyright laws to
protect these rights.
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The steps we have taken and take in the future to protect our proprietary rights may be inadequate. For example, confidentiality agreements with
our employees, licenses, independent contractors and other advisors may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information and may
not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In addition, third parties may independently
discover trade secrets and proprietary information, and in such cases, we may not be able to successfully assert trade secret rights against such
parties. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights. If we are unable to
obtain, maintain and enforce intellectual property protection covering our technology platform, brands and domain names, others may be able to
make, use or sell products that are substantially similar to ours without incurring the sizeable development costs that we have incurred, which
would adversely affect our ability to compete.

In addition, the domain names for the websites that we maintain are important to our business. The regulation of domain names in the United
States and in foreign countries is unclear and subject to change. Governing bodies may establish additional top-level domains, appoint additional
domain name registrars or modify the requirements for holding domain names. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be able to acquire
or maintain relevant domain names. The relationship between regulations governing domain names and laws protecting trademarks and similar
proprietary rights is also unclear. As a result, we may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names that are similar to, infringe
upon or otherwise decrease the value of our domain names, and trademarks and other proprietary rights. Any such inability could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Intellectual property claims against us could be costly and could hurt our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.

We cannot predict whether third parties will assert claims of infringement or other intellectual property claims against us. If we are forced to
defend against third party claims, whether they are with or without merit or are determined in our favor, we could face expensive and time
consuming litigation, which could distract our technical and management personnel. In the past, we received a notice from a third party alleging
that our Internet fundraising program and related website operations infringe patents published by such third party. In the future, we may receive
other notices from, or have lawsuits filed against us by, third parties alleging infringement. If an infringement claim is determined against us, we
may be required, or deem it advisable, to develop non-infringing intellectual property or enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements. Such
royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may be unavailable on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If a third party successfully asserts
an infringement claim against us and we are required to pay monetary damages or royalties or we are unable to develop suitable non-infringing
alternatives or license the infringed or similar intellectual property on reasonable terms and on a timely basis, it could significantly harm our
business. In addition, third parties may seek to invalidate our intellectual property.

As a result of becoming a public company, we will be obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal controls over
financial reporting. We may not complete our analysis of our internal controls over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these
internal controls may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result,
the value of our common stock.

We will be required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (�Section 404�) to furnish a report by management on, among other
things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our first report on compliance with Section 404 is expected to be in
connection with our financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012. The controls and other procedures are designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC, is disclosed
accurately and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported with the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms. We are in the middle of
the costly and challenging process of compiling the system and processing documentation necessary to perform the evaluation needed to comply
with Section 404. Although as
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of December 31, 2011, we have no material weaknesses in our internal controls, we have undertaken significant measures to improve the
effectiveness of our internal controls in response to material weaknesses we have had in the past which have been remediated. These measures
include strengthening our internal staffing and technical expertise in financial accounting and SEC reporting and developing robust review
processes and procedures. We plan to continue to assess our internal controls and procedures and intend to take further action as necessary or
appropriate to address any other matters we or our independent auditors identify. We cannot assure you that there will not be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal controls in the future. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective, or if our auditors are unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls, we could lose investor
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Our reserves for state sales taxes may not be sufficient.

Certain states in which we operate impose sales, purchase and use taxes on transactions completed through our applications. At this time, many
of our systems do not automatically capture the sales, purchase and use taxes we are required to remit to these states.

As a result, we are required to analyze our transactions, and reserve an appropriate amount for the payment of state sales, purchase and use taxes.
We regularly review the procedures we use to calculate our sales tax obligations as well as our sales tax reserves, and make adjustments when
appropriate. Although we believe that our sales tax reserves are adequate, we may not be fully reserved and it is possible that we may be
obligated to pay amounts in excess of our reserves.

We may not be able to realize the tax benefits associated with the net operating losses we have recorded to date.

As of December 31, 2011, we had federal tax net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $146.6 million which will begin to expire
between 2019 and 2031 and state tax net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $105.6 million which begin to expire between 2012 and
2031. If we do not maintain sufficient profitability prior to the expiration of these net operating loss carry forwards, then we will not be able to
fully use such tax attributes to our benefit. Additional limitations on the annual use of these net operating loss carry forwards may also apply due
to subsequent issuances of our stock.

Covenants in our Credit Agreement may restrict our operations, and if we do not effectively manage our business to comply with these
covenants, our financial condition and liquidity could be adversely affected.

In December 2011, we entered into a Credit Agreement (the �Credit Agreement�) with Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing
Line Lender and L/C Issuer, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Book Manager, and the
lenders from time to time a party thereto. We must comply with various covenants under our Credit Agreement that limit our ability to, among
other things:

� incur or assume liens or additional debt or provide guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;

� pay cash dividends or distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock;

� prepay, redeem or repurchase debt;

� make loans and investments;

� enter into agreements that restrict distributions from our subsidiaries;

� sell assets and capital stock of our subsidiaries;
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� enter into certain transactions with affiliates; and

� consolidate or merge with or into, or sell substantially all of our assets to, another person.
In addition, under our Credit Agreement, we are required to maintain specified financial ratios. Our ability to meet these financial covenants can
be affected by events beyond our control, and we may be unable to meet these tests. In addition, our failure to maintain effective internal
controls to measure compliance with these financial covenants could affect our ability to take corrective actions on a timely basis, and could
result in us being in breach of this covenant. Our Credit Agreement provides that our breach or failure to satisfy certain covenants constitute an
event of default. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the lenders could elect to terminate any commitment under our Credit Agreement
and declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable. If we are unable to repay those amounts, our financial condition could
be adversely affected. In addition, termination of our Credit Agreement could also adversely impact our liquidity.

Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are subject to a risk of loss based upon the solvency of the financial institutions
in which they are maintained.

We maintain the majority of our cash and cash equivalents in accounts with major financial institutions within the United States, in the form of
demand deposits and money market accounts. Our deposits in these institutions may generally exceed the amounts of insurance provided, or
deposits may not at all be covered by insurance. If any of these institutions become insolvent, it could substantially harm our financial condition
and we may lose some, or all, of such deposits.

Changes in accounting standards and subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by management related to complex accounting
matters could significantly change our reported or expected financial results.

Generally accepted accounting principles and related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations with regard to a
wide range of matters that are relevant to our business, including but not limited to, revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts,
software development costs, stock-based compensation, business combinations, impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets,
and accounting for income taxes are highly complex and involve many subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by our management.
Changes in these rules or their interpretation or changes in underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments by our management could
significantly change our reported or expected financial performance.

We are currently in the process of transitioning certain of our customers who are using the legacy systems we inherited in our
acquisitions to ActiveWorks. Until we complete this transition, we may not be able to compare our key business metrics on a
period-to-period basis in a manner consistent with the rest of our business, and as a result, our ability to manage our business could be
adversely affected.

We manage our business based in part on key business metrics regarding the total number of customer organizations we serve and the total
number of registrations we process during a specific financial period. We are currently in the process of transitioning our customers who are
currently using the legacy systems we inherited in our acquisitions to ActiveWorks. Until we complete this transition, participants for certain
activities and events will continue registering through these legacy systems. Certain of these legacy systems do not track customers and
registrations in a manner consistent with the rest of our business. As a result, we need to use manual processes to accumulate these metrics,
which could lead to errors. If we are unable to accurately compare our key business metrics on a period-to-period basis, our ability to manage
our business could be adversely affected.

If the estimates and assumptions we use to determine the size of our target market, customer groups or the verticals within customer
groups are inaccurate, our future growth rate may be limited and our business would be harmed.
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We calculate the size of our target market, customers groups and verticals within customer groups, based on data published by third parties and
on assumptions that we have made based on that data. We have not independently verified any third-party information and cannot assure you of
its accuracy or completeness. While we believe our market size information is generally reliable, such information is inherently imprecise. In
addition, our projections, assumptions and estimates of future opportunities within our target market are necessarily subject to a high degree of
uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described in this risk factors section. If third-party data proves to be inaccurate or
we make errors in our assumptions based on that data, our future growth rate may be limited. In addition, these inaccuracies or errors may cause
us to misallocate capital and other business resources, which could harm our business. In the third quarter of 2011, we identified previously
unreported registration data during the first and second quarters of 2011. As a result, we underreported the number of registrations for these prior
periods. We identified that the underreporting resulted primarily from the prior lack of the reporting systems of two new state customers. The
underreporting had no impact on our prior financial statements, nor do we believe the underreporting had a material adverse effect on our
business.

Risks Relating To Ownership Of Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile.

The market price of our common stock may be subject to significant fluctuations. Factors that could affect our stock price include the following:

� fluctuations in our operating results or the operating results of our competitors;

� changes in estimates of our financial results or recommendations by securities analysts;

� changes in the estimates of the future size and growth rate of our markets;

� changes in accounting principles or changes in interpretations of existing principles, which could affect our financial results;

� conditions and trends in the markets we serve;

� changes in general economic, industry and market conditions;

� success of competitive applications and services;

� changes in market valuations or earnings of our competitors;

� changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors;

� announcements of significant new applications, contracts, acquisitions or strategic alliances by us or our competitors;

� changes in legislation or regulatory policies, practices or actions;
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� the commencement or outcome of litigation involving our company, our general industry or both;

� recruitment or departure of key personnel;

� changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of debt;

� actual or expected sales of our common stock by the holders of our common stock; and

� the trading volume of our common stock.
In addition, the U.S. and worldwide stock markets in general have experienced significant price and trading volume fluctuations, and the market
prices of technology and Internet companies have generally been extremely volatile and have experienced sharp share price and trading volume
changes. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.
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The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management�s attention and affect our ability to attract
and retain qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange and other applicable securities rules and
regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult,
time-consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file
annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things,
that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. In order to maintain and, if required,
improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and
management oversight may be required. As a result, management�s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm
our business and operating results. Although we have already hired additional employees to comply with these requirements, we may need to
hire more employees in the future, which will increase our costs and expenses.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for public
companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations and
standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding
compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest resources to
comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a
diversion of management�s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws,
regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to practice, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.

Any new rules and regulations may increase the cost for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept
reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and
retain qualified executive officers and members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our Board committees.

As a result of our public disclosure requirements, our business and financial condition has become more visible, which we believe may result in
threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, our business and operating results
could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary
to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and harm our business and operating results.

We do not expect to declare any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to invest our future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business. The payment of dividends will be
at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our results of operations, capital requirements, financial condition, future
prospects, restrictions imposed by applicable law, any limitations on payments of dividends present in any debt agreements we may enter into
and other factors our Board of Directors may deem relevant. Consequently, stockholders may need to rely on sales of their common stock after
price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment. Investors seeking cash dividends
should not purchase our common stock.

Our directors, executive officers and significant stockholders hold a substantial portion of our stock, which may lead to conflicts of
interest with other stockholders over corporate transactions and other corporate matters.
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As of December 31, 2011, our directors, executive officers and beneficial holders of 10% or more of our outstanding common stock beneficially
owned approximately 37% of our outstanding common stock, including restricted stock units awards vested and stock options exercisable within
60 days after December 31, 2011. We are not aware of any stockholder or voting agreements or understandings between or among our directors,
officers or current beneficial holders of 10% or more of our outstanding common stock except with respect to an agreement between Scott
Schultz, one of our directors, and the United States Tennis Association, pursuant to which the United States Tennis Association receives the
pecuniary benefit upon exercise of any options granted to Mr. Schultz. However, these stockholders, acting together, would be able to influence
significantly all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions such as mergers
or other business combinations. This control could delay, deter or prevent a third party from acquiring or merging with us, which could
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

A large number of shares eligible for public sale or subject to rights requiring us to register them for public sale could depress the
market price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of our common stock in the market in the
future, and the perception that these sales could occur may also depress the market price of our common stock. From time to time, we may raise
additional capital through issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, or issue additional equity for future acquisitions and may be required
to register these securities with the SEC. For example, we are currently in the process of registering shares of common stock which we issued as
consideration for our acquisition of StarCite. Beginning on the effective date of the registration statement, 1,050,000 shares of common stock
will be available for immediate resale in the open market. Sales of our common stock pursuant to registration rights could cause our stock price
to fall and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our common stock.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about
us, our business, our market or our competitors. If any of the analysts who may cover us change their recommendation regarding our stock
adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, our stock price would likely decline. If any analyst who
may cover us were to cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets,
which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Our future capital needs are uncertain, and we may need to raise additional funds in the future, which may not be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

Our capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

� acceptance of, and demand for, our applications;

� the costs of developing new applications or technology;

� the timing of transitioning our customers to ActiveWorks;

� the number and timing of acquisitions and other strategic transactions; and

� the costs associated with the growth of our business.
Our existing sources of cash and cash flows may not be sufficient to fund all of our activities. On December 30, 2011, we used approximately
$40 million of cash (including certain deductions and holdbacks) to fund our acquisition of StarCite. While we believe we have sufficient capital
available through our credit facility and ongoing revenue to conduct our plan of business for at least the next 12 months, we may need to raise
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additional funds following such time, and such funds may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all. Further, if we incur additional debt, it
may increase our leverage relative to our earnings or to our equity capitalization. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, we may not be
able to develop or enhance our applications, execute our business plan, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive
pressures or unanticipated customer requirements.

If we issue additional shares of common stock to raise capital or for future acquisition purposes, it may have a dilutive effect on your
investment.

If we raise additional capital through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, or issue additional equity for future acquisitions,
our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution in their percentage ownership of us. Moreover, any new equity securities we issue
could have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock.

A further tightening of the credit markets may have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain short-term debt financing.

The recent deterioration of the global economy threatens to cause further tightening of the credit markets, more stringent lending standards and
terms and higher volatility in interest rates. Persistence of these conditions could have a material adverse effect on our access to short-term debt
and the terms and cost of that debt. As a result, we may not be able to secure additional financing in a timely manner, or at all, to meet our future
capital needs which may have an adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us more difficult, limit
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current directors and management team and limit the market price of our
common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may delay or prevent a change in
control, discourage bids at a premium over the market price of our common stock and adversely affect the market price of our common stock
and the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock. These provisions include:

� dividing our board into three classes, with each class serving a staggered three-year term;

� prohibiting our stockholders from calling a special meeting of stockholders or acting by written consent;

� permitting our board to issue additional shares of our preferred stock, with such rights, preferences and privileges as they may
designate, including the right to approve an acquisition or other changes in control;

� establishing an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed
nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;

� providing that our directors may be removed only for cause;

� providing that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less than a
quorum; and

� requiring the approval of our board of directors or the holders of a supermajority of our outstanding shares of capital stock to amend
our bylaws and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation.

Although we believe these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to receive higher bids by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate
with our board, they would apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, these provisions may
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located at 10182 Telesis Court, Suite 100, San Diego, California. This leased facility is 101,446 square feet
and currently houses our headquarters. The lease for our San Diego facility expires on October 31, 2017. Our other material facilities are located
in Frostburg, Maryland; Burnaby, Canada; Nashville, Tennessee; Irving, Texas and Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. We undertake development,
sales and warehouse activities in these facilities. Our main web-hosting facilities are located in Las Vegas, Nevada, Ashburn, Virginia and
Toronto, Ontario. We believe that our facilities are in good operating condition and adequately serve our current business operations. We also
anticipate that suitable additional or alternative space, including those under lease options, will be available at commercially reasonable terms
for future expansion.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject to potential liabilities under government regulations and various claims and legal actions that are pending or may be asserted.
These matters arise in the ordinary course and conduct of our business, and, at times, as a result of our acquisitions. They include, for example,
commercial, intellectual property and employment matters. Some are expected to be covered, at least partly, by insurance. We intend to continue
to defend ourselves vigorously in such matters. We regularly assess contingencies to determine the degree of probability and range of possible
loss for potential accrual in our financial statements. An estimated loss contingency is accrued in our financial statements if it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Based on our assessment, we currently have accrued an
immaterial amount in our financial statements for contingent liabilities associated with these legal actions and claims. Litigation is inherently
unpredictable, and unfavorable resolutions could occur. As a result, assessing contingencies is highly subjective and requires judgment about
future events. The amount of ultimate loss may exceed our current accruals, and it is possible that our cash flows or results of operations could
be materially affected in any particular period by the unfavorable resolution of one or more of these contingencies.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT�S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCAHSES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock has been listed on the NYSE under the symbol �ACTV� since May 25, 2011. Prior to that date, there was no public trading
market for our common stock. Our initial public offering (�IPO�) was priced at $15.00 per share on May 24, 2011. The following table sets forth
for the periods indicated the high and low prices per share of our common stock as reported on the NYSE:

2011
Quarter Low High
Second Quarter (beginning May 25, 2011) $ 14.75 $ 19.89
Third Quarter $ 13.02 $ 19.99
Fourth Quarter $ 12.30 $ 16.38

Registered Shareholders

On March 7, 2012, the closing sales price of our common stock on the NYSE was $15.87 and there were approximately 341 registered holders
of record as of that date. This approximate number excludes an indeterminable number of stockholders whose shares are held in street or
�nominee� name.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on shares of our common stock. We currently intend to retain our earnings, if any, and cash
to fund working capital and for general corporate purposes and, therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in
the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon
our financial condition, results of operations and capital requirements.

Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock between May 25, 2011 (the date of our IPO)
and December 31, 2011, with the cumulative total return of the (i) the NASDAQ Composite Index and (ii) the NASDAQ-100 Technology
Sector Index. This graph assumes the investment of $100 on May 25, 2011 in our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index and the
NASDAQ-100 Technology Sector Index, and assumes the reinvestment of dividends. No cash dividends have been declared or paid on our
common stock. The comparisons in the graph below are required by the SEC and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible future
performance of our common stock.

The following graph and related information shall not be deemed �soliciting material� or be deemed to be �filed� with the SEC, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such
filing.
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May 25,
2011

May 31,
2011

June 30,
2011

July 31,
2011

August 31,
2011

September 31,
2011

October 31,
2011

November 30,
2011

December 31,
2011

Active Network Inc. 100.00 115.41 110.69 114.15 101.76 92.77 84.53 79.75 85.53
NASDAQ Composite 100.00 98.59 96.48 95.77 89.60 83.84 93.15 91.11 90.71
NASDAQ 100 Technology
Sector 100.00 97.87 94.90 97.90 92.66 89.58 100.18 97.63 96.84
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On December 30, 2011, pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Active, Active Acquisition Corporation, a Delaware
corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiary (�Merger Sub�), StarCite, Inc., a Delaware corporation (�StarCite�), and Internet Capital Group
Operations, Inc., a Delaware corporation, in its capacity as the securityholders� agent, (the �Merger Agreement), Merger Sub merged with and into
StarCite, with StarCite continuing as the surviving entity and our wholly-owned subsidiary (the �Merger�). In connection with the Merger, the
holders of all outstanding shares of StarCite preferred stock, StarCite common stock and warrants to purchase shares of StarCite preferred stock
and common stock (collectively, the �StarCite Security Holders�) received an aggregate of $40.0 million in cash, including an aggregate of
approximately $6.6 million used for outstanding debt and transaction expenses of StarCite, and 1,350,000 shares of our common stock, which
includes 300,000 shares of common stock placed into an escrow fund to satisfy any indemnification claims made by us pursuant to the terms of
our merger agreement with StarCite. The merger consideration is subject to adjustment based on a final determination of working capital and is
subject to certain limited holdbacks. The shares of common stock were issued pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.

In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, we agreed to file with the SEC a registration statement with respect to the resale by
the holders thereof of shares of our common stock issued or issuable by us as consideration in the Merger. In the event that shares of our
common stock do not close trading at or above $15.00 per share on the New York Stock Exchange for at least three consecutive days at any time
during the sixty day period following effectiveness of the registration statement, we agreed to issue an additional 150,000 shares of our common
stock to the StarCite securityholders.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

Our initial public offering of common stock was effected through a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-172254) that was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 24, 2011, which registered an aggregate of 12,650,000 shares of our common
stock, including 1,650,000 shares that the underwriters had the option to purchase. On May 31, 2011, 8,222,222 shares of common stock were
sold on our behalf and 4,427,778 shares of common stock were sold on behalf of the selling stockholders, including 1,650,000 shares sold by the
selling stockholders upon exercise in full of the underwriters� option to purchase

34

Edgar Filing: ACTIVE NETWORK INC - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 49



Table of Contents

additional shares, at an initial public offering price of $15.00 per share, for an aggregate gross offering price of $123,333,330 to us, and
$66,416,670 to the selling stockholders. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. served as the managing
underwriters of the initial public offering. Following the sale of the shares in connection with the closing of the initial public offering, the
offering terminated.

As a result of the offering, we received net proceeds of approximately $112.6 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions
of approximately $8.6 million and additional offering-related expenses, net of reimbursements, of approximately $2.1 million. We did not
receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling shareholders. No offering expenses were paid directly or indirectly to (i) any of our
officers or directors or their associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, or (iii) any of our affiliates.

There was no material change in the use of proceeds from our initial public offering as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC
pursuant to Rule 424(b). From the effective date of the registration statement through December 31, 2011, we have used the net proceeds of the
offering for repayment of debt, funding for our recent acquisitions and for general corporate purposes, including expenditures for financing our
growth, developing additional application services functionality and features, acquiring new customers and funding capital expenditures. We
invested the funds received in short-term, interest bearing, investment-grade securities.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data below have been derived from our audited financial statements. The following table should be read in
conjunction with �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation� and our Consolidated Financial
Statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The historical results presented below are not indicative
of any future results.

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(In thousands, except per share data)
Net revenue:
Technology revenue $ 290,488 $ 237,688 $ 210,483 $ 145,789 $ 78,542
Marketing services revenue 46,910 41,912 32,401 27,407 23,335

Total net revenue 337,390 279,600 242,884 173,196 101,877
Cost of net revenue 150,914 121,351 107,188 79,681 41,081

Gross profit 186,476 158,249 135,696 93,515 60,796
Total operating expenses 203,092 178,764 167,269 137,421 83,822

Loss from operations (16,616) (20,515) (31,573) (43,906) (23,026)
Interest income (expense), net (2,771) (5,288) (5,043) (3,296) 630
Other income (expense), net (14) 455 (1,196) (268) 234

Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes (19,401) (25,348) (35,420) (47,470) (22,162)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (4,074) 1,924 2,439 1,506 2,606

Net loss (15,327) (27,272) (37,859) (48,976) (24,768) 
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock (11,810) (28,157) (25,774) (15,639) (8,532)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (27,137) $ (55,429) $ (63,633) $ (64,615) $ (33,300)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted $ (0.75) $ (7.83) $ (10.86) $ (11.68) $ (8.12)

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share
attributable to common stockholders(1):
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Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
Other Financial and Operational Data:
Adjusted EBITDA(2) $ 36,036 $ 25,120 $ 15,746 $ (2,672) $ (1,965) 
Organizations 51.3 47.3 44.9 41.5 35.1
Registrations 80,274 70,182 65,461 25,074 12,920

(1) Effective May 25, 2011, all shares of convertible preferred stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted into
8,807,090 and 25,824,801 shares of common stock, respectively, in connection with our IPO. Upon completion of our initial public
offering (�IPO�) in May 2011, we amended and restated our certificate of incorporation to authorize 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock.

(2) We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss, plus: provision (benefit) for income taxes, other income (expense), net, depreciation and
amortization, and stock-based compensation. Please see �Adjusted EBITDA� below for more information and for a reconciliation of
Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, or GAAP.

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,699 $ 31,441 $ 26,381 $ 33,395 $ 28,166
Restricted cash 1,502 5,000 5,000 5,000 �  
Property and equipment, net 33,830 28,181 26,742 20,093 8,208
Software development costs, net 45,093 37,013 27,003 14,890 5,092
Working deficit (43,365) (57,985) (38,676) (17,376) (2,683) 
Total assets 599,227 390,548 381,871 325,936 241,041
Total long-term debt 5,000 44,403 48,727 54,045 40,857
Convertible preferred stock �  21,187 21,187 21,187 21,187
Redeemable convertible preferred stock �  371,126 343,021 269,534 161,603
Total stockholders� equity (deficit) 346,639 (185,981) (141,343) (96,622) (16,427) 
Adjusted EBITDA

To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we have disclosed in the table above and within this Annual
Report on Form 10-K Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure. We have provided a reconciliation below of Adjusted EBITDA to net
loss, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.

We have included Adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Report on Form 10-K because we seek to manage our business to an improving level of
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue, and it is a key basis upon which we assess the performance of our operations and management.
We also use Adjusted EBITDA for business planning, evaluation of acquisition opportunities and as a measurement to incentivize and
compensate our management. In particular, the exclusion of certain expenses in calculating Adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for
period-to-period comparisons.

Our use of Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of
our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

� Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures for capital equipment, internally developed software costs or certain other
contractual commitments;
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� although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may need to be replaced in
the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements;

� Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

� Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the potentially dilutive impact of equity-based compensation to our management team or
employees;

� Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; and

� other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently, which reduces its usefulness as a
comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures, including various cash
flow metrics, net loss and our other GAAP financial results.

The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Loss:
Net loss $ (15,327) $ (27,272) $ (37,859) $ (48,976) $ (24,768) 
Interest expense (income), net 2,771 5,288 5,043 3,296 (630) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (4,074) 1,924 2,439 1,506 2,606
Depreciation and amortization 44,857 40,287 36,079 26,697 13,088
Stock-based compensation 7,795 5,348 11,240 14,537 7,973
Other expense (income), net 14 (455) (1,196) 268 (234) 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 36,036 $ 25,120 $ 15,746 $ (2,672) $ (1,965) 

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following in conjunction with the �Selected Financial Data� and our consolidated financial statements and the related
notes thereto that appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical information, the following discussion and
analysis includes forward looking information that involves risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Actual results and the timing of events could
differ materially from those anticipated by these forward looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed under �Risk
Factors� elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Overview

We are the leading provider of organization-based cloud computing applications serving a wide range of customer groups including business
solutions, community activities, outdoors and sports. We provide applications that form an online network connecting a fragmented and diverse
group of activity and event organizers with a large base of potential participants. Our proprietary technology platform transforms the way
organizers manage their activities and events by automating online registrations and streamlining other critical management functions, while also
driving consumer participation to their events.

We power a broad range of activities, such as reserving a campsite or tee time, signing up for a marathon or sports league, purchasing a fishing
or hunting license, or participating in a community event or corporate
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conference. From the introduction of our platform in 1999, we have experienced significant growth and in 2011, we had over 51,300 customer
organizations that drove over 80 million annual consumer registrations. Based on the results of a 2010 online survey we commissioned through
Survey.com, we believe the organizations we target produce or organize activities and events for the majority of U.S. households. Our
proprietary technology platform, ActiveWorks, provides cloud computing applications that reduce the cost and complexity of managing,
organizing and promoting these activities and events.

Our business benefits from a powerful network effect. As more organizations use our platform, we increase the breadth and depth of activities
and events offered through our platform. This more comprehensive offering of activities attracts more participants. As we attract more
participants, we are able to drive increased demand for our customers� activities, thus increasing registrations and revenue for both organizers and
us. This revenue growth enables us to develop enhanced functionality and services through ActiveWorks and our websites, further increasing
participant engagement and attracting new organizers. In this way, we build increasing value for both organizations and participants.

We serve a wide range of customers including community and sports organizations, large corporations, small and medium-sized businesses,
educational institutions, federal and state government agencies, non-profit organizations and other similar entities. We primarily generate
revenue from technology fees paid by participants who register for our customers� activities through our cloud computing applications. During
the year ended December 31, 2011, we generated revenue of $337.4 million, as compared to $279.6 million in the year ended December 31,
2010 and $242.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of 21% and 15%, respectively.

A large number of our customers are currently being served by our ActiveWorks architecture at varying levels of integration. We are in the
process of transitioning to ActiveWorks certain customers who continue to use both our internally developed systems and acquired legacy
systems. In addition, as part of our growth strategy, we expect to continue to make acquisitions and, thereby, acquire additional legacy systems.
We will evaluate these systems to determine, based on their sophistication and compatibility, whether to integrate them into ActiveWorks or to
migrate the customers using these systems to ActiveWorks. This process is time consuming and requires the investment of significant technical
and human resources. During this process, we expect to continue to incur costs associated with maintaining multiple legacy systems.

In addition, our long-term strategic plan involves expanding our applications into new business areas within the activity and event registration
and management market. A lack of market acceptance of such efforts or our inability to generate satisfactory revenue to offset the development
costs could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and future growth prospects. As we establish and expand our operational
capabilities internationally, we will incur additional operating expenses and capital-related costs.

In May 2011, we completed an initial public offering (�IPO�) of our common stock in which we sold and issued 12,650,000 shares of common
stock, of which 4,427,778 were sold by selling stockholders, at an issue price of $15.00 per share, resulting in proceeds, net of underwriting
discounts and offering expenses, of approximately $112.6 million to us.

Business Model

Technology Revenue. Our technology revenue was 86% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011. Our technology fee is a
percentage of the total registration amount that is paid by a participant at the time of sign up. We refer to the sum of these technology fees during
a given period as net registration revenue, since they are the direct result of participant registrations. Net registration revenue was 79% of our
technology revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011. During the year ended December 31, 2011, we processed over 80 million consumer
registrations. Participants typically use a credit card to register for an activity either online or offline, and in the case of some of our large
contracts, by using a call center. Upon
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registration, the consumer is charged for the total event registration fee, including the technology fee, and the funds are remitted to bank
accounts that we control. We record revenue for our technology fee and we remit the remaining funds to the organizer. The organizer has the
option of absorbing our technology fee and presenting a total event registration fee to the participant, or adding the technology fee as a separate
line item in the event registration fee. Pricing for our cloud offerings is based on a portion of the total dollars processed for a registration and
typically has a fixed and variable component. A number of our offerings also include a fee for setup, support or hosting. Our technology
platform serves the entire spectrum of organizations, from large to small. Our standard contract for our registration customers is three years.

Licensed software, maintenance, hosting and implementation revenue was 21% of our technology revenue for the year ended December 31,
2011. In previous acquisitions, we acquired licensed software products which includes licensed software, maintenance and services. As the
market has become more receptive, we have begun transitioning these customers to our solutions. We anticipate that our licensed software,
maintenance and services revenue will continue to decline as a percentage of our overall business. In the future, we anticipate sales in our
technology segment will be primarily driven by technology fees from our cloud offerings.

Marketing Services Revenue. Our marketing services revenue was 14% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011. The
marketing services segment works to provide the organizations within our technology segment and their participants with marketing solutions,
online communities, membership programs and hosted websites. We group these sales as online services, field marketing and commerce. Online
services include online advertising, email marketing and targeted newsletter promotions. We provide field marketing services including event
promotions and sponsorships. Our commerce revenue consists of membership programs, training programs and websites. Contracts within our
marketing services segment vary in length but are generally less than one year. We obtain customers through direct sales, inside sales and
self-setup.

Research and Development Expense. Our research and development expenses are primarily the costs for employees engaged in the development
and ongoing maintenance of our offerings and services. Primarily as a result of our acquisitions, we currently maintain numerous solutions that
allow us to service customers of various types and sizes. In 2007, we began to develop ActiveWorks while continuing to maintain our existing
products. As a result, we have incurred an increase in our research and development expense as well as capitalized software. We review
spending on our research and development projects monthly and group the expenses in categories attributable to surviving products, end-of-life
products and capitalized software. We expect that as development work is completed on our surviving products we will see a reduction in the
research and development expenses attributable to our end-of-life products as well as the related spending associated with capitalized software
for new products. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we capitalized $18.7 million of software development.

Key Factors that Affect Our Business

Macroeconomic Environment. We experienced a slowdown in our business starting in the second half of 2008 due to the global economic
downturn. We believe the decline in business and consumer spending coupled with government budget cuts drove a reduction in our growth rate.
We reacted to this slowdown in early 2009 by reducing our sales headcount which affected our customer acquisition growth rate. In 2011, we
returned to strong customer acquisition growth rates which we experienced prior to the economic downturn.

Acquisitions. As a part of our ongoing growth strategy, we have completed a number of acquisitions in recent years. Our growth has been
significantly affected by these acquisitions. In general, we pursue acquisitions for several reasons, such as acquiring a key technology or feature
set, gaining access to a new customer group or acquiring domain expertise.

In February 2011, we acquired Fellowship Technologies, Inc. (�Fellowship�), a provider of web based software to religious institutions. The
acquisition enables us to strengthen our position as a technology leader and
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broaden our customer base in the faith space. The purchase consideration was approximately 1,125,000 shares of our common stock valued at
approximately $8.9 million.

In October 2011, we acquired ServiceU, a provider of web-based solutions for giving, event registration, ticketing, calendaring and resource
management in exchange for $11.1 million in cash. The acquisition enables us to strengthen our position as a technology leader and broaden our
customer base in the faith space.

In November 2011, we acquired RTP, LLC, a provider of integrated resort software and solutions in exchange for $21.5 million in cash. The
acquisition enables us to broaden our existing product capabilities and our customer base in the resorts space.

In December 2011, we acquired StarCite, Inc., a provider of a technology platform that delivers content and services for meetings and event
planning to corporations, hotels, venues and meetings suppliers for consideration of $56.5 million in cash and shares of our common stock. Total
consideration comprised $38.1 million in cash, 1,350,000 shares of common stock with a fair value of approximately $18.4 million and 150,000
shares of contingently issuable common stock with a fair value of approximately $1.1 million to be issued in the event that shares of our
common stock do not close trading at or above $15.00 per share on the New York Stock Exchange for at least three consecutive days at any time
during the sixty day period following the effective date of a registration statement filed to register the shares issued or issuable, as consideration
in the merger. The acquisition enables us to provide an integrated solution for the events space and broaden its customer base.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we acquired operations from two other businesses including a provider of web-based church
management solutions and a provider of online registration for endurance events, in exchange for $4.6 million in cash. These acquisitions enable
us to strengthen our position as a technology leader and broaden our customer base in the faith and endurance spaces.

Seasonality. Our total revenue experiences seasonality with the three months ended June 30 and the three months ended September 30 having
the highest revenue. This seasonality is mainly due to trends in net registration revenue, as many of our larger customers experience peak
business activity during the warmer months of the year.

Key Business Metrics

Net Registration Revenue. We calculate our net registration revenue by summing the technology fees generated by our registrations in a given
period.

Registrations. We define a registration as when a participant registers one or more people for an event being held by an organization who is
using our technology to register that participant. We determine that a registration has taken place when a participant registers one or more people
for an activity or an event being held by one of our customers.

Year Ended December 31,
%

Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(In thousands, except per registration data)

Net registration revenue $ 228,453 $ 197,575 $ 174,015 16% 14% 
Registrations 80,274 70,182 65,461 14% 7% 
Net registration revenue per registration $ 2.85 $ 2.82 $ 2.66 1% 6% 
Net Registration Revenue and Registrations

2010 compared to 2011. Registrations increased 10.1 million or 14%. The growth was due to additional registrations from new large state
customers in our outdoors customer group and growth from sales to new
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organizations mainly in our communities and business solutions customer groups. The average revenue per registration increased 1%, mainly as
a result of the registrations growth in our outdoors, communities and business solutions customer groups.

2009 compared to 2010. Registrations increased 4.7 million or 7%, which was primarily driven from sales to new organizations. The average
revenue per registration increased 6% to $2.82, predominantly as post-recession recovery in the business solutions customer group led to higher
registration revenue.

Basis of Presentation

General

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The Active Network, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
balances have been eliminated.

Acquisitions that have been accounted for as purchase transactions are included in the consolidated results from their date of purchase.

Revenue

We report our revenue in two segments:

� Technology

� Marketing services
The technology revenue segment is primarily composed of net registration revenue, which is made up of the technology fee we charge a
participant when they register for one of our organization�s events. The technology fee is recognized as revenue net of the organization
registration fee which is collected on behalf of our customer and then remitted back to the organization typically on a two week basis. Net
registration revenue is recognized when services are provided, net of estimated rebates and other chargebacks. Technology revenue also includes
software licensing, installation, training, maintenance and hosting subscriptions.

The marketing services revenue segment includes online services, field marketing services and membership programs. Registrations lead
participants to our network of websites and create opportunities for us to sell our online commerce and other marketing services to participants.
Our network of websites enables like-minded consumers to engage in our online communities.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Revenue. Our cost of revenue consists of credit card processing fees for registrations, payroll and related costs including allocated
facilities costs, stock-based compensation for employees associated with registration, subscription or software implementation, customer support
and onsite event support including travel costs. Costs also include expenses related to our call center operations, amortization of capitalized
software development costs and certain acquired intangibles including acquired technology, customer supply costs, inventory costs and internet
hosting costs.

Sales and Marketing. Our sales and marketing costs are primarily salaries, benefits, incentive compensation, stock-based compensation and
allocated facilities costs for our sales and marketing employees. Costs also include expenses for travel, trade shows and other promotional and
marketing activities including direct and online marketing.

Research and Development. Our research and development costs are primarily salaries, benefits, incentive compensation, stock-based
compensation and allocated facilities costs for employees and contractors engaged in the development and ongoing maintenance of our products
and services.
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General and Administrative. Our general and administrative costs are primarily salaries, benefits, incentive compensation, stock-based
compensation and allocated facilities costs for employees engaged in support activities including executive, finance, accounting, human
resources, legal and internal information technology support. Also included are professional fees and contractor costs for legal and accounting
services. Software expenses and travel costs for support employees, taxes, fees and licenses are also included.

Amortization of Intangibles. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using a combination of straight-line and accelerated methods based
on the expected cash flows from the asset over their estimated useful lives. This includes assets recorded in conjunction with certain
acquisitions.

Other Income (Expense), Net. Other income (expense), net consists primarily of the interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents,
interest paid on our debt, foreign exchange gains and losses and other one-time gains and losses.

Provision (benefit) for Income Taxes. Provision for income taxes consists of federal and state income taxes in the United States and income taxes
in certain foreign jurisdictions.

Adjusted EBITDA

To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we have disclosed within this Annual Report on Form 10-K
adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure. We have provided a reconciliation below of adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure.

We have included adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Report on Form 10-K because it is a key measure used by our management and board of
directors to understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget and to develop short-
and long-term operational plans. In particular, the exclusion of certain expenses in calculating adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure
for period-to-period comparisons of our core business. Additionally, adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure used by the compensation
committee of our board of directors in connection with the payment of bonuses to our executive officers. Accordingly, we believe that adjusted
EBITDA provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our
management and board of directors.

For additional information on the limitations of adjusted EBITDA, see �Adjusted EBITDA� in Item 6 �Selected Financial Data� for more
information.

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(In thousands)
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to Net Loss:
Net loss $ (15,327) $ (27,272) $ (37,859) $ (48,976) $ (24,768) 
Interest expense (income), net 2,771 5,288 5,043 3,296 (630) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (4,074) 1,924 2,439 1,506 2,606
Depreciation and amortization 44,857 40,287 36,079 26,697 13,088
Stock-based compensation 7,795 5,348 11,240 14,537 7,973
Other expense (income), net 14 (455) (1,196) 268 (234) 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 36,036 $ 25,120 $ 15,746 $ (2,672) $ (1,965) 

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and
judgments that can have a significant
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impact on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of our financial statements. We base our estimates, assumptions and judgments on historical experience and various other factors that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. On a
regular basis we evaluate our estimates, assumptions and judgments and make changes accordingly. We also discuss our critical accounting
estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. We believe that the estimates, assumptions and judgments involved in revenue
recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, returns and discounts, software development costs, stock-based compensation, business
combinations, impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets, and accounting for income taxes have the greatest potential
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements, so we consider these to be our critical accounting policies.

We discuss below the critical accounting estimates associated with these policies. Historically, our estimates, assumptions and judgments
relative to our critical accounting policies have not differed materially from actual results. For further information on our significant accounting
policies, see Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize technology revenue primarily from registration fees and related hosting and implementation services. We also record revenue for
marketing services. We recognize revenue when a signed contract or other persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the services have been
rendered, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is probable. Our arrangements do not contain general rights
of return.

We assess whether the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is probable at the time of the transaction. In determining whether the fee is
fixed or determinable, we compare the payment terms of the transaction to our standard payment terms and whether payment is free of
contingencies or significant uncertainties. If a significant portion of the fee is considered to have extended payment terms or the fee is subject to
adjustment, we account for the fee as not being fixed or determinable and recognize revenue as the payments become due. We assess whether
collection is probable based on a number of factors, including the customer�s past transaction history and credit-worthiness. We do not request
collateral from our customers. If we determine that collection of a fee is not probable, we defer the fee and recognize revenue at the time
collection becomes probable, which is generally upon receipt of cash.

Registration revenue is recognized when received, net of registration fees paid to event organizers, where we are acting as an agent of event
organizers. Net registration revenue comprised 67%, 71% and 72% of total net revenue for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. In certain circumstances, we pre-purchase registrations from event organizers and bear the risk and rewards of ownership.
Registration revenue associated with these transactions is recognized on a gross basis, as we are the primary obligor and bear inventory and
credit risk. Cash collected in advance of the event is recorded as deferred revenue until the event occurs. Revenue recognized on a gross basis
comprised 0.7%, 0% and 0% for each of the three years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

On January 1, 2011, we adopted the new accounting standard for multiple deliverable revenue arrangements which provides guidance on
whether multiple deliverables exist, how the deliverables in an arrangement should be separated, and how the consideration should be allocated.
This guidance requires an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using the �best estimate of selling price� (�BESP�) of deliverables if it does
not have vendor-specific objective evidence (�VSOE�) of selling price based on historical stand-alone sales or third-party evidence (�TPE�) of
selling price. Due to the unique nature of some of our multiple deliverable revenue arrangements, we may not be able to establish selling prices
based on historical stand-alone sales using VSOE or TPE, therefore, we may use our best estimate to establish selling prices for these
arrangements under the new accounting standard. We establish our best estimates within a range of selling prices considering multiple factors
including, but not limited to, factors such as customer base, size of transaction, available media inventory,
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pricing strategies and market conditions. We believe the use of the BESP allows revenue recognition in a manner consistent with the underlying
economics of the transaction. The adoption of this amended standard did not have a significant impact on our revenue recognition for multiple
deliverable revenue arrangements.

Many customers who use our hosting services or license our software also enter into separate professional services and training arrangements
with us. In addition, certain of our hosting agreements include up-front payments for implementation of hosting services. In determining whether
professional services and implementation revenue should be accounted for separately, we evaluate (among other factors): the nature of the
deliverables; whether they are ready for their intended use by the customer upon receipt; the nature of the implementation services; the
availability of services from other vendors; whether the timing of payments for license revenue is coincident with performance of services and
whether milestones or acceptance criteria exist that affect the realizability of the hosting or software license fee. For up-front fees and other
revenue received for implementation services associated with hosting arrangements, we defer the related revenue and record revenue over the
term of the hosting contract since the implementation and hosting do not have stand-alone value. For license and professional services that
qualify for separate accounting, such as arrangements that involve off-the-shelf software, the services do not include significant alterations to the
features and functionality of the software, the services are primarily comprised of implementation services and fair value exists for the
undelivered elements, software revenue is generally recognized when the software is delivered and service revenue is recognized when the
services are performed.

For license and professional service arrangements that do not qualify for separate accounting, such as arrangements that involve significant
modification or customization of the software, arrangements that include milestones or customer specific acceptance criteria, or where payment
for the software license is tied to the performance of professional services, software license revenue is generally recognized together with the
professional services revenue when services have been rendered. A majority of such arrangements are recognized together with the professional
services. Penalties from customers related to power outages or other technical disruptions are recognized in the period in which such amounts
are incurred based on the Company�s estimated liability and are recorded as a reduction of revenue or an increase to cost of revenue. If the total
estimated costs to complete a project exceed the total contract amount, indicating a loss, the entire anticipated loss is recognized currently.

Maintenance revenue consists of fees for providing software updates on a when-and-if available basis and technical support to software products
(�post contract customer support� or �PCS�). Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the terms of the agreement.

Marketing services revenue consists of online and integrated field marketing campaigns and membership programs. Our online marketing
services include online advertising, e-mail marketing and targeted newsletter promotions. Banner, button and e-mail advertisements are
impression-based, with the revenue based on the number of times the advertisement is displayed or delivered over the contract period.
Impression-based contract revenue is primarily recognized as the impression is displayed on our web site or delivered by e-mail to the intended
addressee. Our field marketing services include event promotions, sponsorships and sample placements and are defined contractually with
individual customers. Field marketing revenue is recognized over the term of the contract or when revenue is earned based on the performance
of services associated with a series of events. Revenue from membership programs is recognized over the term of the membership period.

Significant management judgments and estimates must be made in connection with determination of the revenue to be recognized in any
accounting period. If we make different judgments or utilize different estimates for any period, material differences in the amount and timing of
revenue recognized could result.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our allowance for doubtful accounts is based on our review of credit profiles of our customers, contractual terms and conditions, current
economic trends and historical payment. We reassess the allowances for
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doubtful accounts on a monthly basis. Historically, our actual losses and credits have been consistent with these provisions. However,
unexpected events or significant future changes in trends could result in a material impact to our future statements of operations and of cash
flows. If we made different judgments or utilized different estimates for any period, material differences in the amount and timing of revenue or
bad debt expense recognized could result. Our allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of net revenue was 0.5% and 0.8% in fiscal years
2011 and 2010.

Software Development Costs

We capitalize costs related to software acquired, developed or modified solely to meet our internal use, with no substantive plans to market such
software at the time of development, in accordance with authoritative guidance for internal-use software. Such costs are capitalized during the
application development stage once preliminary planning activities have been successfully completed and management approves continuation of
the project. We amortize these costs on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset, generally over two to five years.
Costs incurred prior to meeting these criteria together with costs incurred for training and maintenance are expensed as incurred and recorded as
research and development on our consolidated statements of operations. Costs incurred for enhancements that are expected to result in additional
features or functionality are capitalized and expensed over the estimated useful lives of the enhancements.

Business Combinations

We determine the estimated fair value of acquired companies� tangible and intangible assets, liabilities assumed and in-process research and
development at the acquisition date. The process of determining fair value requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions,
especially at the acquisition date with respect to intangible assets, support obligations assumed, estimated restructuring liabilities and
pre-acquisition contingencies.

Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have made in the past have been reasonable and appropriate, they are based in part on
historical experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain. The estimation of
fair value requires us to use significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates, as of the business combination date including:

� estimated fair values of intangible assets acquired from the acquiree;

� estimated fair values of software license updates and product support obligations assumed from the acquiree;

� estimated income tax assets and liabilities assumed from the acquiree;

� estimated value of restructuring liabilities to reorganize the acquiree�s pre-acquisition operations;

� estimated fair values of stock awards assumed from the acquiree that are included in the purchase price; and

� estimated fair value of pre-acquisition contingencies assumed from the acquiree.
Impairment of Goodwill, Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Our goodwill and intangible assets result from our corporate acquisition transactions. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are not amortized, but are instead tested for impairment at least annually or as circumstances indicate their value may no longer be recoverable.
We do not carry any intangible assets with indefinite useful lives other than goodwill. We evaluate our recorded goodwill balances for potential
impairment annually by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value, including recorded goodwill. Our annual testing
date is October 1. Goodwill impairment testing is a two-step process. For the first step, we screen for impairment, and if any possible
impairment exists, we undertake a second step of measuring
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such impairment by performing discounted cash flow analyses. These analyses are based on cash flow assumptions that are consistent with the
plans and estimates being used to manage our business. In the first step, we compare the carrying amount of our reporting units to the �fair value�
of the reporting units. An excess carrying value over fair value would indicate that goodwill may be impaired. If we determined that goodwill
may be impaired, then we would complete the second step of the test and compare the �implied fair value� of the goodwill to the carrying amount
of goodwill. We periodically re-evaluate our business and have determined that we continue to operate in two segments, which we consider our
reporting units. If our assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges to reduce the carrying value of our
goodwill. Changes in the valuation of goodwill could materially impact our operating results and financial position.

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets including amortizable intangible and tangible assets in accordance with authoritative
guidance. When events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, we recognize
such impairment in the event the net book value of such assets exceeds the future undiscounted cash flows attributable to such assets. Our
acquired intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized using a combination of straight-line and accelerated methods based on the
expected cash flows from the assets, and periodically tested for impairment.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $243.3 million of goodwill, $33.8 million of net property and equipment and $90.3 million of acquired net
intangible assets. If our estimates or the related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges to reduce the
carrying value of these assets. Changes in the valuation of long-lived assets could materially impact our operating results and financial position.

The results of step one of the Company�s annual goodwill impairment test for October 1, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

October 1, 2011

Technology
Media &

Marketing
Fair value of invested capital $ 601,000 $ 155,000
Carrying value of invested capital 335,790 23,797

Excess of fair value over carrying value $ 265,210 $ 131,203

We have not recorded any impairment losses in each of the three years ended December 31, 2011.

Income Taxes

We recognize tax benefits for tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained based solely upon the technical merits positions as of the
as of the reporting date. We then measure the benefit to be recognized using a cumulative probability approach and recognize the largest amount
of benefit that is more likely than not to be sustained. We consider many factors when evaluating and estimating our tax positions and tax
benefits, which may require periodic adjustments and which may not accurately anticipate actual outcomes.

As part of the process of preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves us estimating our current tax exposure under the most recent tax laws. It also involves
us making estimates and judgments in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabilities, which arise from differences in the timing of
recognition of revenue and expense for tax and financial statement purposes. These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and
liabilities, which are included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets and the need for a valuation allowance. We consider all available
evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income,
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expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income, and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. We will
increase our provision for income tax by creating a valuation allowance if we are not able to determine that recovery of our deferred tax assets is
more likely than not. Based on the available evidence as of December 31, 2011, we were not able to conclude that realization of our domestic
deferred tax assets is more likely than not and we recorded a valuation allowance of $73.8 million.

We conduct business globally, and as a result, are subject to taxation in the United States and various state jurisdictions and foreign jurisdictions.
In the normal course of business, we are subject to examination by taxing authorities in many of the jurisdictions in which the Company
operates. Effectively, all of our historical tax filings are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and various state and foreign
jurisdictions due to the generation of net operating loss carryforwards.

Certain of our subsidiaries are currently under tax audit. It is possible that within the next twelve months, ongoing tax examinations in the U.S
and in foreign jurisdictions may be resolved, that new tax exams may commence and that other issues may be effectively settled. However, we
are unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate as to when or if cash settlements with taxing authorities may occur. Although audit outcomes
and the timing of audit payments are subject to uncertainty, we do not anticipate that the resolution of these tax matters or any events related
thereto will result in a material adverse change to our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. Prior to our IPO, the board of
directors determined the value of the underlying stock by considering a number of factors, including historical and projected financial results, the
risks we faced at the time, the preferences of our preferred stock and the lack of liquidity of our common stock. After the IPO, the fair value of
common stock was determined using the quoted closing market price of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant.

Under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the �ESPP�), eligible officers and employees may purchase a limited amount of common stock at a
discount to the market price in accordance with the terms of the plan as described in Note 16 of our consolidated financial statements.

We may also grant restricted stock awards that contain certain performance conditions. We recognize compensation cost for awards with
performance conditions when the performance conditions have been determined and based upon the probability of that performance condition
being met, net of an estimate for pre-vesting forfeitures.

We utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the most appropriate method for determining the estimated fair value of our share-based
awards. The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions which determine the fair value of share-based
awards, including the option�s expected term and the price volatility of the underlying stock.

Expected Term

As we have limited historical option exercise data, we estimated our expected term based on the average expected term of similar
publicly-traded entities.

Volatility

As we do not have a trading history for our common stock, the expected stock price volatility for our common stock was estimated by taking the
average historic price volatility for industry peers based on daily
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price observations over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock option grants. Industry peers consist of several public companies in
the technology industry similar in size, stage of life cycle and financial leverage. We did not rely on implied volatilities of traded options in our
industry peers� common stock because the volume of activity was relatively low. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using
the same or similar public companies until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own common stock share
price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such that the identified companies are no longer similar to us, in which case, more
suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in the calculation.

Risk-free Rate

The risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of U.S. Treasury securities with maturities comparable to the expected term of the options for
each option group.

Dividend Yield

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the assumed
dividend yield is expected to be zero.

The following table presents the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted during the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Volatility 48.5-51.5% 49.7-51.8% 52.1-53.8% 
Expected dividend yield �  �  �  
Risk-free rate 0.8-2.2% 1.3-2.2% 1.4-2.1% 
Expected term (in years) 4.9 4.7 4.5
The following table sets forth the total stock-based compensation expense included in the related financial statement line items:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In thousands)
Cost of net revenue $ 168 $ 111 $ 128
Sales and marketing 1,413 562 765
Research and development 915 244 597
General and administrative 5,299 4,431 9,750

Total stock-based compensation $ 7,795 $ 5,348 $ 11,240
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and as a percentage of our revenue for those periods. The
period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results.

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(In thousands)
Net revenue:
Technology revenue $ 290,480 $ 237,688 $ 210,483
Marketing services revenue 46,910 41,912 32,401
Total net revenue 337,390 279,600 242,884
Cost of net revenue:
Cost of technology revenue 144,962 115,148 $ 103,130
Cost of marketing services revenue 5,952 6,203 4,058

Cost of net revenue 150,914 121,351 107,188

Gross profit 186,476 158,249 135,696
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 70,251 59,106 50,556
Research and development 66,753 61,107 58,767
General and administrative 51,126 42,404 39,455
Amortization of intangibles 14,962 16,147 18,491

Total operating expenses 203,092 178,764 167,269

Loss from operations (16,616) (20,515) (31,573) 
Interest income 119 150 194
Interest expense (2,890) (5,438) (5,237) 
Other income (expense), net (14) 455 1,196

Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes (19,401) (25,348) (35,420) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (4,074) 1,924 2,439

Net loss (15,327) (27,272) (37,859) 
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock (1) (11,810) (28,157) (25,774) 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (27,137) $ (55,429) $ (63,633) 

(1) Effective May 25, 2011, all shares of convertible preferred stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted into
8,807,090 and 25,824,801 shares of common stock, respectively, in connection with our IPO. Upon completion of our IPO in May 2011,
we amended and restated our certificate of incorporation to authorize 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock
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Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

(As of percentage of net revenue)
Net revenue 100% 100% 100% 
Cost of net revenue 45 43 44
Gross profit 55 57 56
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 21 21 21
Research and development 20 22 24
General and administrative 15 15 16
Amortization of intangibles 4 6 8
Total operating expenses 60 64 69
Loss from operations (5) (7) (13) 
Interest income � � �
Interest expense (1) (2) (2) 
Other income (expense), net � � �
Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes (6) (9) (15) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (1) 1 1
Net loss (5)% (10%) (16%) 

Years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Net Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
%

Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(In thousands)

Net revenue:
Technology revenue $ 290,480 $ 237,688 $ 210,483 22% 13% 
Marketing services revenue 46,910 41,912 32,401 12% 29% 

Net revenue $ 337,390 $ 279,600 $ 242,884 21% 15% 

2011 compared to 2010. Total net revenue increased $57.8 million, or 21% from 2010 to 2011 as discussed below.

Technology revenue. Net registration revenue increased $30.9 million, or 16%, driven by registrations growth in our business solutions and
communities customer groups and additional revenue from new large state customers in our outdoors customer group. Software revenue
increased $21.9 million or 55% as a result of revenue from acquisitions in our faith customer group and also due to growth in hosting and
implementation revenue in our business solutions and communities customer groups. In total, technology revenue increased $52.8 million or
22%.

Marketing services revenue. Revenue increased $5.0 million, or 12%, mainly as a result of growth in membership programs, online advertising
and promotions.

2010 compared to 2009. Total net revenue increased $36.7 million, or 15% from 2009 to 2010.

Technology revenue. Net registration revenue increased $23.6 million, or 14%. The increase was primarily due to a 7% growth in registrations
and a 6% growth in revenue per registration. Overall growth was negatively impacted by the oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico in April 2010 and the
continued economic downturn. We have a
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number of large organizations that operate in the Gulf of Mexico and consumer registrations were down in the region as a result of the oil spill.
Software revenue increased $3.6 million, or 10%, as a result of higher maintenance and implementation revenue. In total, technology revenue
increased $27.2 million, or 13%.

Marketing services revenue. Revenue increased $9.5 million, or 29%, as a result of higher adoption rates within our commerce programs, and
growth in online media and promotions.

Costs and Expenses

Employee related expenses. Headcount and its related expenses make up a significant portion of our total expenses. We define employee related
expenses as salaries, fringe benefits, facilities costs, employee travel, commissions, bonuses and other employee expenses.

Cost of Net Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
%

Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(Dollars in thousands)

Cost of net revenue $ 150,914 $ 121,351 $  107,188 24% 13% 
Headcount (at period end) 1,258 1,122 1,147 12% (2)% 
2011 compared to 2010. Cost of net revenue increased $29.6 million, or 24% from 2010 to 2011. Headcount increased 12% due to the addition
of information technology and implementation support employees to support the revenue growth, leading to higher employee related costs of
$7.3 million or 15%. Call center headcount and costs remained flat in 2011 compared to 2010 due to efficiencies in our call center operations.
Credit card fees increased $6.2 million or 18% resulting from the increase in net registration revenue. Depreciation for fixed assets and
amortization of intangibles and software that was capitalized in earlier periods increased $8.3 million. 2011 included an expense of $0.8 million
to record a contingency related to a state contract implementation. Software and hardware maintenance expenses increased $1.7 million
primarily related to investments in new software products and maintenance agreements to support our data centers and infrastructure growth for
new products, and other cost of net revenue increased $5.2 million or 25% to support the revenue growth.

2010 compared to 2009. Cost of net revenue increased $14.2 million, or 13% from 2009 to 2010. The increase was primarily due to an increase
of $5.7 million in credit card fees directly attributable to the increase in net registration revenue, $1.7 million in higher web hosting expenses
given the higher registration volume and $5.4 million of higher depreciation on the software that was capitalized in earlier periods.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31, % Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(Dollars in thousands)

Sales and marketing $ 70,251 $ 59,106 $ 50,556 19% 17%
Headcount (at period end) 540 435 405 24% 7%
2010 compared to 2011. Sales and marketing expense increased $11.1 million, or 19% from 2010 to 2011. The increase was primarily due to
higher employee related costs of $8.9 million as a result of a 24% increase in headcount as we invested in our sales and marketing staff for
future business growth. Marketing expenses also increased $1.8 million as we increased our marketing and trade show spending mainly due to
large trade shows in the first six months of the year.
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2009 compared to 2010. Sales and marketing expense increased $8.6 million, or 17% from 2009 to 2010. The increase was primarily due to a
$6.9 million increase in employee related costs, which resulted from a 7% increase in headcount as we reinvested in our sales staff to facilitate
future business growth. The remaining increases included $0.8 million for additional marketing, $0.6 million for contractors and $0.7 million for
higher depreciation.

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31, % Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(Dollars in thousands)

Research and development $ 66,753 $ 61,107 $ 58,767 9% 4%
Headcount (at period end) 982 856 819 15% 5%
2010 compared to 2011. Research and development expense increased $5.6 million, or 9% from 2010 to 2011. Employee related costs increased
$10.2 million or 16% resulting from a 15% increase in headcount to support our continued development of ActiveWorks and implementations
for new large state customers. The increase in employee related costs was offset by additional capitalized software of $3.0 million, a decline in
contractor expenses of $1.3 million and lower depreciation of $1.2 million.

2009 compared to 2010. Research and development expense increased $2.3 million, or 4% from 2009 to 2010. The increase was primarily due
to a $4.6 million increase in employee related costs which resulted from a 5% increase in headcount made for continued development of
ActiveWorks and to implement new large state customers. The increase in employee related costs was offset by $1.1 million in additional
capitalized software and a $0.6 million decline in expenses for contractors.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31, % Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(Dollars in thousands)

General and administrative $ 51,126 $ 42,404 $ 39,455 21% 7%
Headcount (at period end) 282 223 171 26% 30%
2010 compared to 2011. Our general and administrative expenses increased $8.7 million, or 21%, from 2010 to 2011. Employee related
expenses increased $5.4 million as a result of $1.9 million in severance payments in 2011 related to the acquisition of StarCite, higher costs
resulting from a 26% increase in headcount to allow us to support the business, offset by a change in our annual incentive plan accrual. Software
expenses increased $1.2 million primarily related to our increased investment in Oracle licenses to support our growth, stock based
compensation expense increased $0.9 million, and other expenses primarily related to higher costs associated with operating as a public
company increased $1.3 million or 12%.

2009 compared to 2010. Our general and administrative expenses increased $2.9 million, or 7%, from 2009 to 2010. The increase was due to
$4.1 million of additional employee related costs to support the growing business, a $1.3 million increase in contractor fees as we work to build
out, automate and streamline internal processes, a $2.8 million of other additional costs to support the business, and was offset by a $5.3 million
decrease in stock-based compensation expenses.
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Amortization of Intangibles

Year Ended December 31, % Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(In thousands)

Amortization of intangibles $ 14,962 $ 16,147 $ 18,491 (7%) (13%)
2010 compared to 2011. Amortization of intangibles decreased $1.2 million, or 7%, from 2010 to 2011.

Intangibles are amortized over their expected life. Amortization expense on acquisitions completed prior to 2010 decreased as useful lives on
certain intangibles were met. This was slightly offset by higher amortization expense on acquisitions completed since 2010.

2009 compared to 2010. Amortization of intangibles decreased $2.3 million, or 13%, from 2009 to 2010. Intangibles are amortized over their
expected life. Amortization expense on acquisitions completed prior 2009 decreased as useful lives on certain intangibles were met. This was
slightly offset by higher amortization expense on acquisitions completed since 2009.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Year Ended December 31, % Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(In thousands)

Interest income $ 119 $ 150 $ 194 (21%) (23%)
Interest expense (2,890) (5,438) (5,237) (47%) 4%
Other income (expense), net (14) 455 1,196 (103%) (62%)
Interest and other income (expense), net $ (2,785) $ (4,833) $ (3,847) (42%) 26%
2010 compared to 2011. Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $0.1 million compared to $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010, a decrease of less than $0.1 million. The decrease was due to our transition to bank Earnings Credit Rate, which offsets
bank fees with interest income resulting in lower interest income.

Interest expense decreased 47% to $2.9 million due to a lower average debt balance. Our average debt balance was lower in 2011 because,
subsequent to our public offering in May 2011, we paid all of our outstanding debt at that time in full, and the remaining interest expense is
related to capital lease obligations.

Other income (expense), net was $14,000 expense in 2011 and approximately $0.5 million income in 2010. The amounts in both periods are
mainly related to gains or losses on foreign exchange.

2009 compared to 2010. Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $0.2 million compared to $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009, a decrease of less than $0.1 million. The decrease was due to a lower average cash balance. Interest expense for the year
ended December 31, 2010 was $5.4 million compared to $5.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of $0.2 million. The
increase was due to higher interest rates in 2010. Other income, net for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $0.5 million compared to $1.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of $0.7 million. The decrease was primarily due to an acquisition gain.
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Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31, % Change

2011 2010 2009
2010 to

2011
2009 to

2010
(In thousands)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (4,074) $ 1,924 $ 2,439 312% (21%)
2010 compared to 2011. Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2011 resulted in a benefit of $4.1 million compared to an expense of
$1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary difference become deductible. During the fourth quarter of
2011, we concluded as a result of a plan to amalgamate our Canadian subsidiaries that it was more likely than not that we would realize deferred
tax assets of approximately $2.6 million associated with one of our Canadian subsidiaries that was previously offset by a valuation allowance. In
addition, during the fourth quarter of 2011, we realized $3.9 million of tax benefit from the reduction in our domestic valuation allowance as a
result of net deferred tax liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition of ServiceU.

The effective tax rate of 21.0% for the year ended December 31, 2011 differs from the statutory rate primarily due to state taxes, foreign taxes,
nondeductible stock option expenses, the increase in the deferred tax liability from the amortization of tax deductible goodwill, and the change
in the valuation allowance, as described above.

2009 compared to 2010. Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2010 were $1.9 million compared to $2.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The overall provision in 2009 and 2010 is primarily the result of an increase in our deferred tax liabilities from the
amortization of tax deductible goodwill. Included in income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 is an $892,000 tax benefit
related to the correction of an error to the tax treatment of deferred tax liabilities for the year ending December 31, 2009.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data:

Year Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)

Purchases of property and equipment $ (12,514) $ (14,767) $ (10,449) 
Software development costs (18,651) (15,651) (14,561) 
Depreciation and amortization 44,857 40,287 36,079
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net 31,785 20,222 15,640
Repayment of long-term obligations (41,628) (8,035) (16,772) 
Net proceeds from initial public offering 112,566 �  �  
Net cash provided by operating activities 65,703 42,095 28,524
Net cash used in investing activities (66,934) (32,725) (25,968) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 78,530 (4,349) (8,514) 
As of December 31, 2011, we had cash and cash equivalents of $108.7 million and restricted cash of $1.5 million. We did not have any
short-term or long-term investments. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and non-interest bearing accounts. Restricted cash consists of
cash restricted from withdrawal and held by banks as collateral for letters of credit.
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We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents together with cash flows from our operating activities and cash available under our credit
facility will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months.

On December 16, 2011, we entered into a Credit Agreement (the �Credit Agreement�) with Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent,
Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Book Manager, and
the lenders from time to time a party thereto. The Credit Agreement provides for a five-year, senior secured revolving credit facility in an initial
aggregate principal amount of $50.0 million. The credit facility includes a $15.0 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit and
a $5.0 million sublimit for swing line loans, which will be available on a same-day basis. As of December 31, 2011, we had $5.0 million
outstanding under the swing line loan facility, which was repaid in full on January 3, 2012. On January 3, 2012, we borrowed $10.0 million
under the credit facility.

Operating Activities

In 2011, net cash provided by operating activities was $65.7 million, resulting from a net loss of $15.3 million and adjusted for $49.2 million in
non-cash charges and a $31.8 million net change in assets and liabilities. The non-cash charges included $44.9 million of depreciation and
amortization, $7.8 million of stock-based compensation, $1.5 million of other non-cash charges, offset by a $5.0 million reduction in the
deferred tax liability. Net change in assets and liabilities generated operating cash as follows, mainly due to increased volume; $31.7 million
from the increase in registration fees payable, $6.4 million from the increase in deferred revenue, a $4.2 million reduction in restricted cash
related to the termination of a Loan and Security Agreement with Square 1 Bank and a $2.5 million net change in other assets and liabilities
offset by a $13.0 million increase in accounts receivable.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $42.1 million, resulting from a net loss of $27.3 million and
adjusted for $47.9 million in non-cash charges and a $21.5 million net change in assets and liabilities. The non-cash charges included $40.3
million of depreciation and amortization, $5.3 million of stock-based compensation, and $2.3 million of other non-cash charges. Net change in
assets and liabilities generated operating cash as follows: $10.5 million from the increase in registration fees payable, $8.8 million from the
increase in deferred revenue, $5.5 million from the increase in accrued expenses, $4.7 million increase in other items, offset by an $8.0 million
increase in accounts receivable due to seasonality. Cash generated by the increase in registration fees payable and deferred revenue resulted from
growth in the business. Registration fees payable represents the dollars processed by us on an organization�s behalf and this balance increased on
a year-over-year basis due to the increase in registration fees.

In 2009, net cash provided by operating activities was $28.5 million, resulting from a net loss of $37.9 million and adjusted for $48.2 million in
non-cash charges and an $18.1 million net change in assets and liabilities. The non-cash charges included $36.1 million of depreciation and
amortization, $11.2 million of stock-based compensation, $0.9 million of accretion of debt discount and a gain on bargain purchase, and
allowance for doubtful accounts. Net change in assets and liabilities generated operating cash as follows: $5.5 million given the decrease in
accounts receivable, $7.2 million from the increase in registration fees payable, $2.5 million from the increase in deferred tax liability and $4.4
million from the increase in deferred revenue. Changes in other balance sheet accounts accounted for the remaining decrease of $1.5 million.

Investing Activities

In 2011, net cash used in investing activities was $66.9 million, including $35.1 million for acquisitions, $18.7 million of capitalized software
development costs, capital expenditures of $12.5 million, and $0.6 million in payment of contingent consideration related to an acquisition.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010, was $32.7 million, resulting primarily from $15.7 million for
capitalized software development costs, cash used of $14.8 million in capital
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expenditures and $2.2 million in payment of contingent consideration related to the Automated License Systems acquisition.

In 2009, net cash used in investing activities was $26.0 million, $14.6 million for capitalized software development costs, cash used of $10.4
million in capital expenditures and $1.8 million in payment of contingent consideration offset by cash received from acquisition, net of cash
acquired of $0.8 million. Capitalized software is primarily related to ActiveWorks and large contracts that require upfront development costs.
Capital expenditures included costs to build out our datacenters. We also continued to invest in technology hardware to support our growth,
software to support website functionality development, website operations and our corporate infrastructure.

Financing Activities

In 2011, net cash provided by financing activities was $78.5 million, primarily due to $112.6 million in net proceeds from our initial public
offering in May 2011, $5.2 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options and warrants, offset by $39.2 million net reduction in debt and
capital lease obligations.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $4.3 million, resulting primarily from $8.0 million repayment of
long-term obligations and $1.9 million repayment of capital lease obligations less $3.0 million proceeds from debt and $2.6 million cash
received from the exercise of stock options.

In 2009, net cash used in financing activities was $8.5 million, resulting primarily from $16.7 million repayment of long-term obligations and
$0.6 million repayment of capital lease obligations offset by the $8.3 million in debt proceeds and $0.5 million cash received from the exercise
of stock options and common stock warrants.

Letters of Credit

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had $1.5 million and $5.0 million, respectively, of cash restricted from withdrawal and held by
banks as collateral for letters of credit.

2008 Loan and Security Agreement

In October 2008, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (�LSA�) with Square 1 Bank (�Square 1�) which allowed the Company
to borrow up to $5.0 million under a term loan and up to $7.0 million under a line of credit (�Line�). For borrowings under the term loan, the
Company was required to make interest-only payments on a monthly basis for the first six months, after which borrowings were repayable over
30 months. The interest rate for the term loan was prime plus 1% and was due to mature in October 2011. For borrowings under the LSA, the
Company was required to maintain a cash balance of $5.0 million in an account with Square 1 which was presented as restricted cash on the
Company�s consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2010. Under the terms of the Line, borrowings cannot exceed 80% of the Company�s
eligible accounts receivable and carry an interest rate of prime plus 1% and was to mature on July 2010. The loan was collateralized by
substantially all of the Company�s assets, excluding certain client cash and intellectual property, and was subject to certain covenants which, if
not met, could constitute an event of default. These covenants included maintaining the required quick ratio and the non-occurrence of a material
adverse change in the business, operations or conditions of the Company. As of December 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance with all
specified financial covenants.

In April 2010, the LSA was amended to allow the Company to grant to Central Bank a junior lien on an asset and to revise the earnout payment
schedule.
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In May 2010, the LSA was amended to adjust the quick ratio to be at least 1:1.

In July 2010, the LSA was amended to change the interest rate for advances under the Line to the greater of (i) prime plus 1% or (ii) 5% and
further extended the maturity date to July 2011. The amendment also changed the amount the Company is allowed to borrow under the Line to
$12.0 million less borrowings outstanding under the term loan.

In May 2011, the Company fully repaid $4.7 million of the outstanding principal of the term loan under the LSA. The early repayment of the
debt did not result in any gain or loss on extinguishment.

In August 2011, the LSA was amended to extend the maturity date to August 2012.

In December 2011, in connection with the 2011 Credit Agreement, the LSA was terminated. In connection with termination of the LSA, the
Company reduced its restricted cash balance to $0.8 million.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, outstanding borrowings from Square 1 were $0 and $1.7 million, respectively, under the term loan and $0
and $7.3 million, respectively under the Line.

2011 Credit Agreement

In December 2011, the Company entered into a five-year, senior secured revolving credit facility, with certain institutional lenders, for an initial
aggregate principal amount of $50 million (the �Credit Facility�). The Credit Facility has a maturity date of December 16, 2016, but the
outstanding amounts may be prepaid at any time without penalty or premium (except for certain customary break funding payments in
connection with LIBOR loans) and is available to fund acquisitions and ongoing operations.

The Credit Facility also includes an �accordion� feature which allows the Company, subject to certain terms and conditions, to increase the lending
commitments by up to $25 million.

Any advance under the Credit Facility will accrue interest at rates per annum that are equal to, based on certain conditions, either (a) 1.5% above
the applicable LIBOR rate, or (b) 0.5% above (i) the greatest of (x) the prime rate, (y) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5% or (z) a daily
rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 1.00%. The unused portion of the Credit Facility will also be subject to an unused fee that will be
calculated at a per annum rate of 0.25%. The interest rate under the Credit Facility was 3.75% as of December 31, 2011.

Under the Credit Facility, the Company is required to comply with certain financial covenants and ratios, including a quarterly consolidated
leverage ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness to EBITDA of not more than 2.5 to 1.0 and a quarterly consolidated fixed charge coverage
ratio of not less than 1.5 to 1.0. Substantially all of the Company�s tangible and intangible assets are considered collateral security under the
Secured Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with all specified financial covenants.

Payment of the amounts owed under the Credit Facility may be accelerated, and the lenders� commitments under the Credit Agreement may be
terminated, upon an �event of default,� as defined in the Credit Agreement, such as failure to pay amounts owed when due, breach of a covenant,
material inaccuracy of a representation or occurrence of bankruptcy, subject in some cases to cure periods.

The Company had $5 million outstanding, under the swing line loan facility at December 31, 2011. There was $39.8 million available under the
Credit Facility as of December 31, 2011.

There was $34.8 million available under the Credit Facility as of January 3, 2012.
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Commitments and Contingencies

We have certain fixed contractual obligations and commitments that include future estimated payments for general operating purposes. Changes
in our business needs, contractual cancellation provisions, fluctuating interest rates and other factors may result in actual payments differing
from the estimates. Although certain payments occur on a fixed schedule (see �Indebtedness�), we cannot provide certainty regarding the timing
and amounts of all these payments. We have presented below a summary of the most significant assumptions used in our determination of
amounts presented in the table in order to assist in the review of this information within the context of our consolidated financial position and
results of operations. The following table summarizes our fixed contractual obligations and commitments (in thousands), as of December 31,
2011:

Contractual Obligations

Total
Less than

1 Year
1-3

Years
3-5

Years
More than

5 Years
(in thousands)

Long-term Debt Obligations $ 5,000 $ 5,000 $ �  $ �  $ �  
Operating Lease Obligations 51,277 12,705 17,102 13,076 8,394
Capital Leases 5,350 3,635 1,694 21 �  
Purchase Obligations 2,045 545 1,000 500 �  

Total Contractual Obligations $ 63,672 $ 21,885 $ 19,796 $ 13,597 $ 8,394

Our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2011 included a $0.3 million liability for uncertain tax positions, all of which may result in
cash payment. The future payments related to uncertain tax positions have not been presented in the table above due to the uncertainty of the
amounts and timing of cash settlement with the taxing authorities.

Guarantee Arrangement

The Company enters into arrangements with third-party customers to guarantee performance by the Company. The Company may provide a
corporate guarantee, irrevocable letter of credit, surety bond or any other form of guarantee acceptable to the third-party customer. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company had guarantees of $14.2 million.

Leases

We lease our facilities and certain fixed assets under non-cancelable operating and capital leases. Rent expense under operating lease agreements
was $11.4 million, $9.6 million and $9.4 million for the years ended 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Sales and Use Tax

We believe that we may have established sales and use tax nexus in a number of states where we have not previously paid applicable sales and
use taxes. We performed an analysis of our potential liability in states where we have not previously remitted these taxes. Based on the results of
the analysis, we established a reserve for estimated claims from states where sales and use tax had not been remitted. The reserve was $4.3
million and $3.4 million as of the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. In the future we plan on collecting and remitting sales
and use taxes for sales as required by applicable state laws.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2011, we did not have any off balance sheet arrangements.

58

Edgar Filing: ACTIVE NETWORK INC - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 77



Table of Contents

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this report for a description of recent accounting pronouncements,
including our expected dates of adoption and the estimated effects on our results of operations and financial condition.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include interest rate fluctuations, foreign exchange
risk and inflation.

Interest Rate Fluctuations

Our investments include cash and cash equivalents, which consists of cash and money market accounts. The primary objective of our investment
activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly increasing risk. We do not enter into investments for trading or
speculative purposes. Our investments are exposed to market risk due to a fluctuation in interest rates, which may affect our interest income and
the fair market value of our investments. Due to the short-term nature of our investment portfolio, we do not believe an immediate 10% increase
in interest rates would have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio, and therefore we do not expect our operating results or
cash flows to be materially affected to any degree by a sudden change in market interest rates.

On December 16, 2011, we entered into a new Credit Facility that bears interest at floating rates based upon either (a) 1.5% above the applicable
LIBOR rate, or (b) 0.5% above (i) the greatest of (x) the prime rate, (y) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5% or (z) a daily rate equal to
one-month LIBOR plus 1.00%. Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the floating interest
rate. Accordingly, interest rate increases would increase our interest expense on outstanding Credit Facility balances. As of December 30, 2011,
$5.0 million was drawn under the Credit Facility, which was repaid on January 2, 2012, limiting our interest rate exposure during 2011. Based
on a sensitivity analysis, an increase of 1% in the floating interest rate would increase our borrowing costs by less than $0.1 million for each $1.0
million of borrowings under the Credit Facility, assuming such borrowings were outstanding for the entire year, or a maximum of $0.8 million if
we utilized our entire line of credit.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We have foreign currency risks related to our revenue and operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally
the Canadian dollar and the British pound sterling. We do not believe movements in the foreign currencies in which we transact will
significantly affect future net earnings. Foreign currency risk can be quantified by estimating the change in cash flows resulting from a
hypothetical 1% adverse change in foreign exchange rates. We believe such a change would not have a material impact on our results of
operations.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. If our costs were to
become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or
failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Reference is made to the Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements that appears on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm from Ernst & Young LLP, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements listed in the Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which appear beginning on page F-2 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, are incorporated by reference into this Item 8.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our �disclosure controls and procedures,� as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives as specified above. In
designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures
are met. Additionally, the design of a control system must reflect that there are resource constraints, thus, in designing disclosure controls and
procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure
controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
probability of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions.

Management�s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The SEC, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, adopted rules requiring every company that files reports with the SEC to
include a management report on such company�s internal control over financial reporting in its annual report. In addition, our independent
registered public accounting firm must attest to our internal control over financial reporting. This Annual Report does not include a report of
management�s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due
to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies. Management will be required
to provide an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012. We believe we will have
adequate resources and expertise, both internal and external, in place to meet this requirement. However, there is no guarantee that our efforts
will result in management�s ability to conclude, or our independent registered public accounting firm to attest, that our internal control over
financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2012.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item relating to our directors and the committees of our Board of Directors is incorporated by reference from
the sections entitled �Proposal One: Election of Directors,� �Director Compensation,� and �Corporate Governance� to be contained in our Proxy
Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011.

The information required by this item relating to Section 16 reporting compliance is incorporated by reference from the section entitled �Section
16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance� to be contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

The information required by this item relating to our code of ethics is incorporated by reference from the section entitled �Corporate
Governance�Code of Conduct� to be contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to be filed with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Name Age Position(s)
Executive Officers
David Alberga 49 Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Matthew Landa 47 President and Director
Scott Mendel 45 Chief Financial Officer
Darko Dejanovic 41 Chief Technology, Product and Innovation Officer
Kourosh Vossoughi 43 Chief Legal Officer, General Counsel, SVP, Business Development and

Secretary
Sheryl Roland 56 Executive Vice President, Human Resources
Kevin Biggs 53 Executive Vice President, Global Technology Sales
David Alberga has served as our Chairman of the Board since February 2011 and as a member of our Board of Directors and our Chief
Executive Officer since December 1999. From December 1999 to February 2002, Mr. Alberga also served as our President. From January 1996
to November 1999, Mr. Alberga served in various positions at TicketMaster Online-CitySearch, a portal and transaction company. Mr. Alberga
initially served as general manager of established markets for CitySearch City Guides, a leading integrated local search, directory and media
company, and was promoted to executive vice president and subsequently to chief operating officer of the company�s City Guides business.
Mr. Alberga has also held positions with Linear Technology, an analog semiconductor manufacturer, The Boston Consulting Group, a global
management consulting company, and Procter & Gamble, a global consumer products company. Mr. Alberga earned a B.S. from the United
States Military Academy at West Point and both an M.B.A. and an M.A. from Stanford University.
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Matthew Landa has been our President since February 2002 and has served on our Board of Directors since November 2005. From March 2000
to February 2002, Mr. Landa was our Chief Commerce Officer. From June 1999 to March 2000, Mr. Landa was president of ACT
Manufacturing, a Nasdaq Stock Market listed company providing value-added electronics manufacturing services for original equipment
manufacturers in the networking and telecommunications, computer, industrial and medical equipment markets. From 1995 to 1999, Mr. Landa
was the president and chief executive officer of CMC Industries, a Nasdaq Stock Market listed company providing electronics manufacturing
services. ACT Manufacturing acquired CMC Industries in 1999. Mr. Landa also previously worked at Monitor Company, a global strategy
consulting firm. Mr. Landa earned an A.B. from Dartmouth College and an M.B.A. from Stanford University.

Scott Mendel has been our Chief Financial Officer since March 2010. Prior to joining us, Mr. Mendel held finance positions at General Electric,
a diversified technology, media and financial services company, for over 20 years, including chief financial officer from March 2003 to March
2010 for General Electric�s Healthcare IT division, a leading provider of medical technologies and services. Mr. Mendel earned a B.S. in finance
from Indiana University and an M.B.A. from Northwestern University, Kellogg School of Management.

Darko Dejanovic has been our Chief Technology, Product and Innovation Officer since August 2011. Prior to joining us, Mr. Dejanovic served
for four years as the EVP, global CIO and head of product at Monster Worldwide, where he was responsible for global IT strategy, operations
and development, product innovation and design, as well as consumer advertising businesses. Previously he held CTO roles for more than a
decade at the Tribune Company and its subsidiary, Tribune Publishing Company. Earlier in his career, Mr. Dejanovic held various senior
technology roles in the U.S. and Europe. He holds an MBA from Northwestern University and a B.S. in Computer Science from Florida
Metropolitan University.

Kourosh Vossoughi has been our Chief Legal Officer and General Counsel since March 2000. Mr. Vossoughi has also served as our Senior Vice
President, Business Development since March 2000 and our Secretary since May 2001. From 1998 to 2000, Mr. Vossoughi was an associate at
the law firm of Brobeck, Phleger and Harrison. From 1996 until 1998, Mr. Vossoughi was an associate at the law firm of Luce, Forward,
Hamilton & Scripps. Mr. Vossoughi earned a J.D. from the University of San Diego School of Law and a B.A. from the University of
California, Berkeley.

Sheryl Roland has been our Executive Vice President, Human Resources since February 2011. From March 2008 to January 2011, Ms. Roland
served as our Senior Vice President, Human Resources. From April 2000 to February 2008, Ms. Roland held management positions at Visual
Sciences (formerly WebSideStory), a provider of real-time analytics applications, including senior vice president, administration from December
2006 to February 2008, and vice president, human resources of WebSideStory from April 2000 until December 2006. From February 1997 to
March 2000, Ms. Roland served as vice president, human resources at ENCAD, Inc., a provider of digital image printing technology. From 1992
to 1996, Ms. Roland was vice president, human resources at The Upper Deck Co., a manufacturer of sports trading cards and memorabilia.
Ms. Roland earned a B.S. in psychology from University of California, Los Angeles and an M.S. in counseling psychology from San Jose State
University.

Kevin Biggs has been our Executive Vice President, Global Technology Sales since January 2012. Prior to that time, he served as Senior Vice
President, Worldwide Field Operations of Blue Coat Systems, Inc., a provider of SaaS security systems, from June 2010 to August 2011. From
January 2007 to June 2010, he served as Senior Vice President, Worldwide Sales of Blue Coat Systems. Mr. Biggs joined Blue Coat Systems
from International Business Machines, Inc. (�IBM�), a manufacturer of computers and related products, where he held the position of Vice
President of New Customer Acquisition from February 2004 to December 2006. Prior to that time, Mr. Biggs served as IBM�s Vice President of
Worldwide Sales, IBM Data Management Division, from August 2002 to February 2004; as IBM�s Vice President of Software Sales, IBM
Americas West, from April 2002 to August 2002; and as IBM�s Vice President of Software, IBM Latin America, from September 1998 to April
2002. Prior to these executive roles, Mr. Biggs held a number of sales management positions at IBM since joining IBM in 1980. Mr. Biggs holds
a B.A. in both Economics and Mathematics from Drury University.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled �Director Compensation,� �Compensation Discussion
and Analysis,� �Executive Compensation,� �Compensation Committee Report� and �Corporate Governance�Compensation Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participation� to be contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to be filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated by reference
from the sections entitled �Stock Ownership of Principal Stockholders and Management,� and �Equity Compensation Plan Information,� to be
contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item regarding certain relationships and related party transactions is incorporated by reference from the sections
entitled �Director Compensation,� �Compensation Discussion and Analysis,� �Executive Compensation,� and �Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions� to be contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to be filed with the SEC within 120 days
after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

The information required by this item regarding director independence is incorporated by reference from the section entitled �Corporate
Governance� to be contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to be filed with the SEC within 120 days
after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the section entitled �Independent Registered Public Accountants� to be
contained in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statements. Please see the accompanying Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears on page F-1 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements listed in the Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which appear beginning on page F-2 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, are incorporated by reference into Item 8 above.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is
either not applicable or is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Exhibits. See Item 15(b) below. Each management contract and compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed has been identified.

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to Item 15(a)(2) above.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders�

The Active Network, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Active Network, Inc. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders� equity (deficit) and comprehensive loss and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of The Active Network, Inc. at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2011 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 16, 2012
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THE ACTIVE NETWORK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except par value)

December 31,
2011 2010

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,699 $ 31,441
Restricted cash 1,502 5,000
Accounts receivable, net 66,469 34,096
Inventories 1,662 �  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,179 4,181

Total current assets 184,511 74,718
Property and equipment, net 33,830 28,181
Software development costs, net 45,093 37,013
Goodwill 243,320 207,113
Intangible assets, net 90,340 41,208
Deposits and other assets 2,133 2,315

Total assets $ 599,227 $ 390,548

Liabilities, preferred stock and stockholders� equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 8,516 $ 5,372
Registration fees payable 72,405 40,667
Accrued expenses 41,106 32,172
Deferred revenue 54,919 34,013
Current portion of debt 5,000 16,866
Capital lease obligations, current portion 3,317 1,983
Other current liabilities 42,613 1,630

Total current liabilities 227,876 132,703
Debt, net of current portion �  27,537
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 1,652 1,663
Other long-term liabilities 6,147 4,353
Deferred tax liability 16,913 17,960

Total liabilities 252,588 184,216
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value�authorized, 0 and 146,856 shares; issued and outstanding, 0 and
131,372 shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively (aggregate liquidation preference $24,183 at
December 31, 2010) �  21,187
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value�authorized, 0 and 73,249 shares; issued and
outstanding, 0 and 71,751 shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively (aggregate liquidation
preference $372,496 at December 31, 2010) �  371,126

Total preferred stock �  392,313
Stockholders� equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value�authorized, 100,000 and 0 shares; no shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively �  �  
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Common stock, $0.001 par value�authorized, 1,000,000 and 65,000 shares ; issued, 58,219 and 9,755 shares;
outstanding, 56,443 and 7,980 shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively 58 9
Treasury stock (at cost, 1,776 shares at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively) (11,959) (11,959) 
Additional paid-in capital 625,875 65,224
Accumulated other comprehensive income 7,923 8,866
Accumulated deficit (275,258) (248,121) 

Total stockholders� equity (deficit) 346,639 (185,981) 

Total liabilities, preferred stock and stockholders� equity (deficit) $ 599,227 $ 390,548

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE ACTIVE NETWORK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended
December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net Revenue:
Technology revenue $ 290,480 $ 237,688 $ 210,483
Marketing services revenue 46,910 41,912 32,401

Total net revenue 337,390 279,600 242,884
Cost of net revenue:
Cost of technology revenue 144,962 115,148 103,130
Cost of marketing services revenue 5,952 6,203 4,058

Total cost of net revenue 150,914 121,351 107,188

Gross profit 186,476 158,249 135,696
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 70,251 59,106 50,556
Research and development 66,753 61,107 58,767
General and administrative 51,126 42,404 39,455
Amortization of intangibles 14,962 16,147 18,491

Total operating expenses 203,092 178,764 167,269

Loss from operations (16,616) (20,515) (31,573) 
Interest income 119 150 194
Interest expense (2,890) (5,438) (5,237) 
Other income (expense), net (14) 455 1,196

Loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes (19,401) (25,348) (35,420) 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (4,074) 1,924 2,439

Net loss (15,327) (27,272) (37,859) 
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock (11,810) (28,157) (25,774) 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (27,137) $ (55,429) $ (63,633) 

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted $ (0.75) $ (7.83) $ (10.86) 

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted 36,072 7,080 5,862

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE ACTIVE NETWORK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY (DEFICIT) AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share data)

Common Stock Treasury Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders�

Equity
(Deficit)Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2008 7,663,158 $ 7 (1,775,640) $ (11,959) $ 44,529 $ (140) $ (129,059) $ (96,622) 
Exercise of stock options and warrants 270,963 �  �  �  516 �  �  516
Stock-based compensation �  �  �  �  11,240 �  �  11,240
Issuance of common shares for
acquisitions 192,500 �  �  �  421 �  �  421
Accretion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to redemption value �  �  �  �  �  �  (25,774) (25,774) 
Comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation �  �  �  �  �  6,735 �  6,735
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (37,859) (37,859) 

Total comprehensive loss (31,124) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 8,126,621 $ 7 (1,775,640) $ (11,959) $ 56,706 $ 6,595 $ (192,692) $ (141,343) 
Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,338,105 2 1,466 �  �  1,468
Stock-based compensation �  �  �  �  5,348 �  �  5,348
Issuance of common shares for
acquisitions 290,628 �  �  �  1,070 �  �  1,070
Issuance of warrants �  �  �  �  634 �  �  634
Accretion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to redemption value �  �  �  �  �  �  (28,157) (28,157) 
Comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation �  �  �  �  �  2,271 �  2,271
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (27,272) (27,272) 

Total comprehensive loss (25,001) 

Balance at December 31, 2010 9,755,354 $ 9 (1,775,640) $ (11,959) $ 65,224 $ 8,866 $ (248,121) $ (185,981) 
Exercise of stock options and warrants 2,846,730 3 �  �  4,865 �  �  4,868
Issuance of employee stock purchase plan
shares 50,576 �  631 �  �  631
Stock-based compensation �  �  �  �  7,795 �  �  7,795
Issuance of common shares for
acquisitions 2,500,000 3 �  �  27,223 �  �  27,226
Repurchase of common stock and stock
options (6,773) �  �  �  (13) �  �  (13) 
Conversion of preferred stock to common
stock in connection with initial public
offering 34,631,891 35 �  �  404,088 �  �  404,123
Issuance of common stock in connection
with initial public offering 8,222,222 8 �  �  112,558 �  �  112,566
Issuance of common stock in connection
with conversion of debt 218,989 �  �  �  3,504 �  �  3,504
Accretion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to redemption value �  �  �  �  �  �  (11,810) (11,810) 
Comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation �  �  �  �  �  (943) �  (943) 
Net loss �  �  �  �  �  �  (15,327) (15,327) 
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Total comprehensive loss (16,270) 

Balance at December 31, 2011 58,218,989 $ 58 (1,775,640) $ (11,959) $ 625,875 $ 7,923 $ (275,258) $ 346,639

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE ACTIVE NETWORK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Operating activities
Net loss $ (15,327) $ (27,272) $ (37,859) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 44,857 40,287 36,079
Gain on bargain purchase in business combination �  (21) (599) 
Loss on extinguishment of debt 538 �  �  
Loss on disposition of assets �  46 �  
Allowance for doubtful accounts 880 1,191 (56) 
Stock-based compensation expense 7,795 5,348 11,240
Deferred tax liability (5,016) 1,239 2,497
Accretion of discount on debt 191 1,055 1,582
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Restricted cash 4,190 �  �  
Accounts receivable (12,962) (8,028) 5,458
Inventories (1,662) �  �  
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,071 (262) (1,446) 
Accounts payable 267 2,945 (1,079) 
Registration fees payable 31,738 10,509 7,153
Accrued expenses 1,166 5,486 2,439
Income taxes receivable/payable (622) �  (383) 
Deferred revenue 6,400 8,800 4,384
Deferred rent 2,199 772 (886) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 65,703 42,095 28,524
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (12,514) (14,767) (10,449) 
Software development costs (18,651) (15,651) (14,561) 
Cash (paid) received for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (35,144) (125) 867
Payment of contingent consideration (625) (2,182) (1,825) 

Net cash used in investing activities (66,934) (32,725) (25,968) 
Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, common stock warrants and employee stock purchase plan 5,200 2,584 516
Payments on capital lease obligations (2,595) (1,898) (593) 
Repayment of long-term obligations (41,628) (8,035) (16,772) 
Proceeds from debt 5,000 3,000 8,335
Repurchase of unvested common stock (13) �  �  
Net proceeds from initial public offering 112,566 �  �  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 78,530 (4,349) (8,514) 
Effect of exchange rates on cash (41) 39 (1,056) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 77,258 5,060 (7,014) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 31,441 26,381 33,395

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 108,699 $ 31,441 $ 26,381

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 2,252 $ 3,425 $ 3,220

Cash paid during the year for taxes $ 1,533 $ 727 $ 220
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Supplemental disclosures of noncash financing and investing activities
Fixed asset purchases included in accounts payable $ 3,362 $ 2,006 $ 1,889

Acquisition of equipment and software under capital leases $ 3,437 $ �  $ 4,265

Issuance of warrants $ �  $ 634 $ �  

Conversion of preferred stock $ 404,123 $ �  $ �  

Conversion of debt $ 3,504 $ �  $ �  

Consideration payable in connection with acquisition $ 40,046 $ �  $ �  

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Active Network, Inc.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Business

The Active Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries (�Active� or the �Company�), provide organization-based cloud computing
applications that form an online network connecting a fragmented and diverse group of activity and event organizers with a large base of
potential participants. The Company�s technology platform transforms the way organizers manage their activities and events by automating
online registrations and streamlining other critical management functions, while driving consumer participation to their activities and events.

Initial Public Offering

In May 2011, the Company completed an initial public offering (�IPO�) of its common stock in which it sold and issued 12,650,000 shares of
common stock, of which 4,427,778 were sold by its selling shareholders, at an issue price of $15.00 per share, resulting in proceeds, net of
underwriting discounts and offering expenses, of approximately $112.6 million to the Company. As a result of the IPO, all shares of the
Company�s convertible preferred stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock converted into 34,631,891 shares of common stock and
certain warrants to purchase common stock were net exercised into 420,365 shares of common stock.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Active and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America (�GAAP�) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes technology revenue primarily from registration fees and related hosting and implementation services. The Company
also records revenue for marketing services. The Company recognizes revenue when a signed contract or other persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, the services have been rendered, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is probable. The
Company�s arrangements do not contain general rights of return.

The Company assesses whether the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection is probable, at the time of the transaction. In determining whether
the fee is fixed or determinable, the Company compares the payment terms of the transaction to its standard payment terms and whether
payment is free of contingencies or significant uncertainties. If a significant portion of the fee is considered to have extended payment terms or
the fee is subject to adjustment, the Company accounts for the fee as not being fixed or determinable and recognizes revenue as the payments
become due. The Company assesses whether collection is probable based on a number of factors, including the customer�s past transaction
history and credit-worthiness. The Company does not request collateral from its customers. If the Company determines that collection of a fee is
not probable, the Company defers the fee and recognizes revenue at the time collection becomes probable, which is generally upon receipt of
cash.
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The Company generally recognizes registration revenue when received, net of registration fees paid to event organizers, where the Company is
acting as an agent of event organizers. Net registration revenue comprised 67%, 71% and 72% of total net revenue for fiscal years 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively. In certain circumstances, the Company pre-purchases registrations from event organizers and bears the risks and rewards
of ownership. Registration revenue associated with these transactions is recognized on a gross basis, as the Company is the primary obligor and
bears inventory and credit risk. Cash collected in advance of the event is recorded as deferred revenue until the event occurs. Revenue
recognized on a gross basis comprised 0.7%, 0% and 0% of total net revenue for fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

On January 1, 2011, the Company adopted the new accounting standard for multiple deliverable revenue arrangements which provides guidance
on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the deliverables in an arrangement should be separated, and how the consideration should be
allocated. This guidance requires an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using the �best estimate of selling price� (�BESP�) of deliverables
if it does not have vendor-specific objective evidence (�VSOE�) of selling price based on historical stand-alone sales or third-party evidence (�TPE�)
of selling price. Due to the unique nature of some of the Company�s multiple deliverable revenue arrangements, the Company may not be able to
establish selling prices based on historical stand-alone sales using VSOE or TPE, therefore, the Company may use its best estimate to establish
selling prices for these arrangements under the new accounting standard. The Company establishes its best estimates within a range of selling
prices considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, factors such as customer base, size of transaction, available media inventory,
pricing strategies and market conditions. The Company believes the use of the BESP allows revenue recognition in a manner consistent with the
underlying economics of the transaction. The adoption of this amended standard did not have a significant impact on the Company�s revenue
recognition for multiple deliverable revenue arrangements.

Many customers who use the Company�s hosting services or license its software also enter into separate professional services and training
arrangements with the Company. In addition, certain of the Company�s hosting agreements include up-front payments for implementation of
hosting services. In determining whether professional services and implementation revenue should be accounted for separately, the Company
evaluates (among other factors): the nature of the deliverables; whether they are ready for their intended use by the customer upon receipt; the
nature of the implementation services; the availability of services from other vendors; whether the timing of payments for license revenue is
coincident with performance of services and whether milestones or acceptance criteria exist that affect the realizability of the hosting or software
license fee. For up-front fees and other revenues received for implementation services associated with hosting arrangements, the Company
defers the related revenue and records revenue over the term of the hosting contract since the implementation and hosting do not have
stand-alone value. For license and professional services that qualify for separate accounting, such as arrangements that involve off-the-shelf
software, the services do not include significant alterations to the features and functionality of the software, the services are primarily comprised
of implementation services and fair value exists for the undelivered elements, software revenue is generally recognized when the software is
delivered and service revenue is recognized when the services are performed.

For license and professional service arrangements that do not qualify for separate accounting, such as arrangements that involve significant
modification or customization of the software, arrangements that include milestones or customer specific acceptance criteria, or where payment
for the software license is tied to the performance of professional services, software license revenue is generally recognized together with the
professional services revenue when services have been rendered. A majority of such arrangements are recognized together with the professional
services. Penalties from customers related to power outages or other technical disruptions are recognized in the period in which such amounts
are incurred based on the Company�s estimated liability and are recorded as a reduction of revenue or an increase to cost of revenue. If the total
estimated costs to complete a project exceed the total contract amount, indicating a loss, the entire anticipated loss is recognized currently.
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Maintenance revenue consists of fees for providing software updates on a when-and-if available basis and technical support to software products
(�post contract customer support� or �PCS�). Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the terms of the agreement.

Marketing service revenue consists of online and integrated field marketing campaigns and membership programs. The Company�s online
marketing services include online advertising, e-mail marketing and targeted newsletter promotions. Banner, button and e-mail advertisements
are impression-based, with the revenue based on the number of times the advertisement is displayed or delivered over the contract period.
Impression-based contract revenue is primarily recognized as the impression is displayed on the Company�s web site or delivered by e-mail to the
intended addressee. The Company�s field marketing services include event promotions, sponsorships and sample placements and are defined
contractually with individual customers. Field marketing revenue is recognized over the term of the contract or when revenue is earned based on
the performance of services associated with a series of events. Revenue from membership programs is recognized over the term of the
membership period.

Significant management judgments and estimates must be made in connection with determination of the revenue to be recognized in any
accounting period. If the Company makes different judgments or utilized different estimates for any period, material differences in the amount
and timing of revenue recognized could result.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Carrying amounts of the Company�s financial instruments including accounts receivable, inventories, prepaid expenses and other current assets,
accounts payable, registration fees payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short maturities. Carrying amounts of the
Company�s acquisition-related notes payable, term loans and line of credit approximate fair value as the interest rates on these instruments are
primarily based on market rates of interest. The fair value of acquisition-related contingent consideration issued is detailed further in Note 3. The
fair values of the Company�s cash equivalents are detailed further in Note 4.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company�s cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk. Cash and cash equivalents
are deposited with financial institutions that management believes are creditworthy. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, substantially all of the
Company�s cash has been deposited in non-interest bearing accounts. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers�
financial condition and generally requires no collateral from its customers. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable based on various factors, including the Company�s review of credit profiles of its customers, contractual terms and conditions, current
economic trends and historical payment experience (Note 5).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investment securities with remaining maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. Management determines the appropriate classification of marketable securities at the time of purchase and evaluates such
designation as of each balance sheet date.

Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had $1.5 million and $5.0 million, respectively, of cash restricted from withdrawal and held by
banks as collateral for letters of credit.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable includes trade accounts receivables from the Company�s customers and credit and debit card receivables due from third
party financial institutions attributable to the Company�s registration receivable process.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market on a first in, first out (�FIFO�) basis. Inventories are comprised of purchases of registrations
from event organizers for customer activities and events that are intended to be sold directly to end-user participants. The Company reviews its
inventory for estimated excess inventory based on estimated future usage and sales. Inventory reserves are established based upon such
judgments for any inventories that are identified as having a net realizable value less than their cost, which is further reduced by related selling
expenses. Whenever inventory is written down, a new cost basis is established and the inventory is not subsequently written up if conditions
improve.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, generally two to five years.

Significant improvements which substantially extend the useful lives of assets are capitalized. Amortization of leasehold improvements is
computed using the shorter of the estimated useful lives or the terms of their respective leases, generally one to nine years. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Assets held under capital leases are recorded at the net present value of the minimum lease payments of the leased asset at the inception of the
lease. Amortization expense is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the period
of the related lease and is included in depreciation expense.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Costs to develop internal use software are capitalized provided these costs are expected to be recoverable, and are amortized on a
product-by-product basis using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the application, which is generally two to five years,
beginning when the asset is substantially ready for use. Costs incurred during the preliminary development stage, as well as maintenance and
training costs are expensed as incurred. The Company capitalized software development costs of $18.7 million, $15.7 million, and $14.6 million
for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Amortization of internal software development costs is reflected in cost of
revenue.

Business Combinations

Goodwill is recorded as the difference, if any, between the aggregate consideration paid for an acquisition and the fair value of the acquired net
tangible and intangible assets. While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions as a part of the determination of fair value to
accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the business combination date, the Company�s estimates and assumptions are
inherently subject to refinement. As a result, during the preliminary determination of fair value, which may be up to one year from the business
combination date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with a corresponding offset to goodwill. After
the completion of the determination of fair value, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired or liabilities assumed subsequent to
the completion of the determination of fair value in the Company�s operating results in the period in which the adjustments were determined.
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The Company also incurs acquisition-related and other expenses including legal, banker, accounting and other advisory fees of third parties and
severance costs for certain employees of the acquired company that were terminated as of the acquisition date.

Restructuring Costs

The Company�s restructuring charges are comprised primarily of employee termination costs related to headcount reductions. A liability for costs
associated with an exit or disposal activity is recognized and measured initially at fair value only when the liability is incurred. The Company
reassesses the liability periodically based on market conditions. In fiscal 2011, the Company accrued and expensed restructuring costs of $0.2
million.

Goodwill

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment at least annually or as circumstances
indicate that their value may no longer be recoverable. The Company does not have intangible assets with indefinite useful lives other than
goodwill. Goodwill impairment testing is a two-step process: first, the Company tests for impairment, and if any possible impairment exists,
undertakes a second step of measuring such impairment. The Company generally performs its goodwill impairment test annually in its fourth
fiscal quarter, and the last impairment test was completed as of October 1, 2011. The guidance for goodwill and other intangible assets requires
impairment testing based on reporting units. The Company periodically re-evaluates its business and has determined that it operates in two
segments, which the Company also considers its reporting units. Therefore, goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level.

For purposes of goodwill impairment testing, the Company estimates its fair value using generally accepted valuation methodologies, including
market and income based approaches, and relevant data available through and as of the testing date. The market approach is a valuation method
in which fair value is estimated based on observed prices in actual transactions and on asking prices for similar assets. Under the market
approach, the valuation process is essentially that of comparison and correlation between the subject asset and other similar assets. The income
approach is a method in which fair value is estimated based on the cash flows that an asset could be expected to generate over its useful life,
including residual value cash flows. These cash flows are then discounted to their present value using a rate of return that accounts for the
relative risk of not realizing the estimated annual cash flows and for the time value of money. To date, the Company has determined that there
has been no impairment of goodwill.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets which includes amortizable intangible and tangible assets in accordance with
authoritative guidance on accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. Acquired intangible assets with definite useful lives are
amortized over their useful lives. The Company evaluates long-lived assets, other than goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The Company recognizes such impairment in the event the
net book value of such assets exceeds their fair value. No long-lived assets impairment losses were incurred in the fiscal periods presented.

Registration Fees Payable

Registration fees payable represent the portion of the registration fees payable to event organizers, park and recreation department
administrators, league administrators and other customers. Cash collected on behalf of customers is included in cash and cash equivalents prior
to remitting the amounts owed to the Company�s customers.
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Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers in advance of the delivery or performance of products and/or services or before
the satisfaction of all revenue recognition requirements. Costs directly attributable to the deferred revenue are also deferred until the related
revenue is recognized.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock incentive plans under which options to purchase common stock and restricted stock units have been granted to
employees, consultants and directors. The stock options have been granted to employees with exercise prices equal to the fair value of the
underlying stock. Prior to the IPO, the board of directors determined the value of the underlying stock by considering a number of factors,
including historical and projected financial results, the risks the Company faced at the time, the preferences of the Company�s preferred stock and
the lack of liquidity of the Company�s common stock. After the IPO, the fair value of common stock was determined using the quoted closing
market price of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant.

Under the Company�s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the �ESPP�), eligible officers and employees may purchase a limited amount of common
stock at a discount to the market price in accordance with the terms of the plan as described in Note 16.

The Company can grant stock awards that contain certain performance conditions. The Company recognizes compensation cost for awards with
performance conditions when the performance conditions have been determined and based upon the probability of that performance condition
being met, net of an estimate for pre-vesting forfeitures.

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the most appropriate method for determining the estimated fair value of its
share-based awards. The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions which determine the fair value of
share-based awards, including the option�s expected term and the price volatility of the underlying stock. The Company estimates its expected
term and the expected volatility of its common stock on the date of grant based on the average expected term and the average volatilities of
similar publicly-traded entities. The fair value of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest is recognized over the requisite service periods
on a straight-line basis in the Company�s consolidated statements of operations. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

Income Taxes

The Company makes certain estimates and judgments in determining income tax expense for financial statement purposes. These estimates and
judgments occur in the calculation of certain tax assets and liabilities, which arise from differences in the timing of recognition of revenue and
expense for tax and financial statement purposes.

The Company assesses the likelihood that it will be able to recover its deferred tax assets. The Company considers all available evidence, both
positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income and
ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance. If it is more likely than not that the
Company will not recover its deferred tax assets, the Company will increase its provision for taxes by recording a valuation allowance against
the deferred tax assets that it estimates will not ultimately be recoverable.

The Company�s income tax returns are based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service
and other tax authorities. In addition, the calculation of the Company�s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of
complex tax regulations. The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to
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evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the
position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax
benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While the Company believes it has appropriate
support for the positions taken on its tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of examinations by tax authorities in
determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes. The Company continually assesses the likelihood and amount of potential
adjustments and adjusts the income tax provision, income taxes payable and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a
revision become known.

Advertising Expense

Advertising costs are expensed as they are incurred. The Company incurred advertising costs of approximately $3.3 million, $2.2 million and
$1.6 million for years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Advertising costs are included in sales and marketing on the
consolidated statements of operations.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency for the majority of the Company�s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. For those subsidiaries, the assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at average
exchange rates for the period. Certain foreign subsidiaries designate the U.S. dollar as the functional currency. For those subsidiaries, assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currency are remeasured into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates for monetary assets and liabilities and
historical exchange rates for nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Foreign currency translation adjustments are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholders� equity (deficit) or in other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Foreign currency exchange gains and losses are recorded in other income (expense), net. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses were $0.1
million, $0.3 million and ($0.6) million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of two components, net loss and other comprehensive loss. Other comprehensive loss refers to revenue, expenses,
gains and losses that under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles are recorded as an element of stockholders� equity (deficit) but are
excluded from net loss. The Company�s other comprehensive loss consists of foreign currency translation adjustments from those subsidiaries not
using the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. The Company has disclosed comprehensive loss as a component of stockholders� equity
(deficit).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued an update to increase the prominence of items reported in other
comprehensive income. This update eliminates the option to present components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of
changes in stockholders� equity and requires an entity to present comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive
income or in two separate but consecutive statements. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15,
2011, and is to be applied retrospectively. This guidance will affect the presentation of other comprehensive income but will not affect the
Company�s financial position or results of operations.

In September 2011, the FASB issued revised guidance to simplify how entities test goodwill for impairment. Under the revised guidance,
entities have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount as a basis for
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determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. If, after assessing qualitative factors, an entity determines
it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is
required. Otherwise, no further testing is necessary. The updates are effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011 with early adoption permitted. The Company will adopt this revised guidance during the annual
goodwill impairment test in the year ended December 31, 2012, and does not expect that the adoption will have a material effect on the
Company�s consolidated financial statements.

3. Business Combinations

Acquisition of StarCite, Inc.

On December 30, 2011, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of StarCite, Inc. (�StarCite�), a provider of a
technology platform that delivers content and services for meetings and event planning to corporations, hotels, venues and meetings suppliers for
consideration of $56.5 million in cash and shares of the Company�s common stock. The acquisition enables the Company to provide an
integrated solution for the events space and broaden its customer base.

Total consideration comprised $38.1 million in cash, 1,350,000 shares of common stock with a fair value of approximately $18.4 million and
150,000 shares of contingently issuable common stock with a fair value of approximately $1.1 million to be issued in the event that the
Company�s shares of common stock do not close trading at or above $15.00 per share on the New York Stock Exchange for at least three
consecutive days at any time during the sixty day period following the effective date of a registration statement filed to register the shares issued,
pursuant to the agreement and plan of merger. The estimated fair value of the contingent consideration was determined using the Monte Carlo
Simulation approach, which involves key assumptions including the estimated contingency period, volatility of the common stock and the
probability of achieving the targeted price and was included in current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. This estimated fair value of
the contingent consideration may differ from the amount that is ultimately payable with any changes in the liability recorded as
acquisition-related costs in the Company�s consolidated statements of operations until the common stock has been registered.

The acquisition agreement included an initial escrow of approximately $0.3 million in cash to cover potential expenses of the securityholders�
agent and 300,000 common shares valued at approximately $4.1 million, based on the closing price of the Company�s common stock on the last
trading day of fiscal 2011 to satisfy any claims under the indemnification provisions of the agreement for a period of 12 months following the
acquisition date. The purchase price is also subject to adjustment based on certain minimum closing working capital thresholds defined under the
purchase agreement, which are expected to be settled in the first half of fiscal 2012.
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As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company is still finalizing the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. The primary areas of those preliminary estimates that are not yet finalized related to certain tangible liabilities acquired and
identifiable intangible assets, which is expected to be completed during 2012. The estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
for the StarCite acquisition, as of the date of the acquisition, is as follows (in thousands) (unaudited):

Cash $ 572
Restricted cash 692
Accounts receivable 14,566
Prepaid and other assets 1,301
Fixed assets 1,912
Goodwill 21,867
Intangible assets 36,500
Accounts payable (1,398) 
Accrued expenses (5,400) 
Deferred revenue (11,402) 
Capital lease obligations (480) 
Other liabilities (1,494) 
Unfavorable leases (695) 

Total purchase price $ 56,541

The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase business combination. The following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets
acquired as of the date of the acquisition (dollars in thousands) (unaudited):

Gross Amount
at 

Acquisition
Date

Amortization
Period

Trademarks $ 5,100 9 years
Customer relationships 17,300 9 years
Customer contracts 6,800 3 years
Complete technology 6,500 9 years
Non-compete agreements 800 1 year

$ 36,500

Goodwill of $21.9 million, none of which is deductible for tax purposes, represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value
assigned to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed from StarCite. The carrying amount of goodwill is
allocated to the technology operating segment of the Company.

The Company also entered into termination agreements with certain StarCite executives in connection with the acquisition resulting in an
expense of approximately $1.9 million. These expenses have been treated as acquisition-related expenses and have been included in the
consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Pro Forma Financial Information (unaudited)

The following table presents the unaudited pro forma results for fiscal 2011 and 2010. The unaudited pro forma financial information combines
the results of operations of the Company and StarCite as though the companies had been combined as of the beginning of fiscal 2010. The pro
forma financial information for all periods presented also includes the business combination accounting effects resulting from these acquisitions
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including amortization charges from acquired intangible assets as though StarCite was combined as of the beginning of fiscal year 2010. The pro
forma financial information as presented below is for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would
have been achieved if the acquisition of StarCite had taken place at the beginning of fiscal year 2010.

Twelve Months  Ended
December 31,

      2011            2010      
(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except per share data)
Net revenue $ 382,480 $ 324,088
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (30,632) $ (67,920)
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common
shareholders $ (0.82) $ (8.06)

Acquisition of RTP, LLC

In November 2011, the Company completed the purchase of all of the outstanding units of RTP, LLC (�RTP�), a provider of integrated resort
software and solutions. The acquisition enables the Company to strengthen its position as a technology leader and broaden its customer base into
the resort space. The purchase consideration was approximately $21.5 million in cash.

The acquisition agreement included an initial escrow of approximately $2.1 million of the total purchase price consideration to satisfy any
claims under the indemnification provisions of the agreement for a period of 18 months from the acquisition date. The purchase price is also
subject to adjustment based on certain minimum closing working capital thresholds defined under the purchase agreement, which are expected to
be settled in the first half of fiscal 2012.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company is still finalizing the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. The primary areas of those preliminary estimates that are not yet finalized related to certain tangible assets acquired and identifiable
intangible assets, which is expected to be completed during 2012. The estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the RTP
acquisition, as of the date of the acquisition, is as follows (in thousands) (unaudited):

Cash $ 903
Accounts receivable 5,648
Prepaid and other assets 1,050
Fixed assets 309
Goodwill 3,394
Intangible assets 15,960
Accounts payable (2,821) 
Accrued expenses (435) 
Deferred revenue (2,375) 
Other liabilities (133) 

Total purchase price $ 21,500
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The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase business combination. The following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets
acquired as of the date of the acquisition (dollars in thousands) (unaudited):

Gross Amount
at 

Acquisition
Date

Amortization
Period

Trademarks $ 1,350 5 years
Customer relationships 9,700 13 years
Customer contracts 510 2 years
Complete technology 2,900 9 years
Non-compete agreements 1,500 3 years

$ 15,960

Goodwill of $3.4 million, which is deductible for tax purposes, represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value assigned
to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed from RTP. Approximately $3.0 million and $0.4 million of the
carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the technology and marketing services operating segments of the Company, respectively.

Acquisition of ServiceU

In October 2011, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common shares of ServiceU, a provider of web-based solutions for giving, event
registration, ticketing, calendaring and resource management. The acquisition enables the Company to strengthen its position as a technology
leader and broaden its customer base in the faith space. The purchase consideration was approximately $11.1 million in cash.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company is still finalizing the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. The primary areas of those preliminary estimates that are not yet finalized related to certain tangible assets acquired and identifiable
intangible assets, which is expected to be completed during 2012. The estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the
ServiceU acquisition, as of the date of the acquisition, is as follows (in thousands) (unaudited):

Cash $ 13
Accounts receivable 201
Prepaid and other assets 51
Fixed assets 249
Goodwill 4,388
Intangible assets 10,377
Accounts payable (21) 
Accrued expenses (132) 
Deferred revenue (42) 
Capital lease obligations (120) 
Deferred tax liability (3,914) 

Total purchase price $ 11,050
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The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase business combination. The following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets
acquired as of the date of the acquisition (dollars in thousands) (unaudited):

Gross Amount
at Acquisition

Date
Amortization

Period
Trademarks $ 250 2 years
Customer relationships 8,300 14 years
Complete technology 1,229 6 years
Non-compete agreements 598 3 years

$ 10,377

Goodwill of $4.4 million, none of which is deductible for tax purposes, represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value
assigned to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed from ServiceU. The carrying amount of goodwill is
allocated to the technology operating segment of the Company.

Fellowship Technologies, Inc.

In February 2011, the Company acquired Fellowship Technologies, Inc. (�Fellowship�), a provider of web-based software to religious institutions.
The acquisition enables the Company to strengthen its position as a technology leader and broaden its customer base in the faith space. The
purchase consideration was approximately 1,125,000 shares of the Company�s common stock valued at approximately $8.9 million.

The estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the Fellowship acquisition, as of the date of the acquisition, is as follows
(in thousands):

Cash $ 520
Accounts receivable 195
Prepaid and other assets 15
Fixed assets 530
Security deposits 58
Goodwill 5,680
Intangible assets 3,568
Accounts payable (101) 
Deferred revenue (528) 
Capital lease obligations (481) 
Other liabilities (187) 
Unfavorable leases (404) 

Total purchase price $ 8,865

The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase business combination. The following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets
acquired as of the date of the acquisition (dollars in thousands):

Gross Amount
at

Acquisition
Date

Amortization
Period

Trademarks $ 197 3 years
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Complete technology 641 4 years

$ 3,568
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Goodwill of $5.7 million, which is deductible for tax purposes, represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value assigned
to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Fellowship. Approximately $5.7 million of the carrying
amount of goodwill is allocated to the technology operating segment of the Company.

Other Business Combinations

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company acquired operations from two other businesses including a provider of web-based
church management solutions and a provider of online registration for endurance events. The Company acquired the assets of these two
businesses in exchange for $4.6 million in cash. These acquisitions enable the Company to strengthen its position as a technology leader and
broaden its customer base in the faith and endurance spaces. The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was as follows (in
thousands):

Cash $ 14
Accounts receivable 145
Prepaid and other assets 12
Goodwill 1,362
Intangible assets 3,427
Accounts payable (20) 
Accrued expenses (27) 
Deferred revenue (296) 

Total purchase price $ 4,617

The acquisitions were accounted for as purchase business combinations. The excess of the purchase price over the aggregate fair value was
recorded as goodwill, which is deductible for tax purposes. The following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets acquired as of the
date of the acquisition (dollars in thousands):

Gross Amount
at Acquisition

Date
Amortization

Period
Customer contract/relationships $ 3,392 3 years
Complete technology 35 3 years

$ 3,427

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company acquired operations from an integrated website provider and certain assets of a
provider of online and mobile communications software and related technology services for event registrations in exchange for $0.1 million in
cash and 223,500 shares of the Company�s common stock valued at approximately $0.9 million. In addition, the Company may be required to
make earn-out payments between fiscal 2011 through 2015 based on the achievement of certain sales milestones in each of the respective years.
The Company determined that the achievement of the milestones is not likely, and therefore, no liability was recorded as of December 31, 2011
or 2010. These acquisitions enable the Company to strengthen its position as a technology leader and broaden its customer base. The estimated
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was as follows (in thousands):

Accounts receivable $ 136
Goodwill 155
Intangible assets 752
Other liabilities (22) 
Gain on bargain purchase (21) 
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The acquisitions were accounted for as purchase business combinations. For one acquisition, the excess of the purchase price over the aggregate
fair value was recorded as goodwill, which is deductible for tax purposes. For the other acquisition, the Company realized an immaterial benefit
in the consolidated statements of operations for the excess of the aggregate fair value of the assets acquired over the purchase price. The
following table summarizes the identifiable intangible assets acquired as of the date of the acquisition (dollars in thousands):

Gross Amount
at Acquisition

Date
Amortization

Period
Customer contract/relationships $ 752 3 years

As part of one acquisition, the Company received approximately $3.0 million to subsidize certain costs of building and maintaining the
infrastructure necessary to service customer contracts. This amount has been deferred on the Company�s consolidated balance sheets and is being
amortized to general and administrative expenses on the Company�s consolidated statements of operations over the expected life of the contract.
Amortization was approximately $0.8 million, $0.2 million and $0 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

4. Fair Value Measurements

FASB guidance for fair value measurements clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that
should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such
assumptions, the guidance establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows: (Level 1)
observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; (Level 2) inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable
either directly or indirectly; and (Level 3) unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop
its own assumptions. This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when determining fair value.

The Company�s cash equivalents are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted market prices or
broker or dealer quotations. The types of instruments valued based on quoted market prices in active markets include most U.S. government and
agency securities, sovereign government obligations and money market securities. Such instruments are generally classified within Level 1 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The Company�s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of December 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2011
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Accrued liabilities:
Contingent consideration associated with business combination (Note 3) $ �  $ �  $ 1,124 $ 1,124
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The Company�s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of December 31, 2010 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2010
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 18,169 $ �  $ �  $ 18,169
Accrued liabilities:
Contingent consideration associated with business combination (Note 3) $ �  $ �  $ 625 $ 625

Level 3 liabilities include contingent consideration payables to selling shareholders, the values of which were determined based on the
probability of achieving specific targets. Any change in the fair value of the contingent milestone consideration subsequent to the acquisition
date will be recognized in earnings. This fair value measurement is based on significant inputs not observed in the market and thus represents a
Level 3 measurement. Level 3 instruments are valued based on unobserved inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the
Company�s own assumptions in measuring fair value.

The following table provides a reconciliation of liabilities measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year
ended December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Contingent
Consideration

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 600
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration 25

Balance at December 31, 2010 625
Settlement of contingent consideration (625) 
Contingent consideration associated with business combination 1,124

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 1,124

5. Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable, net, by category is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

Accounts receivable $ 54,101 $ 26,850
Registration receivable 14,006 8,626
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,638) (1,380) 

Accounts receivable, net $ 66,469 $ 34,096

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers� financial condition and generally requires no collateral from its customers.
Allowances for doubtful accounts are established based on various factors including credit profiles of the Company�s customers, contractual
terms and conditions, historical payments, returns and discounts experience and current economic trends. The Company reviews its allowances
by assessing individual accounts receivable over a specific aging and amount, and all other balances on a pooled basis based on historical
collection experience. Accounts receivable are written off on a case-by-case basis, net of any amounts that may be collected. The Company had
write-offs of the allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.9 million and $6.3 million during fiscal year 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment by category is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

Computer and software $ 63,947 $ 46,653
Furniture and fixtures 10,586 9,529
Leasehold improvements 3,438 2,421

Total 77,971 58,603
Less: Accumulated depreciation (44,141) (30,422) 

Property and equipment, net $ 33,830 $ 28,181

Depreciation expense was $14.0 million, $13.4 million, and $10.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Included in fixed assets are $9.5 million and $6.1 million of equipment under capital lease at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
Accumulated amortization of assets under capital lease totaled $5.5 million and $3.2 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

7. Software Development Costs

Capitalized software development costs are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

Software development costs $ 65,696 $ 47,691
Less: Accumulated amortization (20,603) (10,678) 

Software development costs, net $ 45,093 $ 37,013

Amortization expense was $10.4 million, $5.8 million and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

8. Goodwill

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011 and is as follows (in thousands):

Technology
Services

Marketing
Services Total

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 190,686 $ 12,324 $ 203,010
Goodwill arising from acquisitions 155 �  155
Adjustments related to prior year acquisitions 2,686 �  2,686
Effect of exchange rate changes 1,262 �  1,262

Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 194,789 $ 12,324 $ 207,113
Goodwill arising from acquisitions 36,297 394 36,691
Effect of exchange rate changes (484) �  (484) 
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Adjustments to goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2010 represent contingent consideration and net asset settlement adjustments
recorded during the year that related to acquisitions made in the preceding period(s).

9. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are amortized using a combination of straight-line and accelerated methods based on the expected cash flows from the assets.
Estimated useful lives as of December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Estimated Life

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life

Intellectual property 2 to 10 years 4.1 years
Non-compete agreements 1 to 3 years 2.3 years
Customer relationships 3 to 15 years 6.6 years
Trade names 1 to 10 years 7.4 years
Customer contracts 2 to 6 years 2.3 years

The carrying values of amortized intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Intellectual property $ 36,609 $ (20,351) $ 16,258 $ 25,571 $ (14,992) $ 10,579
Non-compete agreements 3,850 (1,085) 2,765 952 (922) 30
Customer relationships 67,891 (26,799) 41,092 26,516 (21,685) 4,831
Trade names 16,568 (5,566) 11,002 9,796 (4,713) 5,083
Customer contracts 52,219 (32,996) 19,223 45,344 (24,659) 20,685

Total intangible assets, net 177,137 $ (86,797) $ 90,340 $ 108,179 $ (66,971) $ 41,208

Amortization of intellectual property is recorded in cost of revenue, while the amortization of other acquired intangible assets is included in
operating expenses. The following table summarizes the amortization expense of acquired intangible assets for the periods indicated (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Cost of revenue�Technology $ 4,992 $ 4,376 $ 4,380
Cost of revenue�Marketing 517 534 576
Operating expenses 14,962 16,147 18,491

Total $ 20,471 $ 21,057 $ 23,447

The estimated future amortization of acquired intangible assets as of December 31, 2011 is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
2012 $ 27,850
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2014 11,231
2015 7,574
2016 6,585
Thereafter 17,273

Total $ 90,340
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10. Accrued Expenses

The following table presents the detail of accrued expenses for the periods presented (in thousands):

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

Accrued compensation $ 17,875 $ 13,678
Sales and other foreign taxes 5,006 5,191
Accrued penalties 3,154 720
Accrued rebates 1,846 1,382
Other 13,225 11,201

Accrued expenses $ 41,106 $ 32,172

As of December 31, 2011, accrued compensation was comprised of accrued salaries of $10.7 million, accrued personal time off of $1.0 million,
accrued self-insurance of $0.8 million, amounts payable for 401K contributions of $0.1 million, deferred bonuses of $4.9 million, and
accumulated employee deductions for stock purchase under the Company�s Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $0.4. As of December 31, 2010,
accrued compensation was comprised of accrued salaries of $4.6 million, accrued personal time off of $0.3 million, amounts payable for 401K
contributions of $0.1 million, and deferred bonuses of $8.7 million.

11. Long-Term Debt and Lines of Credit

2011 Credit Agreement

In December 2011, the Company entered into a five-year, senior secured revolving credit facility, with certain institutional lenders, for an initial
aggregate principal amount of $50 million (the �Credit Facility�). The Credit Facility has a maturity date of December 16, 2016, but the
outstanding amounts may be prepaid at any time without penalty or premium (except for certain customary break funding payments in
connection with LIBOR loans) and is available to fund acquisitions and ongoing operations.

The Credit Facility also includes an �accordion� feature which allows the Company, subject to certain terms and conditions, to increase the lending
commitments by up to $25 million.

Any advance under the Credit Facility will accrue interest at rates per annum that are equal to, based on certain conditions, either (a) 1.5% above
the applicable LIBOR rate, or (b) 0.5% above (i) the greatest of (x) the prime rate, (y) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5% or (z) a daily
rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 1.00%. The unused portion of the Credit Facility will also be subject to an unused fee that will be
calculated at a per annum rate of 0.25%. The interest rate under the Credit Facility was 3.75% as of December 31, 2011.

Under the Credit Facility, the Company is required to comply with certain financial covenants and ratios, including a quarterly consolidated
leverage ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness to EBITDA of not more than 2.5 to 1.0 and a quarterly consolidated fixed charge coverage
ratio of not less than 1.5 to 1.0. Substantially all of the Company�s tangible and intangible assets are considered collateral security under the
Secured Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with all specified financial covenants.

The Company had $5.0 million outstanding, under the swing line loan facility at December 31, 2011. There was $39.8 million available under
the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2011.

Convertible Debt Purchase Agreement

In September 2009, the Company entered into a convertible debt purchase agreement (�Convertible Debt�) for up to $10 million with certain
lenders whereby the Company issued convertible unsecured promissory notes
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totaling $4 million payable in two years at a non-compounded annual stated and effective interest rate of 10%. In the event of an extension of the
maturity date, the interest rate would change to LIBOR plus 7%, up to the lesser of (i) 15% per annum or (ii) the maximum amount legally
permissible. The Convertible Debt was repayable at any time after the six-month anniversary of the issuance date. In the event the Convertible
Debt was repaid prior to the one-year anniversary of the issuance date, the incremental interest would have amounted to 10% of such
repayments. The holders of the notes had the option of exercising their conversion rights prior to such repayments. The conversion rate was
based on the sum of the unpaid principal and interest divided by $16 to determine the number of common shares issuable upon conversion, and
adjusted for anti-dilution effects (Note 20). Borrowings under the Convertible Debt were subject to the non-occurrence of a material adverse
change in the business, operations (financial or otherwise) of the Company, or a material impairment of the prospect of repayment of any portion
of the Company�s outstanding obligations. As of December 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance with this covenant.

The maturity date of the Convertible Debt could be extended by an additional year by (A) consent of the Company and lenders holding at least a
majority of the principal amount of the Convertible Debt, or (B) at the sole discretion of the Company.

In June 2011, the Company fully repaid $1.0 million of the outstanding principal amount. The early repayment did not result in any gain or loss
on extinguishment of the debt. The remaining $3.0 million of outstanding principal and $0.5 million of accrued interest was converted into
218,989 shares of the Company�s common stock in June 2011, reducing the outstanding principal amount to $0 million at December 31, 2011.
The option to convert was considered substantive, and therefore no incremental charge was recorded upon conversion of the debt.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010 outstanding borrowings under the Convertible Debt were $0 and $4.0 million, respectively.

2008 Loan and Security Agreement

In October 2008, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (�LSA�) with Square 1 Bank (�Square 1�) which allowed the Company
to borrow up to $5.0 million under a term loan and up to $7.0 million under a line of credit (�Line�). For borrowings under the term loan, the
Company was required to make interest-only payments on a monthly basis for the first six months, after which borrowings were repayable over
30 months. The interest rate for the term loan was prime plus 1% and was due to mature in October 2011. For borrowings under the LSA, the
Company was required to maintain a cash balance of $5.0 million in an account with Square 1 which was presented as restricted cash on the
Company�s consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2010. Under the terms of the Line, borrowings cannot exceed 80% of the Company�s
eligible accounts receivable and carry an interest rate of prime plus 1% and was to mature on July 2010. The loan was collateralized by
substantially all of the Company�s assets, excluding certain client cash and intellectual property, and was subject to certain covenants which, if
not met, could constitute an event of default. These covenants included maintaining the required quick ratio and the non-occurrence of a material
adverse change in the business, operations or conditions of the Company. As of December 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance with all
specified financial covenants.

In April 2010, the LSA was amended to allow the Company to grant to Central Bank a junior lien on an asset and to revise the earnout payment
schedule.

In May 2010, the LSA was amended to adjust the quick ratio to be at least 1:1.

In July 2010, the LSA was amended to change the interest rate for advances under the Line to the greater of (i) prime plus 1% or (ii) 5% and
further extended the maturity date to July 2011. The amendment also changed the amount the Company is allowed to borrow under the Line to
$12.0 million less borrowings outstanding under the term loan.
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In May 2011, the Company fully repaid $4.7 million of the outstanding principal of the term loan under the LSA. The early repayment of the
debt did not result in any gain or loss on extinguishment.

In August 2011, the LSA was amended to extend the maturity date to August 2012.

In December 2011, in connection with the 2011 Credit Agreement, the LSA was terminated. In connection with termination of the LSA, the
Company reduced its restricted cash balance to $0.8 million.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, outstanding borrowings from Square 1 were $0 and $1.7 million, respectively under the term loan and $0
and $7.3 million, respectively under the Line.

ALS Acquisition Notes Payable

In connection with the ALS acquisition, the Company assumed approximately $7.3 million of debt held by Pinnacle Financial Partners
(�Pinnacle�) and the Bank of Celina (�Celina�). Subsequent to the acquisition, the Company refinanced approximately $1.8 million of the debt with
Pinnacle. Under the terms of the loans held by Pinnacle, the Company was required to make principal and interest payments, on a monthly basis,
over a period of 36 months to 60 months at interest rates ranging from 6.25% to 9.25% per annum. Under the terms of the loan held by Celina,
the Company was required to make principal and interest payments, on a monthly basis, over a period of 180 months at an interest rate of
3.5% per annum.

In May 2011, the Company fully repaid $2.0 million of the outstanding principal amount of the long-term debt held by Pinnacle and Celina. The
early repayment did not result in any gain or loss on extinguishment of the debt.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, outstanding borrowings from Pinnacle were $0 and $2.6 million and outstanding borrowings
from Celina were $0 and $0.2 million.

ALS Acquisition Earn Out Agreement

In connection with the ALS acquisition, the Company entered into an earn-out payment agreement to pay $1.9 million over a three-year period
commencing November 2009 at an interest rate of 5% per annum. Principal and interest was payable on a quarterly basis.

In May 2011, the Company fully repaid $0.8 million of the outstanding principal amount of the earn-out payment. The early repayment did not
result in any gain or loss on extinguishment of the debt.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the remaining earn-out payable to ALS was $0 and $1.0 million, respectively.

2007 Loan and Security Agreement

In March 2007, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the �Agreement�) with Escalate Capital I, L.P. (�Escalate�) and Gold Hill
Capital Venture Lending 03, L.P. (�Gold Hill�) which allowed the Company to draw a minimum of $15 million, up to a maximum of $20 million
from a financial institution. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company was required to make interest-only payments on a monthly basis
through February 2009 bearing an interest rate of 6.75% per annum, after which borrowings under the agreement were repayable over 24 months
at an interest rate of 6.75% per annum. In addition, a payment-in-kind (�PIK�) interest was added to the outstanding principal amount at a rate of
3.15% compounded monthly and was payable at the earlier of maturity or repayment of the loan. The Company had the option to repay the loans
without penalty prior to maturity. In conjunction with the Agreement, the Company issued 146,710 warrants to Escalate and 107,530 warrants to
Gold Hill (Note 15). The loan was collateralized by substantially all of the Company�s assets, excluding certain registration cash and intellectual
property and restricted the Company�s ability to raise additional debt financing and pay dividends.
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In December 2007, the Agreement was amended to increase borrowings up to $35 million.

In April 2009, the Agreement was amended to extend the repayment commencement dates and the maturity dates of Gold Hill advances.
Outstanding borrowings were repayable over a 24 month period beginning in March 2010 through December 2012. The amendment required the
payment of certain fees and costs of up to $0.1 million to the financial institution, and at the end of the repayment period, the Company was
required to make a final payment of $0.3 million. If any portion of the loan made by this financial institution was prepaid, a corresponding
portion of the final payment would also be required to be prepaid.

In April 2010, the Agreement was amended to change the interest rate for Escalate from 6.75% to 12% and eliminate the 3.15% PIK interest
commencing on February 1, 2010. The amended agreement also changed the principal payment schedule of the remaining balance. In addition,
the Company issued 20,000 warrants to Escalate to purchase the Company�s common stock (Note 15).

In December 2010, the Company entered into an amendment to the debt agreement with Gold Hill and Escalate to change the principal payment
schedule of the remaining balance and to extend the maturity date to May 2012, which the Company treated as a modification to its existing
debt. The amendment to the Gold Hill agreement also changed the interest rate from 6.75% to 12% and eliminated the 3.15% PIK interest
commencing on December 1, 2010. In addition, Gold Hill and Escalate were issued warrants to purchase 23,500 and 31,500 shares of common
stock, respectively (Note 15).

In May 2011, the Company fully repaid $23.7 million of the outstanding principal and the Agreement was terminated. The early repayment
resulted in a loss on extinguishment of the debt of $0.5 million, which is reflected in interest expense in the Company�s consolidated statements
of operations. The warrants were net exercised on the closing date of the Company�s IPO and the Company issued 131,021 and 198,196 shares of
common stock to Gold Hill and Escalate, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had outstanding borrowings of $0 and $13.0 million with Escalate, respectively and
outstanding borrowings of $0 and $14.6 million with Gold Hill, respectively.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases its office and datacenter facilities under noncancelable leases that expire at various times through 2021. The Company is
also responsible for certain real estate taxes, utilities and maintenance costs on its office facilities. Rent expense was approximately $11.4
million, $9.6 million and $9.4 million for year ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating and capital lease agreements as of December 31, 2011 are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
Operating

Leases
Capital
Leases

2012 $ 12,705 $ 3,635
2013 9,835 1,250
2014 7,267 444
2015 6,509 21
2016 6,567 �  
Thereafter 8,394 �  

Total minimum lease payments $ 51,277 5,350

Less amount representing interest (381) 

Present value of capital lease payments 4,969
Less current portion of capital lease (3,317) 

Long-term obligation under capital lease $ 1,652

Included in future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2011 is $13.8 million under noncancelable office and facility leases that the
Company assumed in connection with business combinations during fiscal 2011 and that expire at various times through 2021.

Guarantees

The Company enters into arrangements with third-party customers to guarantee performance by the Company. The Company may provide a
corporate guarantee, irrevocable letter of credit, surety bond or any other form of guarantee acceptable to the third-party customer. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company had guarantees of $14.2 million.

Sales and Use Tax

The Company accrues for sales and use taxes in certain states. The Company performed an analysis of its potential liability in states where it had
not previously remitted these taxes. Based on the results of the analysis, the Company established a reserve for estimated claims from states
where sales and use tax had not been remitted of $4.3 million and $3.4 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Income Tax Assessment

The Company�s Canadian subsidiary received a tax assessment from the Canadian Revenue Agency related to the 2005, 2006 and 2007 tax years
with a net cash impact of approximately $0.9 million due to the transfer pricing methodology used related to royalties paid by the Company�s
Canadian subsidiary to the Company. In addition to the amounts assessed, it is possible that the Company could also be assessed for interest and
penalties on the tax assessment. The Company believes that it has a good defense against this matter and does not believe it is more likely than
not a loss will be incurred.

Indemnification

The Company enters into indemnification arrangements in the ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these arrangements, the Company
indemnifies, holds harmless and agrees to reimburse the indemnified parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, in
connection with any trade secret, copyright, patent or other intellectual property infringement claim by any third-party with respect to its
technology. The term of these
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indemnification agreements is generally perpetual any time after the execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to make under these agreements is not determinable because it involves claims that may be made
against the Company in the future, but have not yet been made. The Company has not incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to
these indemnification agreements.

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and officers that may require the Company to indemnify its
directors and officers against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising
from willful misconduct of the individual.

Loss Contingencies

The Company is subject to the possibility of various loss contingencies arising in the ordinary course of business. Management considers the
likelihood of loss or impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a liability, as well as its ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in
determining loss contingencies. An estimated loss contingency is accrued when it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has
been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company regularly evaluates current information available to its
management to determine whether such accruals should be adjusted and whether new accruals are required.

In the normal course of business, the Company may incur penalties from customers related to power outages or other technical disruptions. As a
result of this potential exposure, the Company accrued liabilities of $3.2 million and $0.7 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Penalties are reflected as a reduction in revenue or as an increase to cost of revenue in the Company�s consolidated statements of
operations.

In December 2010, the Company became aware of a security breach in one of the legacy computer systems it acquired in an acquisition. This
breach could potentially result in an unauthorized acquisition and use of credit card data and could result in assessments or damages from claims
asserted by organizers or participants. The Company has performed an internal investigation to assess the potential exposure of the breach and
determined it to be insignificant; accordingly, no amounts have been accrued as of December 31, 2011 or 2010. To date the Company has paid
approximately $0.1 million in assessments associated with this breach.

13. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company is involved in disputes, litigation and other legal actions. The Company records a charge equal to at least the
minimum estimated liability for a loss contingency only when both of the following conditions are met: (i) information available prior to
issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the
financial statements, and (ii) the range of loss can be reasonably estimated. The actual liability in any such matters may be materially different
from the Company�s estimates, which could result in the need to adjust the liability and record additional expenses. The Company has not
recorded an accrual for any potential losses as of December 31, 2011 or 2010.

14. Preferred Stock

Effective May 25, 2011, all shares of convertible preferred stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted into 8,807,090 and
25,824,801 shares of common stock, respectively, in connection with the Company�s IPO as described in Note 1. After the completion of the IPO
in May 2011, the Company amended its certificate of incorporation and reduced the authorized number of shares of preferred stock to
100,000,000.
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15. Stockholders� Equity (Deficit)

Common Stock

After the completion of the IPO in May 2011, the Company amended its certificate of incorporation and increased its authorized number of
shares of common stock to 1,000,000,000.

Holders of common stock are entitled to dividends if and when declared by the Board of Directors and after obtaining the majority consent of
preferred stockholders.

Each share of common stock has the right to one vote per share. Each restricted stock purchase right has the right to one vote per share and the
right to receive dividends or other distributions paid or made with respect to common shares, subject to restrictions for continued employment
service.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

As of December 31, 2011, the Company reserved the following shares of common stock for future issuances in connection with the following:

Options/Restricted stock units outstanding 12,267,935
Options/Restricted stock units available for future grants 3,298,733
Shares available to be purchased under the employee stock purchase plan 1,071,424
Performance-based restricted stock units 67,099
Contingent consideration associated with business combination 150,000
Warrants to purchase common stock 634

Total 16,855,825

Common Stock Warrants

During 2006, in connection with a Master Service Agreement (�MSA�) with the United States Tennis Association (�USTA�), the Company issued
warrants to purchase 239,027 shares of the Company�s common stock at an exercise price of $9.28 per share. These warrants were exercisable
immediately after issuance and would expire in 10 years. In conjunction with the December 2010 renewal of the MSA, the Company extended
the exercise period of the warrants an additional 5 years. The total fair value of the warrants at the date of issuance and modification of $1.5
million was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following assumptions: contractual life of ten to eleven years;
expected volatility between 52.6% - 82.1%; risk free interest rate between 3.0% - 4.9%; and a dividend yield of 0%. The warrants were net
exercised on the closing date of the Company�s IPO and the Company issued 91,148 shares of common stock to the USTA. The amortization of
the warrants was approximately $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

In conjunction with the 2007 Loan and Security Agreement and amendments to the 2007 Loan and Security Agreement in April 2010 and
December 2010, the Company issued warrants to Gold Hill and Escalate to purchase 131,030 shares of common stock and 198,210 shares of
common stock, respectively, at an exercise price of $0.001 per share. The fair value of these warrants of $2.2 million was calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model at the various dates of issuance using the following assumptions: contractual life of seven years; expected
volatility between 51.4% - 71.0%; risk free rate between 2.7% - 4.5%; and a dividend yield of 0%. This estimated fair value, which represents a
debt discount, is accounted for as interest expense over the term of the 2007 Loan and Security Agreement. The warrants were net exercised on
the closing date of the
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Company�s IPO and the Company issued 131,021 and 198,196 shares of common stock to Gold Hill and Escalate, respectively. Interest expense
related to the amortization of the warrants was approximately $0.7 million, $0.5 million and $0.6 million for years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectively. Included in the interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 was a $0.5 million loss incurred as a result
of repayment of the outstanding principal amount of the long-term debt under the Agreement with Gold Hill and Escalate (Note 11).

16. Stock Plans and Stock-Based Compensation

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In April 2011, the Company�s stockholders approved the 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the �2011 ESPP Plan�), which became effective
upon the Company�s IPO. The 2011 ESPP Plan allows participating employees to contribute up to 20% of their earnings, up to a maximum of
$25,000 per annum, to purchase shares of the Company�s common stock at a price per share equal to the lower of (a) 85% of the fair market
value of a share of the Company�s common stock on the first date of the offering period, or (b) 85% of the fair market value of a share of the
Company�s common stock on the date of purchase. The Company�s compensation committee may specify offerings with durations of not more
than 27 months, and may specify shorter purchase periods within each offering. Each offering will have one or more purchase dates on which
shares of the Company�s common stock will be purchased for employees participating in the offering. As of December 31, 2011, there were
1,071,424 shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2011 ESPP Plan. As the 2011 ESPP Plan is a compensatory plan as defined
by the authoritative guidance for stock compensation, stock-based compensation expense has been recorded in the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan Activity

The Company�s first offering period of the 2011 ESPP began in August 2011. The weighted-average estimated fair value of employee stock
purchase plan shares to be issued in conjunction with the offering periods occurring during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $4.72 per
share, using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 
31,

2011
Volatility 47.6-57.9% 
Expected dividend yield �  
Risk-free rate 0.1% 
Expected term (in years) 0.4

The Company issued 50,576 shares for approximately $0.6 million in employee contributions for fiscal year 2011 under the employee stock
purchase plans. As of December 31, 2011, total unrecognized compensation cost related to estimated contributions under the 2011 ESPP was
$0.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of less than six months.

Stock Incentive Plans

In January 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Stock Option Plan (the �2002 Plan�) and retired the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the �1999 Plan�) and
assumed certain options under the 1999 Plan. Grants under the 2002 Plan may be incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options. The
2002 Plan is administered by the Company�s compensation committee, which has the authority to designate participants and determine the
number and type of awards to be granted, the time at which awards are exercisable, the method of payment and any other terms or conditions of
the awards. The vesting of these awards vary subject to the participant�s period of future service, or otherwise at the discretion of the
compensation committee. The majority of awards issued under the 2002 Plan vests over two to four years, and has a term of ten years. The
maximum number of shares of common stock issuable pursuant to the 2002 Plan was 15,687,998 as of December 31, 2010, plus the shares of
common
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stock subject to options pursuant to awards granted under the 1999 Plan forfeited after the adoption of the 2002 Plan. There were 150,435 shares
available for grant under the 2002 Plan at December 31, 2010. Upon the Company�s IPO in May 2011, the Company�s ability to grant awards
under the 2002 Plan was terminated. As of December 31, 2011, options to purchase 11,201,208 shares of common stock were outstanding under
the 2002 Plan. The 2002 Plan will continue to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding equity awards granted under the 2002 Plan.

In April 2011, the Company�s stockholders approved the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the �2011 Plan�), which became effective upon the
Company�s IPO. The 2011 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock purchase rights,
restricted stock bonuses, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards and other stock-based awards. The
2011 Plan is administered by the Company�s compensation committee, which has the authority to designate participants and determine the
number and type of awards to be granted, the time at which awards are exercisable, the method of payment and any other terms and conditions
of the awards. Stock options expire on terms as determined by the compensation committee, but not more than ten years after the date of grant.
Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees (including officers and directors who are employees). Nonqualified stock options,
restricted stock purchase rights, restricted stock bonuses, restricted stock units, performance units, cash-based awards and other stock-based
awards may be granted to employees and consultants. The maximum number of shares of common stock issuable pursuant to the 2011 Plan is
4,123,077, plus the shares of common stock subject to options or awards outstanding pursuant to the 2002 Plan that expire, terminate, cancel,
forfeit, or are repurchased after the adoption of the 2011 Plan. As of December 31, 2011, there were 3,298,733 shares available for grant under
the 2011 Plan.

Early Exercise of Stock Options

The Company issued 76,658, 563,959 and 161,848 shares of common stock during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively for stock options exercised prior to vesting. The unvested shares are subject to the Company�s repurchase right at the lesser of the
original exercise price or market price. The proceeds from the early exercise of stock options are recorded in other long-term liabilities and
reclassified to common stock as the shares vest and the Company�s repurchase rights lapse.

There were 415,017 and 567,758 shares held by employees which were subject to repurchase for early exercise of stock options at an aggregate
purchase price of $0.8 million and $1.1 million at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

Stock Option Activity

Stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2011 is as follows (in thousands, except share, per share and term data):

Stock Options

Number of
Shares

Underlying
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 11,433,588 $ 2.18 7.26 $ 65,126

Granted 3,027,100 8.53
Exercised (2,525,538) 2.40
Cancelled or expired (330,342) 5.09

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 11,604,808 $ 3.71 6.74 $ 115,144

Options exercisable at December 31, 2011 11,204,927 $ 3.34 6.63 $ 114,956

Options vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2011 11,316,156 $ 3.63 6.67 $ 113,157
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The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the quoted closing market price of the Company�s common stock and the exercise
price of outstanding, in-the-money options. The Company�s fair value of its common stock was $13.60 and $7.88 as of December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was approximately $27.0 million, $0.6 million and $0.1 million for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted was $6.43, $1.14 and $1.23 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively.

Total unrecognized compensation cost, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, related to nonvested stock options was approximately $16.7 million as
of December 31, 2011 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

Valuation of Stock Option Awards

The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted in the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Volatility 48.5-51.5% 49.7-51.8% 52.1-53.8% 
Expected dividend yield �  �  �  
Risk-free rate 0.8-2.2% 1.3-2.2% 1.4-2.1% 
Expected term (in years) 4.9 4.7 4.5

Restricted Stock Activity

A summary of restricted stock activity during the year ended December 31, 2011, is presented as follows:

Restricted Stock
Number of

Shares

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
Nonvested at December 31, 2010 78,500 0.17
Granted 663,127
Vested (78,500) 
Forfeited �  

Nonvested at December 31, 2011 663,127 3.74

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted 663,127 restricted stock units (�RSUs�). The RSUs vest annually over a
four-year period following the date of grant, subject to the participant�s continued service through the applicable vesting dates.

The Company measures the fair value of restricted awards at the closing stock price of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant, and
the fair value is recognized as expense over the requisite service period. The per unit weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock
units granted was $15.23, $0 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

At December 31, 2011, remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock was $9.5 million and is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 3.8 years.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table presents the effects of stock-based compensation related to stock-based awards to employees on the Company�s consolidated
statements of operations during the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Cost of revenue $ 168 $ 111 $ 128
Sales and marketing 1,413 562 765
Research and development 915 244 597
General and administrative 5,299 4,431 9,750

Total stock-based compensation $ 7,795 $ 5,348 $ 11,240

The components of stock-based compensation expense were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Stock options $ 6,803 $ 4,767 $ 9,260
Restricted Stock 698 581 1,980
ESPP 294 �  �  

Total stock-based compensation $ 7,795 $ 5,348 $ 11,240

17. Net Loss Attributable to Common Stockholders

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is presented in conformity with the two-class method required for participating
securities. Prior to the IPO, holders of Redeemable Convertible Preferred shares were each entitled to receive 8% per annum cumulative
dividends, payable prior and in preference to any dividends on any other shares of the Company�s capital stock.

Under the two-class method, basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.

The following tables present the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders (in thousands, except per
share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net loss per share:
Net loss $ (15,327) $ (27,272) $ (37,859) 
Less: accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock (11,810) (28,157) (25,774) 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (27,137) $ (55,429) $ (63,633) 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted 36,072 7,080 5,862

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
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Potentially dilutive securities not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect would have been anti-dilutive for
the periods presented is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Options to purchase common stock and common stock subject to
repurchase 12,727,002 12,001,346 10,674,395
Restricted stock 50,759 148,060 273,164
Employee stock purchase plan shares 9,588 �  �  
Convertible Preferred 3,474,578 8,807,092 8,807,092
Redeemable Convertible Preferred 10,188,415 25,824,801 25,828,786
Common stock warrants 100,773 247,711 247,711
Common stock issuable upon conversion of debt 116,237 281,438 256,438

26,667,352 47,310,448 46,087,586

18. Segment Information

The Company�s Chief Executive Officer who is considered to be the chief operating decision maker (�CODM�) reviews financial information
presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about operating segments for purposes of making operating decisions and
assessing financial performance. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is
available that is evaluated regularly by the CODM in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company determined its operating segments to be technology, which derives substantially all of its revenue from the sale of direct selling
services through a hosted software solution, and marketing services, which derives substantially all of its revenue from the delivery of
advertising and content media.

The Company evaluates the performance of its operating segments based on net revenues and operating income before interest, taxes,
depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation expense.

The Company does not allocate most of its assets, depreciation and amortization expense, stock-based compensation expense, interest income,
interest expense or income tax expense by segment. Accordingly, the Company does not report such information.

Summarized information by segment was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net revenue by segment:
Technology $ 290,480 $ 237,688 $ 210,483
Marketing services 46,910 41,912 32,401

Total net revenue $ 337,390 $ 279,600 $ 242,884
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Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Segment operating income before depreciation, amortization,
stock-based compensation expense and unallocated corporate costs:
Technology $ 61,257 $ 47,559 $ 33,767
Marketing services 19,262 14,405 10,972

Total segment operating income before depreciation, amortization,
stock-based compensation expense and unallocated corporate costs 80,519 61,964 44,739
Depreciation and amortization (44,857) (40,287) (36,079) 
Stock-based compensation expense (7,795) (5,348) (11,240) 
Unallocated corporate costs (44,483) (36,844) (28,993) 

Loss from operations $ (16,616) $ (20,515) $ (31,573) 

The Company allocates its net revenue to geographic regions based on the customer�s location. The following tables set forth net revenue and
long-lived assets by geographic region (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Net revenue:
North America $ 326,717 $ 273,028 $ 239,996
Europe and other 10,673 6,572 2,888

Total net revenue $ 337,390 $ 279,600 $ 242,884

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

Assets:
North America $ 596,039 $ 388,729
Europe and other 3,188 1,819

Total assets $ 599,227 $ 390,548

Long-lived assets:
North America $ 413,461 $ 315,270
Europe and other 1,255 560

Total long-lived assets $ 414,716 $ 315,830

19. Income Taxes

The components of the loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

United States $ (8,253) $ (19,117) $ (28,401) 
Foreign (11,148) (6,231) (7,019) 
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The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

Current:
Federal $ �  $ �  $ �  
State 1,030 469 114
Foreign (453) 242 (144) 

Total current 577 711 (30)
Deferred:
Federal (273) 2,851 3,152
State 152 568 656
Foreign (4,530) (2,206) (1,339) 

Total deferred (4,651) 1,213 2,469

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (4,074) $ 1,924 $ 2,439

The reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the Company�s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009

U.S. Federal statutory rate 34.0% 34.0% 34.0% 
State taxes, net of Federal benefit (1.2) 1.7 5.8
Stock-based compensation (4.8) (2.1) (1.9) 
Meals and entertainment (1.2) (0.8) (0.3) 
Foreign income taxed at different rate 2.9 (1.7) (0.5) 
Amortization�indefinite lived intangibles (19.3) (13.7) (10.0) 
Change in valuation allowance 5.3 (33.6) (38.5) 
Change in tax rates 0.9 3.5 �  
Research and development credits 10.2 7.8 6.3
Other (5.8) (2.7) (1.8) 

Effective tax rate 21.0% (7.6)% (6.9)% 
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 are presented below (in thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 50,203 $ 38,958
Sales tax reserve 1,673 1,343
Bad debt reserve 715 508
Accrued compensation 1,512 3,349
Depreciation and amortization �  8,401
Stock-based compensation 7,995 7,334
Foreign deferred tax assets 3,419 2,052
Tax credits 5,885 3,954
Deferred Revenue 3,758 �  
Other 3,748 1,607

Total deferred tax assets 78,908 67,506
Less: valuation allowance (73,834) (66,545) 

Net deferred tax assets 5,074 961
Deferred tax liabilities:
Foreign deferred taxes (5,844) (8,149) 
Depreciation and Amortization (1,621) �  
Acquired goodwill amortization (14,522) (10,772) 

Total net deferred tax liabilities $ (16,913) $ (17,960) 

The Company had federal net operating loss (�NOL�) carryforwards of approximately $146.6 million as of December 31, 2011 which expire
between 2019 and 2031. In addition, the Company had state NOL carryforwards of approximately $105.6 million as of December 31, 2011
which expire between 2012 and 2031.

The Company had federal and state research and experimentation credits of approximately $4.5 million and $2.1 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2011. The federal research experimentation credits begin to expire in 2029. State research and experimentation credits do not
expire.

The U.S. tax code imposes limitations on the annual utilization of operating loss and credit carryforwards whenever a greater than fifty percent
change in ownership of a company occurs within a three year period. Companies with operating loss and credit carryforwards are required to test
the cumulative three year change whenever there is an equity transaction that impacts the ownership of holders of more than five percent of the
Company�s stock. During 2011, the Company completed an analysis of its prior ownership changes and concluded that none of the operating loss
and credit carryforwards generated through December 31, 2011 would expire solely as a result of annual limitations on the utilization of those
attributes caused by prior ownership changes. Additional changes in the ownership of the Company could create further restrictions on the future
utilization of operating loss and credit carryforwards arising through December 31, 2011.

The Company reduces the deferred tax asset for future tax benefits by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of these deferred taxes will not be realized. As part of this analysis, the Company considers the
timing of the reversal of deferred tax liabilities including the fact that the reversal of deferred tax liabilities associated with tax deductible
goodwill is not certain and thus not available to assure the realization of deferred tax assets. As the Company has deferred tax assets in excess of
deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and as the Company has no history of generating operating profits, management
concluded that the ultimate future realization of the excess deferred tax
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assets is not more likely than not. As a result, a valuation allowance of $73.8 million and $66.5 million was recorded against deferred taxes at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2010, the valuation allowance
increased by $7.3 million and $11.9 million, respectively.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company concluded as a result of commencing the implementation of a tax strategy to amalgamate of its
Canadian subsidiaries that it was more likely than not that the Company would be able to realize the benefit of certain Canadian foreign deferred
tax assets. The plan to amalgamate the Company�s Canadian subsidiaries resulted in a $2.6 million reduction in the valuation allowance on
Canadian deferred tax assets. In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company realized a $3.9 million tax benefit from the reduction
in its domestic valuation allowance as a result of net deferred tax liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition of ServiceU.

In June 2006, the FASB issued guidance regarding uncertainty in income taxes. The Company adopted this interpretation effective January 1,
2008. Pursuant to the guidance, income tax positions must meet a more likely than not recognition threshold in order to be recognized. Tax
benefits are then measured using a cumulative benefit approach whereby the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority is recorded. In accordance with this guidance, the Company recorded a liability
of $0.3 million for uncertain tax positions. Such amount is unchanged at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009. The entire balance of unrecognized
tax benefits at December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, would affect the Company�s effective tax rate if recognized. The Company does not expect
any material changes in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits during the next twelve months.

The Company�s policy for recording interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions is to record such items as a component of income tax
expense. Accrued interest and penalties of $0.2 million and $0.1 million were recorded at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Company conducts business globally, and as a result, is subject to taxation in the United States and various state jurisdictions and foreign
jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by taxing authorities in many of the jurisdictions in which
the Company operates. Effectively, all of the Company�s historical tax filings are subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and
various state and foreign jurisdictions due to the generation of net operating loss carryforwards.

Certain of the Company�s subsidiaries are currently under tax audit. It is possible that within the next twelve months, ongoing tax examinations in
the U.S and in foreign jurisdictions may be resolved, that new tax exams may commence and that other issues may be effectively settled.
However, the Company is unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate as to when or if cash settlements with taxing authorities may occur.
Although audit outcomes and the timing of audit payments are subject to uncertainty, the Company does not anticipate that the resolution of
these tax matters or any events related thereto will result in a material adverse change to its consolidated financial position, results of operations
or cash flows (Note 12).

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had approximately $2.4 million of undistributed earnings related to its foreign subsidiaries.
Management considers these earnings to be indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, the Company has not provided for any income taxes related to
these earnings. However, upon distribution of these earnings, the Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes and withholding taxes
payable to the various foreign countries.

20. Related Party Transactions

ESPN Online Investments, Inc. (�ESPN�) is a significant common stockholder in the Company. The Company also sells its services to ESPN and
its affiliates. The Company recorded revenues from ESPN and its affiliates of $6.5 million, $6.5 million and $6.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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ESPN is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Walt Disney Company (�Disney�). The Company entered into an online registration services
agreement with Disney to provide online advertising. The Company recorded revenues from Disney of $1.5 million, $0.9 million and $0.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

In September 2009, the Company entered into a convertible debt note purchase agreement totaling $4.0 million with its Chief Executive Officer
and ABS Ventures IX, L.P. (�ABS�), an entity which is affiliated with one of its directors. The Company used a portion of the proceeds from the
IPO to repay $1.0 million of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Debt. The remaining $3.0 million of outstanding principal and
$0.5 million of accrued interest was converted into 218,989 shares of the Company�s common stock in June 2011. ABS is also a stockholder in
the Company through its investments in the Series C, D and E Redeemable Convertible Preferred, which was converted into shares of common
stock upon the IPO.

In August 2006, the Company entered into a Master Services Agreement and certain other related agreements with the USTA as amended in
December 2010. A member of the Company�s Board of Directors is the managing director for recreational tennis at the USTA. Pursuant to the
terms of these agreements, the USTA purchases certain software services from the Company. In addition, the USTA held a warrant to purchase
the Company�s common stock, which was net exercised on the closing date of the Company�s IPO. The Company issued 91,148 shares of
common stock to the USTA upon the net exercise of the warrant in May 2011. Net revenue from the USTA and its affiliates was approximately
$5.0 million, $4.7 million and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

21. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (�401(k) Plan�) covering all full-time employees
who meet certain eligibility requirements. Eligible employees may defer up to 4% of their pre-tax compensation, up to the annual maximum
allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. Under the 401(k) Plan, the Company may, but is not obligated to, match a portion of the employee
contributions up to a defined maximum. The Company made matching contributions of $0.8 million, $0.6 million and $0.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

22. Subsequent Events

2011 Credit Agreement

On January 3, 2012, the Company repaid $5.0 million of the debt outstanding under the swing line loan facility and borrowed $10.0 million
under the Credit Facility.

23. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The table below includes quarterly data (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2011
1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total

Net revenue $ 72,712 $ 99,005 $ 89,628 $ 76,045 $ 337,390
Gross profit $ 38,562 $ 58,818 $ 49,738 $ 39,358 $ 186,476
Income (loss) from operations $ (8,845) $ 7,501 $ (412) $ (14,860) $ (16,616) 
Net income (loss) $ (10,942) $ 5,529 $ (1,432) $ (8,482) $ (15,327) 
Basic net income (loss) per share (1) $ (2.16) $ 0.04 $ (0.03) $ (0.16) $ (0.75) 
Diluted net income (loss) per share (1) $ (2.16) $ 0.03 $ (0.03) $ (0.16) $ (0.75) 
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Year Ended December 31, 2010
1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total

Net revenue $ 63,222 $ 81,662 $ 73,093 $ 61,623 $ 279,600
Gross profit $ 35,168 $ 47,596 $ 41,969 $ 33,516 $ 158,249
Income (loss) from operations $ (9,888) $ 565 $ (2,250) $ (8,942) $ (20,515) 
Net loss $ (12,406) $ (1,940) $ (3,834) $ (9,092) $ (27,272) 
Basic net loss per share (1) $ (2.97) $ (1.26) $ (1.51) $ (2.17) $ (7.83) 
Diluted net loss per share (1) $ (2.97) $ (1.26) $ (1.51) $ (2.17) $ (7.83) 

(1) Net income (loss) per share are computed separately for each quarter and the full year using the respective weighted-average shares.
Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share amounts may not equal the annual amounts reported.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

The Active Network, Inc.

Date: March 16, 2012 By: /s/    David Alberga        
David Alberga

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL THESE, PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints David
Alberga and Scott Mendel, and each of them, his attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign
any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each said attorneys-in-fact or his substitute or
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/S/ DAVID ALBERGA

David Alberga

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board (Principal Executive Officer)

March 16, 2012

/S/ MATTHEW LANDA

Matthew Landa

President and Director March 16, 2012

/S/ SCOTT MENDEL

Scott Mendel

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

March 16, 2012

/s/ Thomas N. Clancy

Thomas N. Clancy

Director March 16, 2012

/s/ Bruns H. Grayson

Bruns H. Grayson

Director March 16, 2012

/s/ Stephen L. Green

Stephen L. Green

Director March 16, 2012

/s/ Joseph Levin

Joseph Levin

Director March 16, 2012

/s/ Scott Schultz

Scott Schultz

Director March 16, 2012
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description
  2.1� Stock Acquisition Agreement, dated January, 21, 2009, by and among the Registrant, Elicia Acquisition Corp., IAC/Interactive

Corp. and ReserveAmerica, Ltd. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on
May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  2.2� Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 30, 2012, by and among The Active Network, Inc., Active Acquisition
Corporation, StarCite, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc., as securityholders� agent (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 5, 2012, File No. 001-35187).

  3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed
with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on
February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC
on May 10, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  4.2 Tenth Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2008, by and among the Registrant and
Stockholders named therein (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on
February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  4.3 Amendment No. 1 to the Tenth Amended and Restated Investors� Rights Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2011, by and among
the Registrant and the stockholders as listed on Schedule A (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant�s Form
S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  4.4 Form of Warrant Assumption Agreement issued by the Registrant to each of the investors set forth on Schedule A (incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  4.5 Form of Warrant issued by the Registrant to each of the investors set forth on Schedule A (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

  4.6 Note Purchase Agreement, dated September 29, 2009, by and among the Registrant and the investors set forth on Schedule A
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

  4.7 Form of Convertible Promissory Note issued by the Registrant to each of the investors set forth on the Schedule of Lenders
thereto (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File
No. 333-172254).

10.1A Seaview Corporate Center Office Lease, dated November 11, 2006, by and between Seaview PFG, LLC and the Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.1B First Amendment to Lease (Seaview Corporate Center), dated October 31, 2010, by and between AG/POP Seaview Corporate,
L.P. and the Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February
14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.2A Indenture of Lease, dated September 13, 1999, by and between HOOPP Realty Inc. and The Active Network, Ltd. (incorporated
by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).
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10.4F Fifth Amendment to Office Lease Agreement, dated February 11, 2011, by and between Donelson Corporate Centre, L.P. and

Automated License Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4F to the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011, filed with the SEC on August 12, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.5A Lease Agreement, dated September 19, 2008, by and between Wells REIT�Las Colinas Corporate Center II, L.P. and Fellowship
Technologies, L.P. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 5,
2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.5B Consent to Assignment, dated February 3, 2011 between Wells REIT�Las Colinas Corporate Center II, L.P., Fellowship
Technologies, L.P. and Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC
on May 5, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.6A Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 30, 2008, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.5A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.6B Consent and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 29, 2009, by and between Square 1 Bank and
Registrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File
No. 333-172254).

10.6C Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 29, 2009, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5C to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.6D Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated November 30, 2009, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5D to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.6E Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 26, 2010, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5E to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.6F Fifth Amendment and Waiver to Loan and Security Agreement, March 31, 2010, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5F to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.6G Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated April 21, 2010, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5G to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.6H Seventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 27, 2010 by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5H to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.6I Eighth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 15, 2010, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5I to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.6J Ninth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6J to the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2011, filed with the SEC on August 12, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.6K Tenth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 26, 2011, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6K to the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2011, filed with the SEC on August 12, 2011, File No. 001-35187).
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10.6L Eleventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 15, 2011, by and between Square 1 Bank and Registrant

(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6L to the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
30, 2011, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.7A Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 22, 2007, by and among Registrant, Escalate Capital I, L.P. and Gold Hill Venture
Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011,
File No. 333-172254).

10.7B First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 6, 2007, by and among Registrant, Escalate Capital I, L.P. and
Gold Hill Venture Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC
on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.7C Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated December 18, 2007, by and among Registrant, Escalate Capital I,
L.P. and Gold Hill Venture Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6C to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with
the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.7D Consent and Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated October 30, 2008, by and among Registrant, Escalate
Capital I, L.P. and Gold Hill Venture Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6D to the Registrant�s Form S-1,
filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.7E Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated April 14, 2009, by and among Registrant, Escalate Capital I, L.P. and
Gold Hill Venture Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6E to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC
on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.7F Consent and Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated September 29, 2009, by and among Registrant, Escalate
Capital I, L.P. and Gold Hill Venture Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6F to the Registrant�s Form S-1,
filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.7G Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated April 28, 2010, by and among Registrant, Escalate Capital I, L.P. and
Gold Hill Venture Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6G to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC
on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.7H Seventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated December 20, 2010, by and among Registrant, Escalate Capital I,
L.P. and Gold Hill Venture Lending 03, LP (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.6H to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with
the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.8 Business Loan Agreement, dated November 3, 2008, by and between Automated License Systems, Inc. and Pinnacle National
Bank (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.9# 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant�s Form S-1,
filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.10# Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.11# Addendum to Stock Option Agreement under 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10.27 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).
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10.12# Form of Stock Purchase Agreement under 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit

10.28 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.13# Addendum to Stock Purchase Agreement under 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.14# Form of Stock Issuance Agreement under 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10.30 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.15# Addendum to Stock Issuance Agreement under 2002 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.16# 2011 Equity Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the
SEC on May 5, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.17# Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2011 Equity Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.17 to
the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 5, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.18# Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 2011 Equity Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18
to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 5, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.19# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2011 Equity Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10.19 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 5, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.20# 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011, filed with the SEC on August 12, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.21A# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and David Alberga (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.21A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21B# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Matthew Landa (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.21B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21C# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Scott Mendel (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.21C to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21D# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Jon Belmonte (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.21D to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21E# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Kourosh Vossoughi (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.21E to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21F# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Matthew Ehrlichman (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.21F to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).
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10.21G# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Sheryl Roland (incorporated by reference

from Exhibit 10.21G to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21H# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Thomas Clancy (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.21H to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21I# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Bruns H. Grayson (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.21I to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21J# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Stephen L. Green (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.21J to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21K# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Joseph Levin (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.21K to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21L# Indemnification Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Scott Schultz (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.21L to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on May 20, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.21M# Indemnification Agreement, dated January 19, 2012, by and between the Registrant and
Darko Dejanovic (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.21M to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on January
20, 2012, File No. 333-179115).

10.21N# Indemnification Agreement, dated January 9, 2012, by and between the Registrant and Kevin Biggs (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.21N to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on January 20, 2012, File No. 333-179115).

10.22A# Retention Agreement, dated August 17, 2005, by and between the Registrant and David Alberga (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.20A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.22B# Amendment to Retention Agreement, dated December 22, 2008, by and between the Registrant and David Alberga
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.20B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.23A# Retention Agreement, dated August 17, 2005, by and between the Registrant and Jon Belmonte (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.21A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.23B# Amendment to Retention Agreement, dated December 22, 2008, by and between the Registrant and Jon Belmonte
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.21B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.24A# Retention Agreement, dated August 17, 2005, by and between the Registrant and Matthew Landa (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.22A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.24B# Amendment to Retention Agreement, dated December 22, 2008, by and between the Registrant and Matthew Landa
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.22B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.25A# Retention Agreement, dated August 17, 2005, by and between the Registrant and
Kourosh Vossoughi (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.23A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April
11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.25B# Amendment to Retention Agreement, dated December 22, 2008, by and between the Registrant and Kourosh Vossoughi
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.23B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No.
333-172254).
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10.26A# Retention Agreement, dated March 8, 2010, by and between the Registrant and Scott Mendel (incorporated by reference from

Exhibit 10.24A to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.26B# Amendment to Retention Agreement, dated March 8, 2010, by and between the Registrant and Scott Mendel (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.24B to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on April 11, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.27# Employment Offer Letter, dated January 5, 2010, by and between Registrant and Scott Mendel (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.28# Employment Offer Letter, dated March 1, 2007, by and between Registrant and Matthew Ehrlichman, as amended
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No.
333-172254).

10.29# Employment Offer Letter, dated December 4, 2007, by and between Registrant and Sheryl D. Roland (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.30# Change in Control Agreement, dated July 15, 2010, by and between the Registrant and Sheryl Roland (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.42 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on February 14, 2011, File No. 333-172254).

10.31# Form of Performance Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2011 Equity Incentive Award Plan (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.31 to the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2011, filed
with the SEC on November 14, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.32# Transition Services Agreement, dated November 14, 2011, Jon Belmonte and the Registrant (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2011, filed with the SEC
on November 14, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.33 Credit Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2011, by and among the Registrant, as Borrower, the subsidiaries of Borrower
named therein, as Guarantors, the lenders named therein, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender
and L/C Issuer, and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Book Manager
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December
21, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.34 Security Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2011, by and among the Registrant, as Borrower, the subsidiaries of Borrower
named therein, as Guarantors, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit
10.34 to the Registrant�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 21, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.35 Pledge Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2011, by and among the Registrant, as Borrower and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 21, 2011, File No. 001-35187).

10.36# Employment Offer Letter, dated May 4, 2011, by and between Registrant and Darko Dejanovic, as amended (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on January 20, 2012, File No. 333-179115).

10.37# Retention Agreement, dated April 29, 2011, by and between the Registrant and Darko Dejanovic (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on January 20, 2012, File No. 333-179115).
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  10.38 Office Lease, dated March 30, 2010, between 1600 Market Street Property Trust and StarCite, Inc. (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on January 20, 2012, File No. 333-179115).

  21.1 List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 21.1 to the Registrant�s Form S-1, filed with the SEC on January
20, 2012, File No. 333-179115).

  23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

  24.1* Power of Attorney (included on Signature Page).

  31.1* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for David Alberga.

  31.2* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Scott Mendel.

  32.1* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for
David Alberga.

  32.2* Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for
Scott Mendel.

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

* Filed herewith.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
� Confidential Treatment Request.
** Pursuant to applicable securities laws and regulations, we are deemed to have complied with the reporting obligation relating to the

submission of interactive data files in such exhibits and are not subject to liability under any anti-fraud provisions of the federal securities
laws as long as we have made a good faith attempt to comply with the submission requirements and promptly amend the interactive data
files after becoming aware that the interactive data files fail to comply with the submission requirements. Users of this data are advised
that, pursuant to Rule 406T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed and otherwise are not subject to liability.
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